TRANSFORMING POLICE-COMMUNITY RELATIONS: THE APPLICATION OF RESTORATIVE JUSTICE PRINCIPLES TO PUBLIC COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE HALIFAX REGIONAL POLICE

by

Lisa M. DeLong

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Laws

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia August 2006

© Copyright by Lisa M. DeLong, 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-19457-7 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-19457-7

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

To comply with the Canadian Privacy Act the National Library of Canada has requested that the following pages be removed from this copy of the thesis:

Preliminary Pages
Examiners Signature Page (pii)
Dalhousie Library Copyright Agreement (piii)

Appendices
Copyright Releases (if applicable)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	vi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	viii
CHAPTER 1	
Extending Restorative Justice Practice to Police Complaints in Nova Scotia	1
The Police and their Communities: Strained Relations	7
Significance of Police/Community Relationships	15
Community Policing	18
Efforts to Improve Police-Community Relations through Civilian Oversight	22
Informal Resolution in Response to Police Complaints	25
Shifting Paradigms: Application of Restorative Justice	29
CHAPTER 2	
Framework in Nova Scotia for Police Complaints	32
Policing Authority	32
Frameworks for Allegations of Police Wrongdoing	34
Police Act Responses	
Ministerial Response	37
Public Complaints	38
Defining Wrongdoing: Thresholds for Response	39
Process for Complaints	
Halifax Regional Police: Professional Standards Office	41
Additional Police Act Avenues for Public Complaints	42
Process Details	
Complaints Commissioner	
Limitations of Present Framework for Restoring Relationships	
CHAPTER 3	
Restorative Justice Theory and its Present Application in Nova Scotia	49
Towards an Aim of Social Equality: Objectives and Outcomes	50
Social Equality	50

Alternative to punishment	52
Administration of Restorative Justice Practice	57
Protecting Rights	64
Community Contributions	70
Community Involvement	70
Confidentiality	77
Thresholds for Restorative Justice	81
Scope of Wrongdoing	81
Acknowledgment of Responsibility	83
Discursive Interaction	85
Truth-telling	86
Deliberative Consensus-Building	89
Principles for Application to Policing Context	96
CHAPTER 4	
Pertinence of Restorative Justice Theory to Police Complaints	98
Pertinence of Restorative Justice Theory to Police Complaints Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice	
	99
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice	99 101
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes	99 101
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes	99 101 101
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes	99 101 102 104
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes Social Equality Alternative to punishment Administration of Restorative Justice Practice	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice	
Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice Objectives and Outcomes Social Equality Alternative to punishment Administration of Restorative Justice Practice Community Contributions Community involvement Confidentiality Thresholds for Restorative Justice Scope of Wrongdoing Acknowledgment of Responsibility	

CHAPTER 5

Application of Restorative Justice to Complaints Against the	
Halifax Regional Police	121
Conceptual Applicability	121
Framework for Implementation	129
Restorative Justice under Ministerial Directive	129
Restorative Justice under Public Complaints Process	131
Complaints against a Police Officer	133
Complaints against the Chief	137
Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner	138
Complaints Process and Criminal Investigations	139
Fall-Backs when Restorative Justice is not Successful	140
Proposed Modifications to Current Frameworks	
Legislative Amendment	141
Authorization of Restorative Justice for Adult Offenders	143
Accountability Safeguard: the Ombudsman	144
Summary of Implementation Feasibility	147
CHAPTER 6	
Conclusion	148
BIBLIOGRAPHY	152

ABSTRACT

This thesis aims to respond to the question raised by a recent Nova Scotia Human Rights Board of Inquiry: could restorative justice offer more comprehensive and responsive outcomes than the present public complaints process of the Halifax Regional Police? As community policing theories have noted, the police and their communities are in a sensitive and important relationship. This relationship can be deeply harmed by police wrongdoing. Restorative justice, understood as a theory of justice which aims to restore relationships, could enable an exploration of contextual and systemic issues underlying allegations of police wrongdoing, and could address the associated relational breakdowns between the police and the public. Drawing upon the comprehensive Nova Scotia restorative justice program model, this thesis identifies opportunities and limitations within, and proposes modifications to, present frameworks for complaints against the Halifax Regional Police to allow for restorative justice processes – restoring relationships damaged by police wrongdoing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am very grateful to my thesis advisor, Jennifer Llewellyn, a patient and supportive mentor and advocate and who truly promotes appropriate implementation of restorative justice theory. I would also like to thank Bruce Archibald for his kind accessibility and keen and helpful comments.

This thesis has benefited from the substantive contributions of many people who generously shared their time and expertise. I would like to thank Dwight Bishop, Pat Gorham, Fred Honsberger, George Lahey, Don McLean, Chris McNeil, Garry Mumford, and Jim Perrin. Thank you also generally to the Canadian Association for the Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement for their interest in this research.

I have received a great deal of encouragement from a number of academics and professionals working in this field. Most notably, I would like to thank Philip Girard who graciously met with me to discuss the LL.M program; this thesis topic emerged from that discussion. I would like to extend thanks to Connie Backhouse, Linda Chisholm, Lee Cohen, Richard Devlin, Mayann Francis, Martin Schulze-Allen, and Sheila Wildeman for their support for, and unique contributions to, this thesis. I would also like to thank Sheila Wile for her assistance throughout this degree.

This would not have been possible without the help of my family who enabled me to juggle life as a graduate student and new mother. I am very grateful to my parents, Jud and Betsy DeLong, for giving me freedom and support generally, and for their many contributions to this degree. Thank you also to my sister Sara and her family for all their help. A warm thanks is extended to Steffen Kaeubler, who expertly managed both domestic and professional responsibilities, creating the time and space for me to complete this program. Finally, and mostly, thank you to my sweet and independent little daughter Frida who happily participated in all aspects of this experience, and who made this time truly extraordinary.

A recent Human Rights Board of Inquiry appointed under the Nova Scotia *Human Rights Act*¹ questions whether the Halifax Regional Police's "informal resolution" process adequately addresses public complaints, or whether restorative justice could offer more comprehensive and responsive outcomes.² This decision, which considers allegations of racial profiling in policing, suggests that the proposal should be tenable in Nova Scotia:

Nova Scotia has developed one of the most reputable and comprehensive restorative justice programs in the world, and the police in Nova Scotia participate in it regularly in their law enforcement capacity. There is no reason that the police complaints process could not be infused with restorative justice principles, which would focus in a much more responsive and empowering way on the complainant's real concerns.³

The decision accurately observes that Nova Scotia enjoys a highly advanced restorative justice program which operates in the context of criminal justice. Further, it perceptively notes that there is potential for adopting elements of restorative justice in police accountability frameworks. This thesis aims to respond to the challenge presented by the decision in the *Johnson Inquiry* in assessing the applicability and appropriateness of restorative justice to the framework for complaints against the Halifax Regional Police.

¹ Human Rights Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 214.

² Kirk Johnson v. Michael Sanford and the Halifax Regional Police Service (22 December 2003) Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission Board of Inquiry, online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/humanrights/publications/KJdecision.pdf, [Johnson Inquiry].

³ Johnson Inquiry, ibid. at 43.

Often called a "new paradigm," restorative justice reflects a fundamental shift away from adversarial responses to wrongdoing. Expanding upon Howard Zehr's assertion that restorative justice represents an entirely new paradigm, a new lens through which to view justice generally, Jennifer Llewellyn and Robert Howse present restorative justice as a theory of justice. Justice, they suggest, is "a response to a powerful moral intuition that 'something must be done,' that something (someone) has disturbed the way things ought to be and something must be done to right the wrong, to make things right." They argue restorative justice is,

fundamentally concerned with restoring social relations, with establishing or reestablishing social equality in relationships – that is, relationships in which each person's rights to equal dignity, concern and respect are satisfied...[and thus restorative justice] must be concerned with the discrete wrong and its relevant context and causes.⁸

Daniel Van Ness, Allison Morris and Gabrielle Maxwell have supported this approach, suggesting that restorative justice is "a new paradigm or... a new pattern of thinking." They add, "It poses new questions for societies to ask and answer in responding to crime."

⁴ Howard Zehr popularized the call for a new paradigm in Howard Zehr, *Changing Lenses: A new focus for crime and justice* (Scottdale, Herald Press: 1990) at 184. ⁵ *Ibid.* at 184.

⁶ Jennifer J. Llewellyn and Robert Howse, *Restorative Justice – A Conceptual Framework* (Ottawa: Law Commission of Canada, 1998) at 15.

⁷ *Ibid.* at 19.

⁸ *Ibid.* at 15.

⁹ Allison Morris and Gabrielle Maxwell, *Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Conferencing, Mediation and Circles* (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2001) at 1. Although their work appears to limit restorative justice to the criminal realm, many of the insights they offer have broader applicability and can guide restorative justice theorists in identifying challenges and advancing proposals. Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6, present restorative justice as a much broader theory of justice.

¹⁰ Morris and Maxwell, supra note 9 at 1.

To restore relationships, restorative justice processes must necessarily address a context which is much broader than the individual incident of wrongdoing. As a result, processes must be inclusive, involving anyone who is harmed by the wrongdoing. Victims are harmed by wrongdoing and thus restorative justice demands their involvement. Restorative justice reflects the recognition that the harm resulting from wrongdoing also impacts the wrongdoer and the community, affecting the relationships within and between them. Addressing the damage requires the involvement of all who are harmed. In practice, restorative justice requires that the victim, wrongdoer and community, all of whom are acknowledged to be harmed by wrongdoing, meet face-to-face. Guided by a facilitator, parties share perspectives on the wrongdoing and ultimately work together to create a plan for restoration.

Llewellyn and Howse have suggested that restorative justice should "be premised on and involve truth-telling," which requires that the wrongdoer acknowledge responsibility. This truth-telling continues through a meeting, or an "encounter" in which the victim and wrongdoer meet together with the community. A facilitator is

¹¹ See generally Heather Strang, "The Crime Victim Movement as a Force in Civil Society" in Heather Strang & John Braithwaite, eds., *Restorative Justice and Civil Society* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001 at 69.

¹² Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 43.

¹³ *Ibid.* at 45.

¹⁴ *Ibid.* at 43.

¹⁵ *Ibid.* at 45.

¹⁶ *Ibid.* at 73. They refer to this as the "agreement".

¹⁷ *Ibid.* at 57.

¹⁸ The nature of such acknowledgment may differ for different programs and communities. As John Braithwaite and Christine Parker have noted, New Zealand has a different formal threshold for access to restorative justice ("declining to deny") rather than a straightforward admission of responsibility. John Braithwaite and Christine Parker, "Restorative Justice is Republican Justice" in Gordon Bazemore and Lode Walgrave, eds., *Restorative Juvenile Justice: Repairing the Harm of Youth Crime* (Monsey: Criminal Justice Press, 1999) at 107.

¹⁹ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6, call this meeting an encounter.

present to ensure dialogue takes place. This encounter, suggest Llewellyn and Howse, provides an opportunity for parties to "confront and challenge one another's stories of the event"²⁰ and come to understand harms and how they might be addressed in a manner that carries them toward restoring relationships. The work of restorative justice does not end at the adjournment of the encounter; it carries on through a plan, or agreement²¹ for follow-up initiatives, which are agreed upon during the encounter.

As a theory, restorative justice is not restricted to the criminal justice realm but has much broader applicability. ²² As its aim is the restoration of relationships in response to wrongdoing, its potential is wider and is thus transferable to other contexts. Howard Zehr asserts, "Crime is a result of a legal system which makes arbitrary distinctions between various harms and conflicts...It separates them from other harms and violations and thereby obscures the real meaning of the experience." This point is drawn out by Llewellyn and Howse who provide, "Once one understands...that restorative justice is concerned with the restoration of relationships, it becomes impossible to justify limiting this approach only to those conflicts defined as criminal." There are many restorative justice theorists who view restorative justice as an approach to criminal justice ²⁵ -- and the practice of restorative justice in Nova Scotia is limited to the criminal justice system. However, it is clear that the potential of restorative justice is broader than a criminal context and so it can offer an effective response to a wide range of wrongdoing, or

²⁰ *Ibid.* at 59.

²¹ *Ibid.* at 73.

²² *Ibid.* at 42. Acknowledging its wider potential, Llewellyn and Howse describe restorative justice as a response to "wrongdoing".

²³ Zehr, *supra* note 4 at 183.

²⁴ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 75.

²⁵ See, for example, Morris and Maxwell, *supra* note 9.

allegations of wrongdoing including those contemplated through police complaints processes.²⁶

The term "restorative justice" is loosely used for diverse informal practices even when they do not in fact aim to restore relationships.²⁷ There is, indeed, considerable debate about what constitutes restorative justice. Bruce Archibald has succinctly identified the challenge this presents, noting, "defining restorative justice is a controversial undertaking".²⁸ It is widely acknowledged that there are many differing conceptions of restorative justice ranging from practice-based diversions from the criminal justice system to a broader theory of justice, and practice differs greatly depending on one's conception.²⁹ However, while these may reflect some elements of restorative justice,

²⁶ John Braithwaite has examined the applicability of restorative justice to corporate Regulation. See, for example, John Braithwaite, "Restorative justice and corporate regulation" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Jürgen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice in Context: International practice and directions* (Portland: Willan Publishing, 2003) at 161. See also Braithwaite, *infra* note 235.

²⁷ Some practices may be given the title to reflect their status as alternative processes without suggesting that they have a different purpose or goal. For example, Mark Umbreit's characterization of restorative justice is manifested as "victim-offender mediation" which he suggests is "[t]he clearest expression of restorative justice theory." See Mark Umbreit, *Victim Meets Offender: The Impact of Restorative Justice and Mediation* (Monsey: Willow Tree Press, Inc., 1994) at p. 5. This conception, however, does not necessarily contemplate meaningful involvement of the community as a party, nor does it necessarily have, as an aim, the restoration of relationships, but rather, constitutes a conflict resolution process.

²⁸ Bruce P. Archibald, "Citizen Participation in Canadian Criminal Justice: The Emergence of 'Inclusionary Adversarial' and 'Restorative' Models" in Stephen G. Coughlan and Dawn Russell, *Citizenship and Citizen Participation in the Administration of Justice* (Montreal: Canadian Institute for the Administration of Justice, 2001) 148 at 173. footnote 134.

²⁹ Daniel Van Ness and Karen Heetderks Strong trace a number of different approaches under the informal justice movement in *Restoring Justice*, 2nd ed. (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2002). See also Paul McCold, "Researcher's New Theoretical Framework Assesses Degree to which Practices meet Standards of Restorative Justice," (2000) 8 Real Justice Forum 3. Notably, some initiatives identified as restorative justice do not offer or reflect a clear sense of what restorative justice is beyond a label for an alternative practice and they are often without concrete theoretical bases. They may simply replicate informal resolution approaches or may reflect a conception of restorative justice that is descriptive of practice with no theory behind it.

unless they challenge the underlying approach to justice that has been identified as problematic,³⁰ they do not comport with the parameters and theoretical foundations of restorative justice understood as a relational theory of justice. It is this conception that animates and guides the analysis in this thesis.

In Nova Scotia, restorative justice is presently one of the responses to wrongdoing offered through the criminal justice system. The police are often involved in restorative justice processes in Nova Scotia pursuant to their roles in investigating and responding to crime. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program is arguably one of the best in the world³¹ and thus offers a rich template from which ideas can be drawn. The practice of restorative justice takes many forms,³² and so countless models could have been selected for this case study. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program offers an excellent model in terms of implementing practice that reflects the conception of restorative justice as a relational theory of justice; it is this conception in which this thesis is grounded. Its founding principles include: "Holding offenders accountable in a more

³⁰ See generally Jennifer Llewellyn, "Dealing with the Legacy of Native Residential School Abuse in Canada: Litigation, ADR and Restorative Justice" (2002), 52 University of Toronto Law Journal 253. In the context of harms resulting from abuse in residential schools, she suggests, at p. 253, that the adversarial legal system is inappropriate for many reasons in the context of abuse of aboriginal children in the residential school system, including the fact that it conceives of the concerns as private disputes, restricts the opportunities for participation, cannot provide appropriate remedies, and has high costs associated with accessing the formal system.

The program is institutionalized by government and thus enjoys a relatively high degree of stability. It is standardized across the province in terms of general operational guidance and oversight; however, each locally-based agency enjoys the autonomy to create whatever process is deemed most appropriate in that community context. The foundational documentation for the program include the program authorization and protocols. See Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Program:*Program Authorization (Halifax, 11 August 1999); Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, Restorative Justice Program Pre-charge / Post-charge Protocol (17 May, 2000); Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, Restorative Justice Program Protocol (16 September 2005)

³² Some discussion of various forms of restorative justice practice is found in Chapter 3, below.

meaningful way, and giving victims and communities a voice in the response to crime will result in a decrease in recidivism rates, and an increase in victim satisfaction."³³ Further, it aims to be flexible in order to meet the needs of offenders, victims and communities.³⁴ In addition to being designed pursuant to the theoretical foundations adopted for this thesis, it is well established, and the physical proximity of its administration (the program's coordinator is based at the provincial Department of Justice building in Halifax) offers the opportunity for this thesis to consider structures, processes and challenges unique to the program — and how they might be useful guides for police complaints.

Because of its strong theoretical foundation, the Nova Scotia restorative justice program offers a rich model from which to assess or contemplate the transferability of practice elements to police accountability processes. This project explores a different application of restorative justice by considering how it can be applied when the wrongdoing in question is alleged to have been committed *by* the police. Restorative justice processes, in response to certain types of allegations against the Halifax Regional Police, could enable an exploration of contextual and systemic issues underlying allegations of police wrongdoing, ³⁵ and could encourage action to restore the harm caused by the wrong, and address the associated relational breakdowns between the police and the public.

The Police and their Communities: Strained Relations

The value of restorative justice for police complaints may be elucidated through some examples of strained police-community relations. On April 12, 1998, Kirk Johnson and

³³ Nova Scotia Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Framework*, online:

http://www.gov.ns.ca/just/rj/rj-framework.htm

³⁴ Ihid

³⁵ This may best respond to certain types of wrongdoing, which are discussed in further detail in subsequent chapters.

Earl Fraser were stopped by Constable Michael Sanford of the Halifax Regional Police. Johnson's valid Texas registration and insurance documents were inspected and rejected, and his car was ticketed and towed. Mr. Johnson alleged that actions and omissions during the course of this interaction reflected racial discrimination on the part of Constable Sanford and the Halifax Regional Police.³⁶

The Board of Inquiry found that many aspects of the complaint did, in fact, constitute discrimination contrary to the *Human Rights Act*.³⁷ The decision alludes, throughout, to the implications of the incident for the broader relationship between the Halifax Regional Police and the black community in the municipality, and the history of this relationship. At one point, the volatility of the situation – and potential impact of an individual incident on public perceptions of the police – is expressly noted: "If the police had tried to arrest Kirk Johnson that evening for stealing his own vehicle there is no doubt in my mind that a 'race riot' of some kind would have ensued."

A consultant report³⁹ commissioned pursuant to the *Johnson Inquiry* supports the idea

Mr. Johnson testified that he had been stopped 28 times during his visits to Nova Scotia over the previous five years; visits which amounted to a total of three months. Although evidence of 21 such stops was made available during the inquiry, the board found it inappropriate to consider this evidence in examining the actions of one individual officer. See *Johnson Inquiry*, *supra* note 2 at 17. These numbers could, however, raise concerns about systemic discrimination affecting their perceptions of the police generally.

Human Rights Act, supra note 1. See also Johnson Inquiry, supra note 2 at 34.

Johnson Inquiry, supra note 2 at 31. Jeffrey Ross suggests that riots may be influenced by media, in Jeffrey Ian Ross, Making News of Police Violence: A Comparative Study of Toronto and New York City (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 2000) at p.2. Given Kirk Johnson's status as a well known boxer as acknowledged at p. 2 of the Johnson Inquiry, supra note 2, this comment reflects the likelihood of broader community support for his position.

³⁹ Perivale and Taylor, *Excellence Though Diversity – A Report On the Education and Training Needs in Diversity of the Halifax Regional Police* (Halifax: Perivale and Taylor, 2005), online: http://www.police.halifax.ns.ca/WhatsNew/attachments/perivale%20+%20taylor%20Final%20Report.pdf.

that there is a negative relationship between the Halifax Regional Police and the African Nova Scotian community, providing,

The relationship between the African Nova Scotian community and the Halifax Regional Police is dysfunctional. At best, the relationship is severely strained and, at worst, irreconcilably estranged. There are also tensions between the police and members of other diverse racial, ethnic, cultural and religious communities within the Region.⁴⁰

Police officers hold broad, potentially coercive powers, and serve as representatives of the state. Gabriella Pedicelli has commented on the powers held by the police:

As with the military, the police engage in more acts of coercion than most other government agencies, the most controversial of which takes the form of physical violence which may be fatal to its victims. In fact, the mandate to use force, including deadly force, stands at the core of the police raison d'être and is perceived as a normal and acceptable aspect of policing. It is one of the few organizations whose mandate allows for the legally sanctioned killing of people. Policing is defined by the potential for violence which it possesses and requires to defend society against wrong-doers.⁴¹

In exercising this coercive authority, the potential for abuse of power – or perceptions of such abuse – is high. Incidents or reports of police wrongdoing can taint the sense of safety among the public generally leading to fear of, and hostility toward, the police. A pressing contemporary challenge is presented by strained relations between officers and communities that they police. Tension between the police and their respective communities is not unique to Halifax. Media reports of police misconduct are commonplace, and the past several years have seen many reports and inquiries examining police action or inaction. This wrongdoing is highly damaging for the

⁴⁰ *Ibid.* at 4. It should be noted that, while the focus of the *Johnson Inquiry, supra* note 2, related to the relationship of the police with a minority community, the discussion in this thesis is not particular to strained relationships between the police and minority communities.

⁴¹ Gabriella Pedicelli, *When Police Kill: Police Use of Force in Montreal and Toronto* (Montreal: Véhicule Press, 1998) at 19.

⁴² See generally *infra* notes 45 through 69.

^{&#}x27;43 Ibid.

victims, but it also extends much more broadly to affect the relationship between the police and the community, undermining faith in the administration of justice generally.

There have been numerous high-profile cases in Canada which have reflected and exacerbated strained relations between law enforcement officials and the public.⁴⁴ An exploration of a few specific incidents and their responses provides a snapshot of breakdowns in police-public relations. The outcomes of these investigations and inquiries include calls for mechanisms to improve such relations. The mechanism used to respond, then, should be grounded in an approach which has a focus on restoring relationships.

Perhaps one of the most high-profile problematic incidents in Canadian policing involved a protest in Vancouver, British Columbia in November 1997 during the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation Conference. This resulted in clashes between protestors and the police. The Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP held a lengthy public hearing to examine allegations of RCMP wrongdoing including unlawful and inappropriate assault by pepper spray upon protesters. Among the many recommendations resulting from this process were mechanisms to improve relations between the police and public:

Recommendation 31.1.9 Relations with protesters
The RCMP should continue to follow, and enhance where appropriate, its existing open door policy of meeting and working with the leadership of protest groups, well in advance of a planned public order event, with a view to both police and protesters achieving their objectives in an environment that avoids unnecessary confrontation.⁴⁵

⁴⁴ Ibid.

⁴⁵ APEC Interim Report (31 July 31 2001), Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP, online: http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index_e.aspx? articleid=234#31_1_9>. The Commission Chair, Shirley Heafey, added a comment in the final report: "The development of cooperative relationships between police and peaceful protesters at major public order events is a key to minimizing conflict. Our efforts in

Racial profiling, one of the issues discussed at length in the *Johnson Inquiry*, has also received a great deal of attention in recent years, particularly in the province of Ontario. The *Report of the Commission on Systemic Racism in the Ontario Criminal Justice System* ⁴⁶ and a more recent report by the Ontario Human Rights Commission ⁴⁷ broadly examine concerns relating to differential policing based on race. The Kingston Regional Police, in conjunction with the Centre for Criminology at the University of Toronto, recently participated in a research study examining police-public contact to assess the potential for racial profiling. ⁴⁸ In explaining his decision to participate, the Chief of Police has stated,

It was our opinion that police services across Canada have chosen to refrain from examining themselves in a methodical or measurable manner to determine if they were in fact engaging in bias free policing or, conversely, bias-based policing. Similarly, there has been minimal discussion and therefore little action regarding the monitoring of police interactions with citizens with a view to exploring shortfalls in standard practices or identifying trends that might be counterproductive to police—community relations.⁴⁹

Some were surprised by the preliminary results which suggest that a significant degree of racial profiling is taking place.⁵⁰

contacting protesters in advance to discuss security issues with them are aimed at the development of an atmosphere of collaboration between police and protesters. We want to work cooperatively with protesters to find ways to protect all participants, while ensuring the right to peaceful protest." APEC Final Report (25 March 2002),

online:http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index_e.aspx?ArticleID=374.

46 Ontario, Report of the Commission on Systemic Racism in the Ontario Criminal Justice System (Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario, 1995) at 40-1.

⁴⁷ Ontario, *Paying the Price: The Human Cost of Racial Profiling* (Toronto: Ontario Human Rights Commission, 2003), online: http://www.ohrc.on.ca/english/consultations/racial-profiling-report.shtml. See also The Honourable George Ferguson, Q.C., *Review and Recommendations Concerning Various Aspects of Police Misconduct* (Toronto: Toronto Police Services, 2003), online: http://www.torontopoliceboard.on.ca/Board%20Policies/ferguson_vol1.pdf>.

⁴⁸ William J. Closs, *The Kingston Police Data Collection Project: A Preliminary Report to the Kingston Police Services Board* (Kingston: Kingston Police, 2005), online: http://www.police.kingston.on.ca/Bias%20Free%20Policing.pdf>.

 ⁴⁹ *Ibid.* at 2.
 ⁵⁰ Scot Wortley, *Bias Free Policing: The Kingston Data Collection Project Preliminary Results* (Toronto: Centre of Criminology, University of Toronto, 2005), online:
 http://www.police.kingston.on.ca/Professor%20Wortley%20Report.Kingston.pdf>. See

It has long been acknowledged that the Canadian justice system generally has a horrendous track record in its dealings with Aboriginal Canadians. This fact was documented in the Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution, 51 which found generally that "[t]he criminal justice system failed Donald Marshall, Jr. at virtually every turn from his arrest and wrongful conviction for murder in 1971 up to, and even beyond, his acquittal by the Court of Appeal in 1983...[the fact that those in the system] did not [act competently and professionally] is due, in part at least, to the fact that Donald Marshall, Jr. is a Native."52 The more recent Royal Commission Report on Aboriginal Peoples confirmed, at the national level, the differential access to justice experienced by Aboriginal Canadians.⁵³ The 1995 shooting death by police of an unarmed Aboriginal man, Dudley George, in Ipperwash, Ontario, has received international scrutiny.⁵⁴ After years of criticism for a lack of formal response, an inquiry was finally called into this matter in 2003 by the government of Ontario. 55 Another inquiry exploring the issue of relations between the police and Aboriginal Canadians was

also CBC News Online, "Police stop more blacks, Ont. Study finds" (27 May 2005), online: http://www.cbc.ca/story/canada/national/2005/05/26/race050526.html.

⁵¹ Nova Scotia, Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution (Halifax: the Commission, 1989). This is comprised of a seven-volume report. Of particular note are volumes two, three and four: "Public Policing in Nova Scotia" (vol. 2); "The Mi'kmaq and Criminal Justice in Nova Scotia" (vol.3); "Discrimination Against Blacks in Nova Scotia: The Criminal Justice System: a research study" (vol. 4).

⁵² *Ibid.* at 1.

⁵³ Canada, Royal Commission Report on Aboriginal Peoples (Ottawa: Canada Communication Group - Publishing, 1996), online: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ch/rcap/index e.html>.

⁵⁴ Concern about this incident – and the lack of investigation -- has been expressed by the United Nations Human Rights Committee: "The Committee is deeply concerned that the State party so far has failed to hold a thorough public inquiry into the death of an aboriginal activist who was shot dead by provincial police during a peaceful demonstration regarding land claims in September 1995, in Ipperwash. The Committee strongly urges the State party to establish a public inquiry into all aspects of this matter, including the role and responsibility of public officials." UN HCHR UN Doc. CCPR/C/79/Add 105 (1999). See also Amnesty International, "Canada: Why there must be a public inquiry into the police killing of Dudley George," online:

http://www.amnesty.ca/ canada/amr200203.php>

⁵⁵ Ontario, *Ipperwash Inquiry*, online: http://www.ipperwashinquiry.ca/

recently completed.⁵⁶ The *Inquiry into the Death of Neil Stonechild*⁵⁷ reviewed the freezing death of Neil Stonechild, an Aboriginal teenager, on the outskirts of Saskatoon following contact with the city police department.⁵⁸ A number of other similar deaths of Aboriginal men caused public scrutiny of the Saskatoon police, but only the case of Neil Stonechild was found to warrant an inquiry.⁵⁹ Mr. Justice David H. Wright, Inquiry Commissioner, provides in his report,

As I reviewed the evidence in this Inquiry, I was reminded, again and again, of the chasm that separates Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in this city and province. Our two communities do not know each other and do not seem to want to. The void is emphasized by the interaction of an essentially non-Aboriginal police force and the Aboriginal community.⁶⁰

He illustrates the degree to which Aboriginals are alienated from the police in Saskatchewan by referring to testimony from an Aboriginal and a non-Aboriginal witness regarding their willingness to contact the police in an emergency. Whereas the non-Aboriginal person claims to contact the police without hesitation, the Aboriginal person indicates extreme resistance to raise a concern with police. He concludes that the police have not addressed this relational chasm: "I cannot leave this area without noting that the Saskatoon Police Service's submissions regarding the improvements to the Service did not contain any reference at all to attempts to improve the Service's interaction with

⁷ Ibid.

Saskatchewan, Commission of Inquiry into Matters Relating to the Death of Neil Stonechild (Regina, Queen's Printer, 2004), online: http://www.stonechildinquiry.ca/, [Stonechild Inquiry].

⁵⁸ CBC News Online, "Who was Neil Stonechild?" (26 October 2004), online: http://www.cbc.ca/news/background/stonechild/.

Several men were found frozen to death in early 2000 on the outskirts of Saskatoon and one man, Darryl Night, alleged that he had been picked up by the Saskatoon Police Services and dropped off on the outskirts of town in freezing temperatures. The Saskatoon Chief of Police approached the Minister of Justice to call for an RCMP investigation into the circumstances surrounding these deaths. Two officers were convicted of unlawful confinement of Mr. Night, and it was determined that no charges were warranted for the other incidents; however, there was evidence that Neil Stonechild had contact with the Saskatoon Police Services on the day he died and thus the Saskatchewan Minister of Justice called for an inquiry into his death. See online: http://www.stonechildinquiry.ca/backgrounder.shtml>

⁶⁰ Stonechild Inquiry, supra note 56 at 208.

Aboriginals and other racial groups. This is an area that requires more emphasis and attention."⁶¹

Pedicelli comments generally on strained relations between the police and communities, noting that this breakdown *vis-à-vis* some racialized communities in particular, has become a self-perpetuating cycle:

A relationship exists between police power and control and the need to maintain respect for their authority. Violence against visible minorities, primarily blacks and Hispanics, occurs most often when these groups demonstrate a lack of respect towards the police. However, this attitude is often the result of routine mistreatment by the police. Because of their actions the police are a symbol of all that is hated. It is a vicious cycle of police mistreatment of certain groups leading to distrust and a lack of respect which ultimately results in further mistreatment.⁶²

Pedicelli focuses her analysis on Montreal and Toronto but her observations are applicable to the Canadian context generally and thus these concerns are relevant for Nova Scotia as well, particularly in light of manifold evidence of strained relations between the police and minority communities in this province. The incidents described above illustrate deeper problems – and indeed, create deeper problems – between police and public relations than the isolated incident in question and thus need a process that can both address the relationship and the incident (i.e., enable a discussion of underlying context) and deal with the harm to the relationship (i.e., devise a plan for restoration).

⁶¹ *Ibid.* at 210.

⁶² Pedicelli, *supra* note 41 at 20.

⁶³ Nova Scotia, *Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution* (Halifax: the Commission, 1989). See also *R. v. R.D.S.* [1997] 3 S.C.R. 484 and Richard Devlin, "We can't go on together with suspicious minds: Judicial Bias and Racialized Perspective," (1995) 18 Dalhousie Law Journal 408.

Significance of Police/Community Relationships

The police and the public, or more specifically, the communities in which they operate, are in a sensitive and important relationship. The police wield a high degree of power over the community – and yet they form part of the community. Perhaps more importantly, the police rely on the community to adhere to the law, prevent crime and report suspicious incidents and conduct. Further, the police rely on their own legitimacy with the community to be able to appropriately fulfill their duties. In order to maintain these balances, there must be a positive relationship between the police and community. While there may be widespread support for the police and their role in ensuring public safety and maintaining social order, ⁶⁴ police wrongdoing – or allegations of police wrongdoing even if proven to be unfounded – can create difficult relationships between the police and their communities and undermine those which were previously positive. As such, the relationships become damaged.

One consultant report⁶⁵ commissioned pursuant to the recommendations in the *Johnson Inquiry*⁶⁶ comments on the necessity of positive police - community relations in the administration of justice:

⁶⁴ Dennis Forcese, *Policing Canadian Society* (Scarborough: Prentice Hall, Inc., 1999) at 41. While he acknowledges that various factors influence one's impression of the police, he suggests, at p. 41, that the "prevalent Canadian stereotype...is romantic, the stuff of television and movies, the heir to the good guy-bad guy imagery of western movies."

Hari Das, Breaking Barriers to Excellence: A Report on the Education and Training Needs of the Halifax Regional Police Service in Diversity Management (Halifax: Das Management and Educational Services, 2004), online: http://www.police.halifax.ns.ca/ WhatsNew/attachments/DAS%20management1.pdf>. Perivale and Taylor similarly note, "There are... many positive aspects to the police / community dynamic [in the Halifax Regional Municipality]. It is apparent that there is significant support within the Region for the policing services and recognition that maintaining safety and security is a very difficult task." Perivale and Taylor, supra note 39 at 4.

⁶⁶ The *Johnson Inquiry, supra* note 2 at 39, mandates the retention of two consultants to "conduct a needs assessment of [the Halifax Regional Police's] current policies and practices on anti-racism education and diversity training."

Public trust in policing is essential. The effectiveness of police in creating public safety depends, to a great extent, on the willingness of the public to assist police in a number of ways, such as, reporting of crime, taking preventive action and helping to alleviate conditions that facilitate crime. Alleged arbitrary and abusive behaviour by police alienates the public and undercuts their willingness to assist police. Paradoxically, police can be critically influential in reducing the hatred and violence that arise in a multicultural milieu by being fair, effective and open in the way they discharge their core responsibilities, protecting lives and property. ⁶⁷

Jeffrey Ross argues that media portrayal of police action is an important factor in shaping these public perceptions. Allegations of police wrongdoing may be broadcast almost instantaneously, causing severe damage to broader public perceptions of the police. As the recent riots in France have illustrated, a mere perception that police have been involved in wrongdoing (in this instance, civil unrest was sparked by the electrocution of two teenagers who were hiding in a power station because they believed they were being pursued by the police) can cause great damage to the relationship between the police and their communities. By the time the events may be investigated, clarified, or contexualized (i.e., such allegations may be purely speculative or based on simple misunderstandings) there has already been damage to the relationship.

Therefore, there is a need for some mechanism or process whereby this broader harm can be considered and addressed. Restorative justice can offer a process through which to respond to this harm.

Legal developments in the past few decades have broadened the implications of police wrongdoing, and have enhanced the significance of the relationship between the police and the public. The Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms entrenches the

⁶⁷ Das, *supra* note 65 at 5.

⁶⁸ Jeffrey Ian Ross, *Making News of Police Violence: A Comparative Study of Toronto and New York City* (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 2000). He restricts his discussion to police violence; however, his analysis is useful in considering police wrongdoing generally.

⁶⁹ Christine Ollivier, "French President calls for calm, firm hand in riot-hit suburbs" *CBC World News* (7 Nov 2005), online: http://www.cbc.ca/cp/world/051102/w110236.html.

importance of faith in the administration of justice in the Canadian legal system.⁷⁰ This is considered so pressing that section 24(2) authorizes the exclusion of evidence when its admission "would bring the administration of justice into disrepute."⁷¹ The *Charter* has introduced a mechanism through which the outcome of a matter considered through the criminal justice system can, itself, be impacted by the conduct of the police in the course of investigations,⁷² and as such, formalizes the value of faith in the justice system. One way that the practice of policing has developed so as to ensure faith in the administration of justice has been through public participation in policing. The relationship between the police and the public, as a key component of policing itself, is a point that is drawn out in conceptions of community policing processes. There has been a strong recognition that links between democracy and participation are essential in government,⁷³ and the relationship between the police and the public is one manifestation of this.⁷⁴ Therefore these values should be reflected in any response to wrongdoing that flows from complaints against the police.

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.), 1982, c. 11. [Charter]. Sections 7 through 14 outline legal rights in relation to the administration of justice.

⁷⁴ See generally Gary W. Cordner and Robert Sheehan, *Police Administration* 4th ed., (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing Co, 1998).

⁷¹ *Ibid.*, s. 24(2). The Supreme Court of Canada has considered this provision at length. For discussions relating to the allowable manner of obtaining evidence, see, for example, *R. v. Therens* [1985] 1 S.C.R. 613 and *R. v. Brydges* [1990] 1 S.C.R. 190. For a discussion of the nature of evidence which may be excluded, see *R. v. Stillman*, [1997] 1 S.C.R. 607 and *R. v. Feeney*, [1997] 2 S.C.R. 13.

Jürgen Habermas, "On the internal relationship between the rule of law and democracy" in Ciaran Cronin and Pablo De Greif, *The Inclusion of the Other: Studies in Political Theory* (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1998) 253 at 259. See also Jürgen Habermas, *Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy* (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1996).

Community Policing

While public participation in policing may be considered a reflection of democratic principles, it has been noted that the fact of policing in democratic societies does not imply that the organizational structure of policing agencies is modeled upon such principles.⁷⁵ Peter Kratcoski and Wojciech Cebukak have advocated a more democratic approach to police work. They suggest,

There is growing acknowledgement that police departments organized and administered along rigid, bureaucratic, militaristic lines are not conducive to effective policing in a complex, democratic society. In order to be effective, officers today must understand the law and its dynamics, interact effectively and fairly with the public, have the patience and training to handle the routine matters that make up much of the job's activity, and exercise their own judgment wisely in situations that demand police discretion.⁷⁶

Expanding upon this notion, Gary Cordner and Robert Sheehan have suggested, "[i]n the modern era, the most promising and effective response to the difficult challenges of policing in a free society has been community policing." They note that this is "a different way of doing policing, [and] it may require a different approach to police administration – both a different approach to the internal role of running the police department and a different approach to the external role of dealing with the community and its problems."

This could have important implications for the perception of policing, because it redefines the relationship police have with their communities. Michael Cavanagh has succinctly articulated the implications of this redefined role:

[O]fficers are more public as community police officers than they were in their previous assignments. Whatever they do or say will have ripple effects that, for better or worse, reach the farthest ends of the community...Officers should

Peter C. Kratcoski and Wojciech Cebulak, "Policing in Democratic Societies: An Historical Overview" in Dilip K. Das and Otwin Marenin, eds, *Challenges of Policing Democracies: A World Perspective* (Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach Publishers, 2000) 23 at 25.

⁷⁶ *Ibid.* at 25.

⁷⁷ Cordner and Sheehan, supra note 74.

realize that both friendly and critical eyes are on them every second of the day, which is likely to have positive or negative repercussions at some future time.⁷⁸

Police have a potentially coercive role and require a certain degree of authority so as to maintain order. Community policing initiatives promote a changing relationship between the police and their communities. Attempts have been made to bring the rhetoric of police-community partnerships into fruition through collaborative programs and outreach initiatives. This is certainly the case for the Halifax Regional Police, whose mission statement is, "[I]eading and partnering in our community to serve and protect." The Halifax Regional Police assert that they implement a community policing philosophy in many ways including conducting "[p]ublic education through programs to inform and educate the public about problems in their neighbourhoods...encouraging community involvement with police... and problem solving hand-in-hand with the community to both prevent crime and advance community safety." In a recent public statement, Chief Frank Beasley called upon the community to partake in opportunities for collaboration:

Halifax Regional Police have re-dedicated themselves to the community. Community policing is nothing new. In our efforts to maintain strong two-way communication with the community, we hope this website and the services it provides will be helpful in our goal to make the community a safer place to live and work....We encourage you to get involved in your community and work hand-in-hand with police to initiate crime prevention programs to help maintain a high standard of living and safety that we can be proud of. 81

⁷⁸ Michael E. Cavanagh, *Policing within a Professional Framework* (Upper Saddle River: Pearson Education, Inc., 2004).

⁷⁹ Halifax Regional Police, online: http://www.halifax.ca/Police/>.

⁸⁰ Halifax Regional Police: Mission, online: http://www.halifax.ca/Police/AboutHRP/mission.html.

⁸¹ Halifax Regional Police: Chief's Message, online: http://www.halifax.ca/police/
Departments/chiefsmessage.html>. Don Clairmont has also published studies on community policing. See, for example, Don Clairmont, *The Active Police Organization: Community-Based Policing at Halton Regional* (Halifax: Atlantic Institute of Criminology, 1997).

The opportunities for community participation in the Halifax Regional Municipality include a "VIP: Volunteers in Policing" program with opportunities in block parenting, citizen patrol programs, neighborhood watch programs, and youth initiatives.⁸²

Notably, the legislative framework in Nova Scotia, the *Police Act* ⁸³ and its associated regulations, ⁸⁴ acknowledges the importance of community input into policing. ⁸⁵ Section 6(i) of the *Police Act* authorizes the Minister of Justice to "establish programs and methods designed to create between the public and the police a mutual understanding of police functions, duties and responsibilities and to promote police relationships with the news media and the community." Moreover, the legislation mandates the consideration of community needs, values and expectations at an operational level. Every municipality with a municipal police department must establish a Municipal Board of Police Commissioners, pursuant to section 44(1) of the *Police Act*. The legislation outlines, at section 55(3), the obligations of these boards to communities, to:

- (c) ensure that community needs and values are reflected in policing priorities, objectives, goals, programs and strategies;
- (d) ensure that police services are delivered in a manner consistent with community values, needs and expectations;
- (e) act as a conduit between the community and the police service providers.

To ensure communities policed by RCMP or provincial police benefit from similar structures, the *Police Act* mandates the establishment of Police Advisory Boards.⁸⁷ These boards are responsible for providing advice on policing, subject to limitations

⁸² Halifax Regional Police, supra note 79.

⁸³ Police Act, S.N.S. 2004, c. 31.

⁸⁴ Police Regulations, N.S. Reg 230/2005, s. 24

This *Police Act* was proclaimed in force January 1, 2006, effectively replacing the former legislation. The complaints framework is, in large part, similar to that under the old *Police Act*, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 348 (repealed).

⁸⁶ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 6(i)

⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, s. 57(1).

relating to jurisdiction.⁸⁸ Further, subject to police contracts or policing agreements, these boards must ensure community needs, values and expectations are reflected in policing.⁸⁹ They are obliged to:

- (c) ensure that community needs and values are reflected in policing priorities, objectives, goals, programs and strategies;
- (d) ensure that police services are delivered in a manner consistent with community values, needs and expectations;
- (e) act as a conduit between the community and the police department. 90

These examples suggest that the legislative framework for policing in Nova Scotia places increasing weight upon community relations, and moreover, considers communities to be valuable stakeholders in, and contributors to, policing in the province. Furthermore, the Halifax Regional Police have integrated community policing philosophies into day-to-day practice and have developed many initiatives aimed at ensuring the community can contribute meaningfully to their work.

This reflects a focus on the relationships at stake in the work that is done by the police.

That is, community policing has, as a focal point, the relationship between the police and the community. This drive towards the implementation of community policing philosophies appears to be motivated by a recognition of the importance of this relationship, suggesting that divisive issues should be responded to in a way that restores that relationship. There is potential for restorative justice processes embedded

⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, s. 68 (1). The function of an advisory board is to provide advice to the council in relation to the enforcement of law, the maintenance of law and order and the prevention of crime in the municipality, but the advisory board shall not exercise jurisdiction relating to complaints, discipline, personnel conduct or the internal management of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. This illustrates the intent for community policing approaches to be consistently applied across the province.

⁸⁹ *Ibid.*, s. 68(3).

⁹⁰ Ibid.

in communities. There is also an institutional context for this, in mechanisms of civilian oversight.

Efforts to Improve Police-Community Relations through Civilian Oversight

In Canada, the most widespread institutional mechanism for addressing relational
concerns between the police and community in response to allegations of police
wrongdoing has been through the proliferation of civilian oversight agencies. Calls for
improving the relationships between police and their communities is a theme that has
emerged from ad hoc formal inquiries into police wrongdoing; such calls fall on the heels
of informal demands from community groups.⁹¹ A common theme in investigations and
inquiries into police wrongdoing is the recognition that there is a need for institutional,
procedural and administrative reform,⁹² and this has led to public participation in
complaints processes. In practice, this has meant that permanent agencies comprised
of civilians will conduct arms-length investigations and address allegations of police

In Canada there are several civilian oversight agencies tasked with ensuring independent responses to allegations of police wrongdoing.⁹³ A clear example of the establishment of a civilian oversight agency specifically in response to concerns about relations with the public is the Military Police Complaints Commission, whose

wrongdoing.

⁹¹ While it is common for community groups to make calls for improved relations between the police and the public in response to specific incidents, some advocacy groups have organized specifically for this purpose. The Toronto Police Accountability Coalition, online: http://www.tpac.ca/index.cfm offers an example.

Such changes may include the establishment of improved independent police complaints bodies, altered responses to complaints, and education/training for officers.
 A list of the civilian oversight agencies in Canada has been compiled by the Canadian Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement, online:
 http://www.cacole.ca/resource_library/complaint_processes_can.html>.

establishment was called for in the *Report of the Somalia Commission of Inquiry*. ⁹⁴ The Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP is the civilian agency that oversees the national police force. ⁹⁵ In Nova Scotia, the Complaints Commissioner is the civilian oversight authority designated to hear complaints about municipal police officers. ⁹⁶

An emphasis on civilian oversight of law enforcement is not unique to Canada, nor are the concerns leading to such action. For example, in considering the context of Northern Ireland, Shannon McNulty has suggested that civilian oversight of police accountability frameworks

...stems from distrust of the police's ability to investigate themselves. This distrust – and distrust of the police in general – is particularly prevalent in minority communities, where the people feel that they are not adequately represented among the police force, and that they are not sufficiently involved in police decision-making processes. 97

Similarly, the Centre for Criminological Research of the University of Oxford has recently asserted, "[m]ost academic and official commentators have concluded that, in its practical operation, the [police complaints] system in England and Wales has failed to secure an adequate degree of public confidence."

This comes on the heels of numerous reports and inquiries aimed at examining police-community relations in

96 Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner, online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/just/

⁹⁴ Canada, *Report of the Somalia Commission of Inquiry* (Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1997, online: http://www.dnd.ca/somalia/somaliae.htm. Chapter 39, in particular, discusses public relations and public accountability.

⁹⁵ Canada, Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP, online: <www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca>.

polcomm.htm>. This one-member body replaces the Police Commission.

97 Shannon McNulty, "Building Trust in Northern Ireland: The Role of Civilian Review of the Police" (2002) 12 Indiana International and Comparative Law Review 219 at 219.

98 Roderick Hill, Karen Cooper, Carolyn Hoyle and Richard Young, *Introducing*

Restorative Justice to the Police Complaints System: Close Encounters of the Rare Kind (Oxford: University of Oxford, Centre for Criminological Research and Probation Studies Unit. 2003) at iii.

England.⁹⁹ The Independent Police Complaints Commission has recently been established with an objective of enhancing public confidence in the complaints process.¹⁰⁰

While these mechanisms open the door for community involvement thus, perhaps, enhancing the public accountability of the complaints process, they retain an adversarial focus and do not have as their aim the restoration of relationships. As such, they may pay insufficient attention to the relational aspects of these incidents and thus their responses often fail to address relational breakdown, particularly with the broader community. This stymies the ability of these processes to understand broader harm, and eliminates altogether the unique contributions communities can make to restoration. Further, such initiatives contemplate only narrowly construed conceptions of the community (if any) and thus cannot contribute meaningfully to restoration. While the outcome of an investigation may include recommendations for various relationship-building initiatives, there is no opportunity for constructive engagement with communities in connection with specific harms as part of responding to these harms. For example, the Johnson Inquiry raised concerns about the adequacy of race-relations training. While such initiatives may address a crucial component of proactive relationship-building, there remains a need for a mechanism to include discussion of relational matters as part of a

⁹⁹ Philip Rawlings, *Policing: A Short History* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) notes, at 200, that a Royal Commission on Police was appointed in 1960. See also U.K., *The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry Report* (London: Secretary of State for the Home Department, 1999), online: http://www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm42/4262/4262.htm. The report examines the mishandling of the investigation of the racially-motivated murder of Stephen Lawrence, a black youth, and also considers broader resistance by minority communities in complaining to the police. The report notes, at Chapter 46.31, "The need to re-establish trust between minority ethnic communities and the police is paramount." Online: http://www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm42/4262/sli-46.htm.

¹⁰⁰ United Kingdom, Independent Police Complaints Commission, online: www.ipcc.gov.uk.

¹⁰¹ See *Johnson Inquiry, supra* note 2 at 39.

response to allegations of wrongdoing. There seems to be wide consensus that there is a problem with relations between police and communities, but existing accountability frameworks are unable to fully comprehend or respond to this challenge.

Informal Resolution in Response to Police Complaints

Just as institutional structures relating to allegations of police wrongdoing have evolved to respond to articulated concerns, so too has process. Largely in response to concerns relating to the limits of formal adversarial complaints processes, there has been a move to informal processes. Collaborative and informal problem-solving initiatives are widely advocated by proponents of alternative dispute resolution (ADR), and appear motivated by a perception that they offer quicker and cheaper approaches, because the claims can be settled, or "gotten rid of" quickly.¹⁰² Further, ADR enables parties to speak on their own behalf and thus it may offer a better opportunity to understand the nature of the complaint or incident than formal approaches. It is further advocated as being more likely to result in satisfaction, of all parties, with the process than adversarial responses.¹⁰³

Informal resolution of public complaints made to administrative agencies is a growing trend,¹⁰⁴ and one which parallels the increasing acceptance by criminal justice systems of informal responses to crime.¹⁰⁵ An ADR-based approach has been embraced by agencies that engage in administrative review,¹⁰⁶ including complaints mechanisms

¹⁰² See generally, Leonard L. Riskin and James E. Westbrook, *Dispute Resolution and Lawyers*, 2nd ed. (St. Paul: West Group, 1998).

¹⁰⁴ For example, the Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission and the Nova Scotia Office of the Ombudsman have invested in process modification to encourage, where possible, informal resolution of complaints.

¹⁰⁵ The Youth Criminal Justice Act, S.C. 2002, c. 1, mandates consideration of restorative justice in response to youth crime.

¹⁰⁶ The Nova Scotia Ombudsman, for example, has a strong focus on informally resolving concerns. Process details are outlined in a recent annual report, online:

administered both by policing agencies and civilian oversight agencies. 107 A recent annual report published by the Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP explains some benefits of ADR in a police complaints context: "ADR is voluntary, creative, practical and timely. Normally such files are completed within a day or two, in contrast to formal complaint files that may take six to twelve months." The benefits of informal processes for police complaints have been recognized in Nova Scotia as well. Municipal police agencies in Nova Scotia, including the Halifax Regional Police, are required, by law, to attempt to resolve complaints informally. 109 Indeed, informal resolution may be particularly well-suited to allegations of police wrongdoing because it may reduce officers' stress which in turn can have on impact on the way they carry out their work. Robert Loo has identified "relations with the public and community" as "major sources of stress when police believe that their efforts are not appreciated by the community they serve and that the public is apathetic about supporting the police. Complaints and assaults against police only reinforce the belief [by the police] that they stand alone". 110 Ironically, the stress of public complaints can result in further wrongdoing by officers. One writer has observed, "...the conduct of officers under enormous stress can produce immoral, unethical, and illegal conduct such as bribery,

http://www.gov.ns.ca/ombu/AnnualReport.pdf>. Similarly, the Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission aims to resolve matters informally. For a description of Commission process, see online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/humanrights/PDFdocs/Complaint Process E.pdf>.

¹⁰⁷ See, for example, the *Police Act*, *supra* note 83.

^{108 2004-2005} Annual Report of the Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP (Ottawa, Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP, 2005), online: http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index_e.aspx?articleid=778. The Military Police Complaints Commission similarly encourages informal resolution. See online: http://www.mpcc-cppm.gc.ca/200/210_e.html#informal.

¹⁰⁹ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 71. ¹¹⁰ Robert Loo, "A Psychosocial Process Model of Police Suicide" in Heith Copes, ed., Policing and Stress (New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc., 2005) 103 at 103.

thievery, misuse of government property, graft, fraud, exploitation, misuse of deadly force, denial of due process, and police brutality."¹¹¹

As these points illustrate, there are some aspects of ADR that are beneficial. However, the changes ADR brings are focused on process, and not to the purpose or aim of the process. It is not focused on reconceiving the requirements of justice. ADR has an aim of the settlement of disputes which are essentially considered to be private, or exclusive to the few parties who are included in the process. 112 As a result, the important relational issues that are identified in all of the inquiries discussed above are not able to be comprehensively considered in ADR processes. By virtue of adopting the aim and focus of mainstream processs (i.e., to settle complaints without inquiring into their nature and the related harm), ADR takes an extremely restricted view of who is impacted by wrongdoing and as a result, the relational harms are not able to be fully comprehended or addressed. Those who are included in an ADR process may be brought together for a discussion; however, the process may simply involve mediated correspondence without an actual meeting. The community is often missing and broader interests are not considered. Moreover, the parties who can be involved are restricted by the confidential nature of ADR-based initiatives. As such, the wider harm to the community cannot be comprehensively attended to, nor can the outcome reflect the contributions that the community brings to restorative justice processes.

As a result of the aim, in ADR, of settlement, any satisfaction reported following an ADR process may be more a result of having one's subjective demands met as opposed to outcomes that are objectively considered just or fair. As Jennifer Llewellyn explains:

Dennis J. Stevens, "Police Officer Stress and Occupational Stressors" in Heith
 Copes, ed., *Policing and Stress* (New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc., 2005) 1 at 17.
 Llewellyn, *supra* note 30

Mainstream ADR mechanisms share a common focus on settlement as their ultimate aim...The primary focus on settlement of the legal dispute often comes at the expense of dealing with other issues between the parties. Any deeper conflict is generally set aside unless it is material to settlement of the legal claim. This singular focus also creates the danger that so long as settlement is achieved, little or no attention will be paid to the way in which that settlement was reached. Settlement focuses on the individual dispute, not on the broader relationships at issue and the extent to which they might be made better or worse as a result of the means and method by which the dispute is settled. The problem, then, is not with settlement per se but, rather, with settlement as the primary or exclusive goal of dispute resolution processes. Settlement of any kind or at any cost can come at the expense of justice concerns."

ADR does not aim to address relational breakdowns, particularly as they relate to the broader community. Indeed, ADR processes may cause further harm to the relationships at stake, particularly where broader community interests are impacted. For example, a negotiated settlement between an individual complainant and the police may be perceived by the community as a way of avoiding dealing with broader concerns, or of simply trying to make the problem go away, rather than offering a forum in which those who have a stake in the outcome can address the issue meaningfully. Moreover, it does not challenge the underlying conception of wrong and harm so is inadequately able to comprehend the harm to the relationship between the police and the public. Although ADR represents, for many reasons, improvements upon adversarial responses, it does little to address relational breakdowns between the police and public generally.¹¹⁴

¹¹³ *Ibid*.

¹¹⁴ Graham Smith has considered existing trends in police complaints processes and proposes a new framework that shifts focus away from "the 'who investigates the police?' issue." See Graham Smith, "Rethinking Police Complaints" (2004) 44 British Journal of Criminology" 15 at 15.

Shifting Paradigms: Application of Restorative Justice

Restorative justice is aligned with ADR insofar as it has grown out of informal justice movements, 115 and both offer a better forum for clarification of issues. Also, ADR might offer better efficiency than mainstream or traditional adversarial responses to wrongdoing. However, restorative justice offers something more than this. Its aim is broader, and it can address relational harm in ways that ADR cannot.

Various developments in recent years appear to have been moving towards a recognition of the significance of relationships at stake surrounding policing and police wrongdoing. Community policing initiatives and the inclusion of the community in the complaints process through civilian oversight, as well as a shift from formal processes to ADR, appear to reflect an acknowledgement of the importance of positive relations between the police and their communities. However, these initiatives do not have, as their aim, the restoration of relationships and, as the discussion above has argued, they do not adequately respond to the relational harm caused by police wrongdoing. Restorative justice appears to offer promise in advancing this aim.

There has been some discussion in other countries of applying restorative justice to police accountability frameworks. England has arguably been at the forefront of this discussion, and a report on the issue was recently completed at Oxford University. Drawing upon work in England, a New Zealand Review of the Police Complaints Authority report recommends incorporation of restorative justice principles, noting, "procedures...designed to maintain and restore appropriate relationships between

¹¹⁵ For a discussion of restorative justice emerging from informal justice movements, see Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *Restoring Justice*, 2nd ed. (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2002).

¹¹⁶ Hill, Cooper, Hoyle and Young, *supra* note 98 at iii. Notably, this may be due in part to the fact that restorative justice is more often police-driven in the United Kingdom.

members of the public and the police should be promoted at every opportunity." These projects accurately recognize the potential for restorative justice in addressing relational challenges between the police and the public; however, the model promulgated takes a narrow view of restorative justice and contemplates limited involvement of the community. This restricts the potential of restorative justice by conflating its aims and practices with those of ADR. Therefore, while some aspects may offer insights for the analysis in this project, the approach to restorative justice is altogether different and more limiting in terms of addressing relational breakdowns between the police and the communities in which they operate.

Restorative justice practice grounded in a restorative theory of justice offers an opportunity to respond to police wrongdoing in a manner that aims to address the community dimension and full relational nature of the harm. It appropriately identifies the underlying issue as the relationship between the police and the community, and thus can offer a better response to associated harms. It enables an exploration of specific and systemic issues underlying police conduct and public complaints, and can address the associated harms to the relationship between the police and the public. Further, restorative justice allows for a wider range of outcomes, and since it responds to context, participants can work together to effect creative and specifically responsive agreements. It is through this broader approach that restorative justice can respond to the wrong itself, address the harm, explore contextual/systemic matters that led to the wrongdoing (and thus possibly prevent future wrongdoing), and facilitate action aimed at healing the harm experienced by individuals *and* by the community.

¹¹⁷ New Zealand, *Review of the Police Complaints Authority* (Wellington: Ministry of Justice, 2000), at 47, online: http://www.justice.govt.nz/pubs/reports/2001/police_complaints/index.html.

¹¹⁸ For example, "community" may be considered to simply involve a local facilitator.

The remainder of this thesis will explore this possibility in the context of the Nova Scotia police complaints processes as applicable to the Halifax Regional Police and as recommended in the *Johnson Inquiry*. It will first examine the framework in Nova Scotia for police complaints. Second, it will introduce restorative justice theory and examine the present application of restorative justice theory in Nova Scotia. Third, it will consider the pertinence of restorative justice theory to police complaints generally. Finally, it will consider the application of restorative justice to the present police complaints framework in Nova Scotia, identify some limitations and opportunities in present frameworks for realizing or implementing restorative justice, and propose modifications to this framework to better enable such application.

As Chapter 1 has shown, there is a pressing need for a mechanism to respond to relational breakdowns between police and their communities in conjunction with allegations of police wrongdoing. Present adversarial and ADR-based approaches do not address this broader harm. Restorative justice, however, has as an aim the restoration of relationships and therefore may offer uniquely appropriate response mechanisms.

Setting out the policing authority and the police complaints frameworks in Nova Scotia as applicable to the Halifax Regional Police enables an analysis of where there is room – as well as how things would have to change – for the application of restorative justice. The emphasis on informal resolution in the *Police Act* and as established in practice, for example, can create a climate of acceptance for informal alternatives. An exploration of the police complaints process, however, also reveals some structures that limit the possibility for restorative justice to be applied.

Policing Authority

As indicated in Chapter 1, interaction with the police is perhaps the most common contact citizens have with the state and state authority. While the role of police officers is similar across the country (and indeed, the public may view "the police" as one entity that represents the state generally), 119 they operate under a variety of frameworks which

For example, my own experience working with incarcerated youth frequently revealed difficulties, by the youth, identifying which force or detachment (e.g., RCMP or municipal police) had been involved in their arrests. This issue is highly significant in determining which public complaint process to follow.

establish roles and jurisdictions for police agencies. This thesis focuses on the Halifax Regional Police; however, it is useful to outline the policing context in which they operate. The authority for legislating criminal law and procedure in Canada, as a federal responsibility, is derived from section 91(27) of the Constitution Act. 1867. 120 Administration of criminal law is a provincially designated responsibility, pursuant to section 92(14). The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) is Canada's federal police force, with exclusive jurisdiction for police services in the Yukon and Northwest Territories. 121 The RCMP is responsible for enforcing all federal statutes excluding the Criminal Code, 122 but where contracted by the provinces, will also provide provincial and municipal policing services. 123 All provinces except Ontario and Quebec have established agreements for provincial policing services by the RCMP, and under separate agreements, the RCMP provides municipal policing services to numerous municipalities. 124 Further, many Canadian cities have established independent municipal police forces. They enforce the Criminal Code, provincial legislation and municipal by-laws. 125 It is under this framework that the Halifax Regional Police operates as a municipal police force. Although the Halifax Regional Police and the RCMP share some operations out of one detachment located in Halifax -- and there is

¹²⁰ Constitution Act, 1867 (U.K.), 30 & 31 Vict., c.3, reprinted in R.S.C. 2985, App. II, No.

<sup>5.
121</sup> Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46. ¹²² Royal Canadian Mounted Police, *Organization of the RCMP*, online:

http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/html/organi e.htm>. Ronald T. Stansfield, Issues in Policing: A Canadian Perspective (Toronto: Thompson Educational Publishing, Inc., 1996) at 15.

¹²⁴ Ibid. at 15. As noted in Chapter 1, complaints against the Royal Canadian Mounted Police are dealt with pursuant to the RCMP Act; the associated civilian oversight agency is the Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP. For details see <www.cpccpp.gc.ca>.

125 *Ibid.* at 15.

some collaboration on specific matters¹²⁶ -- the forces retain different respective iurisdictions.¹²⁷

Frameworks for Allegations of Police Wrongdoing

The primary framework for allegations of police wrongdoing of municipal police in Nova Scotia – encompassing the Halifax Regional Police – is found in the Nova Scotia *Police Act* ¹²⁸ and its associated regulations. ¹²⁹ These documents establish authority for political responses to questions relating to the administration of justice. Further, they establish protocol relating to the conduct of police officers and set process parameters for responding to allegations, by other officers and members of the public, of police wrongdoing. Civilian oversight is provided by the Complaints Commissioner.

This thesis is exclusively interested in the police complaints process; however, it should be noted at this stage that responses to allegations of police wrongdoing pursuant to the *Police Act* are not the only recourse that complainants may have regarding police action generally, and which specifically applies to the Halifax Regional Police. The Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission and the Nova Scotia Office of the Ombudsman are impartial

Although the Halifax Regional Police and the RCMP are separate entities operating out of the same building, there is some intersection; for example there are a number of "Integrated Units" made up of both RCMP and Halifax Regional Police officers. See, for example, *Halifax Regional Police, Operations, Special Investigation Section,* online: http://www.police.halifax.ns.ca/menu.asp.

The issue of police jurisdiction is of considerable interest in Canada, because municipal and provincial police officers are unable to exercise their authority outside their respective areas of appointment. This means their work is stymied *vis-à-vis* action that crosses a border. The Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police, Law Amendments Committee, has advocated legislative reform and policy frameworks to address this gap. See generally, Gord Schumacher, "Extra-provincial Police Jurisdiction" (presentation to the Canadian Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement, Banff, Alberta, October 2003) [unpublished].

¹²⁸ Police Act, supra note 83. This Act was recently proclaimed in force by the Nova Scotia legislature, and effectively replaces the former Police Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 348 (repealed).

¹²⁹ Police Regulations, supra note 84.

organizations which offer public complaints processes that are applicable to this context; their respective jurisdictional frameworks may coincide with a response under the *Police Act.*¹³⁰ The Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission is a body mandated to ensure respect for human rights in this province; its enabling legislation prohibits discrimination¹³¹ on a number of grounds,¹³² and prohibits sexual harassment.¹³³ Discrimination is not prohibited in all areas of life but is limited to specific types of interaction, some of which may relate to policing.¹³⁴ The Nova Scotia Office of the Ombudsman is mandated to ensure fairness in provincial and municipal government services in the province.¹³⁵ The Halifax Regional Police, as a municipal entity, falls within this jurisdiction, as does the Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner, a provincial entity.¹³⁶ An additional option of civil action may be pursued if an aggrieved party does not wish to address the matter (or address it exclusively) through a public complaints process.¹³⁷

130 It would be interesting to consider how restorative justice may be applicable in these processes; however, this is beyond the scope of this thesis.

Discrimination is defined in section 4 of the *Human Rights Act, supra* note 1, as "a distinction, whether intentional or not, based on a characteristic, or perceived characteristic, [identified in the enumerated grounds] that has the effect of imposing burdens, obligations or disadvantages on an individual or a class of individuals not imposed upon others or which withholds or limits access to opportunities, benefits and advantages available to other individuals or classes of individuals in society."

The protected grounds include age; race; colour; religion; creed; sex; sexual orientation; physical disability or mental disability; an irrational fear of contracting an illness or disease; ethnic, national or aboriginal origin; family status; marital status; source of income; political belief, affiliation or activity; individuals association with another individual or class of individuals having [these] characteristics. *Human Rights Act, ibid.*, ss. 5(1)(h) - (v).

¹³³ Further, sexual harassment is prohibited at s. 5(2) of the *Human Rights Act*, *ibid*.

¹³⁴ Protected areas include provision of or access to services or facilities; accommodation; the purchase or sale of property; employment; volunteer public service; a publication, broadcast or advertisement; membership in a professional association, business or trade association, employers' organization or employees' organization. *Human Rights Act, ibid.*, ss. 5(1) (a)-(g).

¹³⁵ Ombudsman Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c-327 s. 11.

¹³⁶ *Ibid.*, s. 2

There have been many cases in Canada in which complainants have successfully sued the police. One of the more notable cases in recent Canadian history is *Jane Doe*

These various grievance options are often exercised concurrent to the police complaints process or are accessed when a complainant is dissatisfied with the disposition of the matter by another body.¹³⁸ Their ability and/or discretion to become involved in a matter may be triggered by various stages in the police complaints process.¹³⁹

Police Act Responses

There are a number of responses under the *Police Act* that may follow suspicions or allegations of police wrongdoing. The Minister of Justice is broadly authorized to order a review into any matter concerning policing and the administration of justice. ¹⁴⁰ A process is in place for internal discipline, where a member of a police department alleges wrongdoing within that department. ¹⁴¹ A different process is designated for complaints made by members of the public. The situations in which the relationships between the police and public are most likely impacted by wrongdoing – and/or are

v. Metropolitan Toronto (Municipality) Commissioners of Police, (1998) 160 D.L.R. (4th) 697 (Ont. Gen. Div.). Civil actions have the potential to award greater monetary compensation and may address a broader range of harm than the public processes identified above. However, in addition to the high financial cost of civil actions, like other adversarial processes and ADR-based informal resolution processes, they do not allow for meaningful consideration of systemic and contextual matters as outlined in Chapter 1, nor do they offer the same potential to restore relationships as this is not an aim, and arguably, is rarely an outcome. The option of pursuing a civil action against the police falls beyond the scope of this discussion and is thus not expanded upon in this project.

¹³⁸ It should be noted that if concerns are addressed meaningfully (and restorative justice offers this possibility), people might feel less compelled to access complaints processes offered by the Human Rights Commission and the Office of the Ombudsman.

¹³⁹ For example, section 14 of the *Ombudsman Act, supra* note 135, outlines the authority of the Ombudsman to refuse to investigate a matter in a number of circumstances including the existence of another appropriate avenue of recourse.

¹⁴⁰ *Police Act, supra* note 83, s. 7.

¹⁴¹ Internal discipline can also trigger the labour relations regime of union grievances under the appropriate legislation. Notably, police in Nova Scotia no longer have the right to strike. The Halifax Regional Police are unionized under sections 41 through 43 of the *Trade Union Act*, R.S.N.S. 1989, c-475, as are many municipal police forces in Nova Scotia. That right has been replaced, at sections 52A through 52G, with compulsory interest arbitration. The RCMP has no union – a controversy which went to the Supreme Court of Canada which held that they have no right to organize. See *Delisle v. Canada* (*Deputy Attorney General*), [1999] 2 S.C.R. 989.

impacted by allegations of wrongdoing – fall under the Minister-initiated process (e.g. following public pressure) and through the public complaints process. This thesis only considers the process for public complaints, and therefore, the process for internal discipline will not be the focus of this discussion.

Ministerial Response

The widest scope for an examination of issues relating to policing is found in the authority granted to the Minister of Justice. A response under this authority could address any question relating to the administration of justice:

- 7 (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, the Minister may order an investigation into any matter relating to policing and law enforcement in the Province, including an investigation respecting the operation and administration of a police department.
- (2) An investigation pursuant to subsection (1) shall be conducted by such person and in such manner as the Minister may specify in the order and that person shall provide the Minister with
- (a) a written report; and
- (b) recommendations, where appropriate, within the time frame specified by the Minister.
- (3) The Minister may appoint a person with technical or other specialized knowledge to assist the person conducting an investigation pursuant to subsection (1).
- (4) Upon receipt of a report pursuant to subsection (2), the Minister may take whatever action the Minister considers appropriate to implement any recommendations provided pursuant to clause (2)(b).
- (5) A person conducting an investigation authorized by this Section has all of the powers and immunities of a peace officer during the investigation and any proceedings relating to the matter under investigation.

This is an authority separate from that under the *Public Inquiries Act* which authorizes the Governor in Council (the provincial government; in practice this involves the Lieutenant Governor acting on behalf of the Crown, upon the consent and advice of the Executive Council) to "cause inquiry to be made into and concerning any public matter in relation to which the Legislature may make laws." *Public Inquiries Act* c-372, R.S.N.S. 1989, s. 2. It is under the *Public Inquiries Act* that the Nunn Commission of Inquiry was recently called into the death of Theresa McEvoy in a car crash caused by a young person two days after his release from custody, online: http://www.nunncommission.ca

Because specific incidents of wrongdoing -- or allegations of wrongdoing -- are not a cited prerequisite for such a response, these provisions allow for proactive or preventative action. In other words, questions pertaining to the administration of justice are sufficiently broad to include policy and practice frameworks that may have adverse effects upon the public, and can motivate broad institutional change. However, this framework could also have wide applicability to questions pertaining to police conduct and offer a response to situations in which the Minister believes there is adequate public interest. In practice, this means that lobbying or political pressure could invite a response to police wrongdoing without the need for a public complaints process to be triggered. However, the public complaints process does not depend on the discretion of the Minister and is thus the much more widely accessible process.

Public Complaints

The *Police Act* and regulations outline the process to be followed when members of the public lodge complaints of wrongdoing against the police. The definition of wrongdoing is broadly construed in the regulations. The legislation and regulations outline to whom to make a complaint, who can review it, and various appeal processes. Complaints can be made against an entire force for the "failure of the department itself to meet public expectations"¹⁴⁵ or against one or more individual officers alleging "that a member of a department breached the code of conduct."¹⁴⁶

143

¹⁴³ It is also interesting to consider how these provisions could enable restorative justice processes in response to systemic justice-related concerns; however, this discussion falls beyond the scope of this thesis.

¹⁴⁴ Issues broader than wrongdoing also fall under this authority; however, the focus for this thesis is restricted to allegations of police wrongdoing.

¹⁴⁵ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 2(d).

¹⁴⁶ *Ibid*. Both types of complaints are significant for the discussion in subsequent chapters of the application of restorative justice, because restorative justice might take different forms depending on the scope of the allegation or issues.

Defining Wrongdoing: Thresholds for Response

The response options for complaints are assessed against the parameters for action considered to constitute wrongdoing by breaching the "Code of Conduct." Such acts of wrongdoing are labeled as "disciplinary defaults." These are defined in the regulations as situations in which an officer "engages in discreditable conduct," "is insubordinate," "neglects their duties," "is deceitful," "improperly discloses information," engages in corrupt practice," "abuses their authority," "improperly uses a firearm or intermediate weapon," "damages property," or "consumes or uses liquor or drugs in a manner prejudicial to the carrying out of their duty." While the regulations delineate in more detail the parameters of action considered to constitute wrongdoing under the headings noted above, it is clear that the scope of such action is quite broad, including conduct prohibited in human rights legislation as well as ethical expectations of the profession as articulated in the Code of Conduct.

The complaints framework also contemplates responses to conduct considered by the state to be criminal. The regulations outline processes to be followed in instances in which criminal conduct is alleged. When there appears to have been a breach of criminal law, a mandatory stage in the process is the consideration of whether charges are appropriate.¹⁵¹ If a matter referred to the Minister of Justice alleges "criminal misconduct on the part of the chief officer, or the chief officer and one or more

¹⁴⁷ Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 24.

¹⁴⁸ *Ibid*.

¹⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, s. 24(1)-(10).

The *Police Act* considers a violation of a provincial statute as a disciplinary default and thus such an allegation enables a response under the *Police Act*. Section 24(1)(b) of the *Police Regulations, supra* note 84, identifies, as a disciplinary default, "contravening an enactment of the Province, a province or territory of Canada or the Government of Canada in a manner that is likely to bring discredit on the reputation of the police department".

¹⁵¹ Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 70(1).

members," the matter may be referred to the RCMP or another police force for investigation. A criminal investigation does not preclude the complaint proceedings; however, the regulations mandate suspension of such proceedings pending the completion of the criminal investigation. 153

Process for Complaints

A complaint must be made within six months of the date of the incident complained of.¹⁵⁴ Under section 28 of the regulations, complaints can be made on behalf of someone else with certain restrictions:

Complaint made by third party

28 (1) A complaint made by a person who is not personally affected by the occurrence that gave rise to the complaint must not be proceeded with unless the person who is personally affected by the occurrence consents to the processing of the complaint by endorsing the complaint in writing at the time it is made. (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if the person who is personally affected by the occurrence that gave rise to the complaint is not competent to give consent.

Complainants have a few options when choosing to whom they wish to take their concerns about policing. These options for making complaints are articulated in section 27 of the regulations:

- 27 A complainant may be made to any of the following, as applicable:
- (a) for a complaint about a police department generally, the complaints officer of the police department or any other member of the police department;
- (b) for a complaint about a member, the complaints officer of the police department of which the member complained of is a member, or any other member of the police department;
- (c) for any complaint, the board or the Complaints Commissioner.

¹⁵² *Ibid.*, s.69.

¹⁵³ *Ibid.*, s. 70(3).

¹⁵⁴ *Ibid.* s. 29. This expands the allowable timeline afforded under the old legislation which provided that complaints regarding a member of the force should be made within thirty days of the incident; however, there was some discretion on these timelines provided the complaint was made within six months under section 8(2) of the former *Police Act Regulations*, N.S. Reg. 159/2003.

A public complaint can be taken (i.e., received) by any member of the same force; also, a "complaints officer" may be specifically designated for this role. This means a complainant can take his or her complaint directly to the department complained of.

Halifax Regional Police: Professional Standards Office

Complaints against the Halifax Regional Police are administered pursuant to the framework outlined in the *Police Act* and associated regulations. This legislation allows each police force to retain some autonomy in terms of how the process is administered. Each chief of police has authority to design the details of the process to be followed within a particular detachment or force. The Halifax Regional Police has developed a relatively comprehensive approach to administering complaints, with a specifically designated division, the Professional Standards Office based at its headquarters, mandated to deal with concerns. The stated mandate for the office is "timely and impartial investigation and resolution of complaints filed by the public or internally by police members." It has developed a motto: "Integrity / Impartiality / Thoroughness". The stated mandate is a motto: "Integrity / Impartiality / Thoroughness".

In keeping with these legislative obligations to attempt to resolve matters informally, the Professional Standards Office of the Halifax Regional Police notes that complaints may be resolved formally or informally. The informal resolution process is described as "mediation": "A face-to-face meeting is usually held between all parties involved under the guidance of a neutral party."¹⁵⁹ In practice, this meeting involves the complainant

¹⁵⁵ Section 2(I) of the regulations provides, "[a] 'complaints officer' of a police department means the chief officer of the police department, or a member of the department designated by the chief officer as the complaints officer." *Police Regulations, supra* note 84, s. 2(I).

¹⁵⁶ *Police Act, supra* note 83, s. 71(3).

¹⁵⁷ Halifax Regional Police, *supra* note 79.

¹⁵⁸ *Ibid.*

¹⁵⁹ *Ibid.*

and the officer complained of, along with the Professional Standards Officer. Outcomes can range from the complaint being withdrawn to any result that is "mutually consented to." ¹⁶⁰ In practice, however, the Professional Standards Office takes a flexible approach to conflict resolution both in process and outcome, structuring the informal process so as to address the allegation in whatever manner seems most efficient. The Professional Standards Office promotes this informal approach, asserting that the informal resolution process is more timely than a formal investigation, suggesting that formal responses may take at least 60 days for a decision to be made. ¹⁶¹

Additional Police Act Avenues for Public Complaints

Another avenue for lodging a complaint is to the "board," the municipal board of police commissioners. 162 It is a board mandated to provide:

55(1)(a) civilian governance on behalf of the council in relation to the enforcement of law, the maintenance of law and order and the prevention of crime in the municipality; and

(b) the administrative direction, organization and policy required to maintain an adequate, effective and efficient police department. 163

Although the board is able to receive any complaints, it is only authorized to investigate complaints as they relate to the chief officer of a municipal police department.

¹⁶⁰ *Ibid*.

¹⁶¹ Ihid

¹⁶² Police Act, supra note 83, s. 2(b), and Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 27(c). Under current legislation, meetings of the Municipal Board of Police Commissioners are open to the public. There is, however, discretion for the meetings to be private as they relate to "discipline, personnel conduct, contract negotiations and security of police operations" and "where the matter relates to a complaint against or the discipline of the chief officer, the chair may request that the chief not attend and the chief shall not attend." Police Act, s. 51.

¹⁶³ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 55(1).

The third avenue whereby a complaint against any officer or chief can be made is to the Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner. 164 This one-person body is the provincial civilian oversight agency established by the Police Act. 165

Process Details

The organization which receives the complaint does not necessarily deal with the matter. The regulations to the Police Act establish responsibility for investigating and/or resolving the complaint. Once a complaint is filed with any of the three bodies noted above, if the complaint is not against the chief, it will be referred to the police chief of the department complained of, who may delegate this authority. As noted earlier, the Halifax Regional Police have delegated this authority to the Professional Standards Officer.

Details relating to the complaints process are outlined in the Police Act:

- 71 (1) A complaint respecting the police department generally or the conduct of or the performance of a duty of a member of a municipal police department other than the chief officer shall be referred to the chief officer of that police department in accordance with the regulations.
- (2) Upon receiving a complaint, the chief officer shall attempt to resolve the matter in an informal manner.
- (3) The chief officer may delegate the chief officer's authority to a member of the municipal police department or may ask a member of another police department to investigate the complaint and report on the findings.
- (4) The chief officer shall report all complaints to the Complaints Commissioner at the time and in the manner prescribed by regulation. 166

As mandated in subsection 71(2), above, there must be an attempt to resolve complaints informally. The regulations outline parameters and process for informal resolution. A matter is considered to be resolved if both parties (the complainant and the member of

¹⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, s. 27(c)

The Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner is established pursuant to s.11 (1) of the Police Act, supra note 83. This role effectively replaces the Nova Scotia Police Commission which was established pursuant to s. 4(1) of the former Police Act. ¹⁶⁶ Police Act. supra note 83, s.71.

the police department complained of) agree with the resolution and sign a document to this effect. Each gets a copy of the document and a copy is also forwarded to the Complaints Commissioner.¹⁶⁷ The regulations further provide, at section 34(3), "A complaint that is resolved informally must not be processed further and, if the complaint is about a member, must not appear in the service record of the member."¹⁶⁸

This suggests that informal resolution is exclusive to the complainant and the officer complained of, meaning that they are effectively the only parties considered to be involved in (and presumably, impacted by) the matter. The substantive content of the resolution appears to be limitless; that is, there are no parameters set in the legislation or regulations in terms of allowable outcomes from an informal resolution process. If a matter proceeds to an investigation, the regulations direct the process to be followed. The investigation must culminate in a report which states whether, in the opinion of the investigator, "the evidence proves that the member has committed a disciplinary default" and further, whether there are any "organizational or administrative practices... that may have caused or contributed to the alleged disciplinary default." The investigator's report, which can make a recommendation as to disciplinary measures, must be submitted to the disciplinary authority responsible for the matter. The regulations also articulate the allowable penalties that can flow from this process.

¹⁶⁷ Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 34.

¹⁶⁸ *Ibid.* s. 34.

¹⁶⁹ *Ibid.*, s. 42 (a).

¹⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, s. 42 (b).

¹⁷¹ *Ibid.*, s. 42.

¹⁷² *Ibid.*, s. 25 and s. 26.

Complaints against the chief follow a slightly different process. Complaints against a chief officer are to be referred to the Municipal Board of Police Commissioners, which must "investigate...and attempt to resolve the complaint." This appears to conflate the investigation and informal resolution processes into one continuum; that is, the delineation between "informal resolution" and "investigation" is not as clear as it is in the process for complaints against officers generally. As subsequent chapters will illustrate, this lack of distinction has implications for the possible applicability of restorative justice within this legislative framework.

Decisions by disciplinary authorities are reviewable by the Review Board. This is outlined in sections 81 and 82 of the *Police Act*:

81 After a disciplinary decision has been made in accordance with this Act and the regulations, a police officer who is the subject of the disciplinary decision may initiate a review of the decision by filing a notice of review with the Review Board in accordance with the regulations.

82 Upon receipt of a notice of review, the Review Board shall conduct a hearing. 175

Complaints Commissioner

Although the initial avenues to be followed differ when a complaint is against a member of a police department as opposed to a complaint against a police chief, the processes merge if they are not able to be resolved at an earlier stage. The matter will be referred to the Complaints Commissioner if requested by the complainant or the member complained of.¹⁷⁶ Once the Complaints Commissioner receives the complaint, they

¹⁷³ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 73.

¹⁷⁴ *Ibid.* s. 73(2).

¹⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, s. 81 and s. 82.

¹⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, s. 72.

"shall attempt to resolve the complaint." ¹⁷⁷ As part of this process, the Complaints

Commissioner is authorized to "investigate the complaint or designate another person to investigate the complaint and report to the Complaints Commissioner." ¹⁷⁸

If the Complaints Commissioner is unable to resolve the matter, they may refer it to the Nova Scotia Police Review Board¹⁷⁹ for a hearing unless the Complaints Commissioner believes that the complaint is "frivolous or vexatious". ¹⁸⁰ The Review Board is a body mandated under section 18 of the *Police Act* to conduct investigations and inquiries, and to conduct hearings into matters that the Complaints Commissioner has referred to the Board. ¹⁸¹ The hearing is considered to be public "unless the Review Board is of the opinion that it is in the best interests of the public, the maintenance of order or the proper administration of justice to exclude members of the public for all or part of the proceedings."

The regulations establish recourse when a matter is not referred by the Complaints Commissioner:

39(1) If the Complaints Commissioner does not refer a complaint to the Review Board for the reason that the complaint is frivolous or vexatious, without merit or an abuse of process, the Complaints Commissioner must notify the complainant, and the complainant may appeal to the Chair of the Review Board for a review of the record by filing a notice of appeal in the prescribed form no later than 20 days after the complainant is notified that the complaint has not been referred.

(2) After receiving a record of a complaint for review, the Chair of the Review Board must do one of the following:

¹⁷⁷ *Ibid.*, s. 74.

¹⁷⁸ *Ibid*, s. 74.

¹⁷⁹ Ibid., s. 2(k).

¹⁸⁰ *Ibid.*, s. 74(4). This is similar to the process under the old *Police Act*; however, the former legislation made no provision for refusing complaints as frivolous or vexatious. See N.S. Reg. 159/2003, s. s. 14(10).

¹⁸¹ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 18.

¹⁸² *Ibid.*, s. 76.

confirm the decision of the Complaints Commissioner to not refer the complaint to the Review Board; or order that the Complaints Commissioner refer the complaint to the Review Board. 183

A Review Board hearing can have a variety of outcomes, including making findings of fact, dismissing the matter, making recommendations for remedial action, varying penalties previously imposed including dismissal or suspension of the member, affirming penalties previously imposed, substituting a finding, awarding or fixing costs, or superseding a disciplinary procedure/provision in a contract/collective agreement.¹⁸⁴

Decisions of the Review Board are final.¹⁸⁵

Limitations of Present Framework for Restoring Relationships

While the present police complaints framework in Nova Scotia does offer potential for addressing individual relational breakdowns through the opportunity for a face-to-face meeting between the complainant and the officer complained of, it does not provide opportunities for restoring relationships between police and their communities. The harm flowing from police wrongdoing is much broader than that in a private dispute between two individuals, as outlined in Chapter 1. As noted in the *Johnson Inquiry*, the present "informal resolution" approach outlined at various stages in the process does not explicitly allow for meaningful restoration of relationships between the police and the community. Further, the process is frozen when there is an exploration of criminal justice implications. Coordination of the criminal justice process with a restorative justice process in this regard would enable the harm to the community to be contemplated in the outcome. The constant dialogue, in the present police complaints framework,

¹⁸³ Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 39.

¹⁸⁴ *Police Act, supra* note 83, s.79(1)(a)-(g).

¹⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, s. 79(3).

between informal and formal approaches, is problematic because it creates disincentives to full participation in the informal processes (that is, it is a disincentive to truth-telling as described in Chapter 1). Moreover, confidentiality arrangements which are set out in practice – though not legislated – for the processes create a barrier to inclusiveness (i.e., the community is not able to participate in the process and agreements). These challenges and others that emerge from restorative justice theory are discussed in greater detail in subsequent chapters.

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program has been selected as a model for this thesis not simply due to the convenient fact that it is currently operating in the province, but because it reflects comprehensive integration of restorative justice theory into practice. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program is founded upon a conception of restorative justice as a theory of justice which extends beyond the strictly-construed criminal justice realm (although it currently operates exclusively in that context), asserting that restorative justice represents "a new way of thinking about crime and conflict. It challenges us to look at how we restore the balance after a crime has been committed."186 As a result, the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is a suitably adaptable model for this thesis. More importantly, it is examined in this thesis in order to draw out and explore some significant issues emerging from restorative justice theory and to illustrate how these theoretical issues have been addressed in practice. This analysis offers some significant insights into the appropriateness and application of restorative justice principles in the police complaints process, and establishes a foundation upon which the applicability of restorative justice principles to a policing context can be elaborated.

In order to illustrate some ways in which the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is soundly based on theory – and thus offers an appropriate model in response to police complaints – this chapter explores some features of restorative justice theory that are

¹⁸⁶ Restorative Justice: A Program for Nova Scotia (Halifax: Nova Scotia Department of Justice, 1998).

particularly important in its implementation. The first area that will be discussed is social equality as an aim of restorative justice, and the ways in which current punitive approaches to criminal and administrative justice detract from this aim. The second area considered is the respective roles of state and community in the administration of restorative justice practice. The third area examined is community participation in the process. Fourth, situations in which restorative justice may be appropriate are contemplated, and the common practice prerequisite that the alleged wrongdoer must overtly acknowledge responsibility is challenged. Finally, the possibility for transformation through restorative justice processes is considered. The subsequent chapters will build upon this consideration of restorative justice theory and practice to explore the practical application of these issues to police complaints processes generally and to the Halifax Regional Police specifically.

Towards an Aim of Social Equality: Objectives and Outcomes

Because social equality is an aim of restorative justice,¹⁸⁷ it becomes an orienting goal for the entire process. The objectives and outcomes of restorative justice processes, then, are directed towards this broader aim. The plan for restoration, as articulated in the agreement, and the role of punishment, are two significant considerations in a process aimed at social equality.

Social Equality

The intent of the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is to establish balance or equality between the community, victim and the wrongdoer. This approach is strongly reflective of restorative justice theory. As Chapter 1 has observed, Llewellyn and Howse

¹⁸⁷ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 39.

suggest that an aim of restorative justice is to achieve "social equality." They explain this idea: "Social equality...means equality in relationship. Social equality exists when relationships are such that each party has their rights to dignity, equal concern and respect satisfied. Restorative justice aims to restore relations to this goal. As such, restorative justice is inherently relational." They suggest that "human selves are inherently relational [and]... interdependent." It is their contention that justice modeled upon relational approaches "would be concerned about creating or protecting human relationship. In other words, justice must take connection as its goal over alienation and separation."

Llewellyn and Howse note that relational conceptions of justice have strong roots in feminist theory. Feminist relational theory recognizes the inherently relational aspects of human experience, challenging liberal notions of autonomy. For example, Robin West has argued, "Women are not essentially, necessarily, inevitably, invariably, always,

¹⁸⁸ *Ibid.* at 39.

¹⁸⁹ *Ibid.* at 39.

¹⁹⁰ *Ibid.* at 39.

¹⁹¹ *Ibid.* at 40.

¹⁹² *Ibid.* at 39.

¹⁹³ Iris Marion Young has considered relational implications for social policy as it pertains to dependency. She has noted, "An important contribution of feminist moral theory has been to question the deeply held assumption that moral agency and full citizenship require that a person be autonomous and independent. Feminists have exposed this assumption as inappropriately individualistic and derived from a specifically male experience of social relations, which values competition and solitary achievement... Female experience of social relations, arising both from women's typical domestic care responsibilities and from the kinds of paid work that many women do, tends to recognize dependence as a basic human condition...Whereas on the autonomy model a just society would as much as possible give people the opportunity to be independent, the feminist model envisions justice as according respect and participation in decisionmaking to those who are dependent as well as to those who are independent." Iris Marion Young, *Justice and the Politics of Difference* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990) at 55.

and forever separate from other human beings."¹⁹⁴ Christine Koggel has expanded this notion, offering a comprehensive survey of relational theory as it pertains to equality. She provides,

By taking the sociality and interdependence of human beings as the starting point for theorizing about conditions for treating people with equal concern and respect, relational theory challenges traditional liberal conceptions of personhood and of what is needed to achieve equality...a relational approach to equality asks what moral persons embedded and interacting in relationships of interdependency need to flourish and develop.¹⁹⁵

Restorative justice accommodates and nurtures this interdependence, inviting deeper examination of relational aspects of wrongdoing and of its harms and response. Insofar as parties are brought closer toward an aim of social equality, restorative justice can be fundamentally transformative of relationships.

Alternative to punishment

With social equality as an aim of restorative justice, punishment as a goal is not tenable. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program reflects a non-punitive approach to justice. This is explicitly recognized through an assertion that punishment does not draw parties toward social equality but rather, deters wrongdoers from engaging in restoring the harm caused by their wrongdoing. The program materials explain this position:

¹⁹⁵ Christine M. Koggel, *Perspectives on Equality: Creating a Relational Theory* (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 1998) at xi.

¹⁹⁴ Robin West, "Jurisprudence and Gender", 55 University of Chicago Law Review at 1 at 2.

¹⁹⁶ Bruce Archibald has identified that while the Canadian criminal justice system incorporates punitive elements among others, punishment is not a goal, and in articulating the sentencing principles at section 718, the *Criminal Code* outlines its multiple objectives. See Bruce P. Archibald, "Coordinating Canada's Restorative and Inclusionary Models of Criminal Justice: The Legal Profession and the Exercise of Discretion under a Reflexive Rule of Law" (2005) 9 Canadian Criminal Law Review 216.

In the conventional criminal justice system, offenders usually focus on avoiding punishment. The general fixation on punishment as the principal tool for correcting behaviour drives offender responsibility underground... It is socially more valuable to have offenders acknowledge the harm their actions have caused and right their wrong. ¹⁹⁷

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program appropriately implements restorative justice theory insofar as it acknowledges that punishment is associated with stigma and blame, ¹⁹⁸ whereas responses through restorative justice can enable forward-looking problem-solving initiatives while ensuring the wrongdoer's dignity is preserved. ¹⁹⁹ The plan for implementation, or the "agreement," ²⁰⁰ is not predetermined because the measures needed to redress wrongdoing and preserve the wrongdoer's dignity will be different in every case. The focus, in the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, on reparation of harm, goes beyond the incident, encompassing reintegration of the wrongdoer into the community. The conception of restorative justice underlying the program promulgated by the province provides, "the long-term protection of the public mandates a focus on the methods of problem solving that include the reintegration of the

¹⁹⁷ Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33. See also online: <www.gov.ns.ca/just/rj/rj-background.htm>.

The deterrent value of punishment, a frequently cited reason for punitive responses, is questionable. A meta-analysis was recently conducted to explore the value of punishment in reducing recidivism. The study concludes that, while one would expect research to establish that punishments of increasing severity are directly related to a reduction in recidivism – cited as a "punishment suppression effect," this is not the case. Paula Smith, Claire Goggin, Paul Gendreau, *The Effects of Prison Sentences and Intermediate Sanctions on Recidivism: General Effects and Individual Differences* (2002: Public Works and Government Services Canada). This report reveals, at p. 2, its results: "A series of quantitative literature syntheses have recently summarized the results from such studies...which clearly did not favor a punishment hypothesis. Whether the studies involved comparisons of [different types of sanctions,] the results indicated more punishment was associated with either slight increases in recidivism...or no effect....".

¹⁹⁹ Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33.

²⁰⁰ Liewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 42.

offender into the community and the preservation of his/her dignity."²⁰¹ Other assertions illustrate how social equality is an aim:

The [restorative justice] meeting concludes with an agreement outlining how the offender will make reparation. Reparation can include monetary payment, service to the victim, community service or any other outcome agreed upon in the process. Terms of the agreement can be personalized to take into consideration the individual circumstances of the offender.²⁰²

The program offers further examples of the broad possibilities in restoring relationships, suggesting that these "may include for example: community service work; restitution; personal service to the victim; specialized education programs, such as life skills; referral for counseling/treatment; [a] letter of apology; essay; or any other outcome agreed upon in the process." These statements acknowledge the fact that restoration will require different responses in different contexts.

Restorative justice facilitates and encourages a broad range of plans for restoration, acknowledging that restoration will demand differing responses in each unique context. This means that restoration is driven by the actual harm caused by the wrongdoing. Unlike abstract and punitive responses that separate the wrongdoer from the harm caused by wrongdoing (and that inflict harm upon the wrongdoer without addressing the real harm experienced by the victim or others),²⁰⁴ restorative justice fosters outcomes that are both effective and attainable.²⁰⁵ Although the broad range of initiatives that could emerge from restorative justice processes may seem limitless, the process and

²⁰¹ Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33.

²⁰² Ibid.

²⁰³ *Ibid*.

²⁰⁴ Liewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 39.

Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Program Pre-charge / Post-charge Protocol* (17 May, 2000); revised through the latest draft: Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Program Protocol* (16 September 2005). Notably these are very broad. The program further outlines mechanisms, at p.19 of the 2005 protocol, for supervision and completion of the agreement.

that restorative practices "must...not involve punishment,"²⁰⁶ because punishment causes further harm and inequality precluding restoration. They explain, "[p]unishment is inherently isolating as it is by definition *imposed* on the individual. Punishment removes the wrongdoer from the relationship thereby precluding relationship altogether, let alone equality in relationship."²⁰⁷ Punishment does not lead to an end of social equality but rather further detracts from that goal. Lode Walgrave has suggested that outcomes of restorative justice should be "socially constructive [which can]... contribute reasonably to the repair of the harm, suffering and social unrest caused by the crime."²⁰⁸

Some approaches to restorative justice consider punishment an appropriate goal.²⁰⁹ Gerry Johnstone, for example, claims that pain is imposed through restorative justice and thus restorative justice is a different mechanism for meting out punishment.²¹⁰ Indeed, some poor practices of restorative justice – which do not pay adequate attention to the theory of restorative justice generally, and specifically to the fact that it requires that rights are protected – take punishment as an aim. Declan Roche has identified and criticized some specific restorative justice practices that he suggests are punitive in nature. He says, "For all its promise of promoting healing and harmony, restorative justice can deliver a justice as cruel and vengeful as any."²¹¹ Roche expands upon his concerns:

Notwithstanding the humane ideals of restorative justice, the unpalatable but inescapable fact is that restorative justice programmes are embedded in a

²⁰⁶ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 73.

²⁰⁷ *Ibid.* at 37.

²⁰⁸ Lode Walgrave, in Morris and Maxwell *supra* note 9 at 28.

²⁰⁹ Gerry Johnstone, *Restorative Justice: Ideas, Values, Debates* (Portland: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 114.

²¹⁰ Johnstone, *Ibid.*

²¹¹ Declan Roche, *Accountability in Restorative Justice* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003) at 1.

contemporary cultural and political context where punitive and exclusionary punishment is dominant. One pertinent manifestation of this dominance is the widespread resurgence of shaming penalties. The precise form of these penalties varies...but the basic goal is the same: to subject an offender to extreme shame and humiliation. Though such penalties are grossly offensive to the overwhelming majority of restorative justice practitioners, to many citizens, they are not. ²¹²

This is a danger inherent in any informal process, and, as noted elsewhere in this thesis, restorative justice processes must take precautions in order to ensure that rights are protected. As Roche observes, however, most restorative justice practitioners do not subscribe to punitive and humiliating approaches.²¹³ These reflect poor practice rather than appropriate implementation of restorative justice theory.

It is important to distinguish punishment from burdens that may emerge from restorative justice processes as part of the agreement. As noted earlier, a plan for subsequent action²¹⁴ that is agreed upon during the encounter may entail any range of actions aimed at restoration. For example, an apology, restitution, or skills/sensitivity training are some outcomes that may result from a restorative justice experience. Lode Walgrave acknowledges that participating in restorative justice processes, and following through with agreements that are made in such processes, can be unpleasant. He resists, however, classifying this unpleasantness as punishment.²¹⁵ Walgrave suggests that punishment theory has required four features in punitive action: "coerciveness, the hard treatment inflicted, the intention to cause suffering, and the link between the infliction of pain and the wrong committed."²¹⁶ He claims that any suffering resulting from restorative

²¹² *Ibid.* at 18.

²¹³ *Ibid.* at 1.

²¹⁴ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6, refer to this as a "plan for the future".

²¹⁵ Lode Walgrave, in Morris and Maxwell *supra* note 9 at 19.

²¹⁶ *Ibid*.

justice "is only a possible side-effect of the restorative action."²¹⁷ Because suffering is not an objective of restorative justice, ²¹⁸ the four criteria identified above are not met and thus he concludes that restorative justice is not punishment.

Given the aim, in restorative justice, of social equality, punishment is not a supportable goal. It is true that the agreement emerging from restorative justice practice may include a burden which is unpleasant. The goal, however, is restoration rather than punishment, ²¹⁹ and this differs greatly from punishment as an objective or outcome.

Administration of Restorative Justice Practice

It is important to consider frameworks for administration of restorative justice practice in order to assess which models might best be able to guide practice towards the aim of social equality. In Nova Scotia, the restorative justice program design reflects the intent to carve out a collaborative partnership between the state and communities. Coordinated through the provincial Department of Justice, Court Services Division, the program is delivered across the province by locally-based agencies. These community agencies are tasked with implementing restorative justice in context-specific ways, each with discretion to modify its practice to "meet the unique complexities of the community in which they serve." Each locally-based agency contributes its unique expertise in order to deliver a program that is appropriate for

²¹⁷ Ibid. at 23.

²¹⁸ It should be noted that suffering may be an effect or result, which some may argue limits retributivism but does not eliminate it entirely.

²¹⁹ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 55.

This service is delivered in Nova Scotia primarily through community justice agencies. For a description of this arrangement, see *supra* note 186. See also *Restorative Justice Framework*, *supra* note 33.

that community. ²²² The Nova Scotia restorative justice program structure enables context-responsive practice while ensuring some basic consistency across the province. The program encompasses three restorative justice models including "Victim-Offender Conferences", "Restorative Conferences" and "Sentencing Circles. ²²³ These different options are explained in the program's description, which provides that restorative justice "can come in many forms, depending on the circumstances of the case, the point in the system at which a restorative option is invoked, and the traditions and preferences of the communities that adopt restorative alternatives. ²²⁴ Because these generic models are adapted by each agency to meet their unique contexts, the exact role of the community representatives internal to the process may vary. Upon receiving a referral, the agency will approach all parties involved (victim, wrongdoer and communities) and determine the model best suited to the situation and the context.

The Nova Scotia government is in many ways a facilitator for the program in terms of funding, establishing a legal framework, garnering interest and support for restorative justice, promulgating standards and monitoring compliance.²²⁵ The program promotes the idea that the provincial government is appropriately situated to empower, enrich and standardize practice:

...the role of Government in this Initiative should be that of facilitator, or overseer. Government should not become the de facto deliverer of restorative justice programs. Individual communities should be empowered to shape these programs and to deliver the service of restorative justice...Although Government has a leadership role to play in areas such as establishing a legal framework for the programs, enabling community-based

²²⁵ Ibid.

²²² This model actually predates the restorative justice program, as agencies had developed expertise through historical involvement in its precursor, "alternative measures." See *Restorative Justice Framework*, *supra* note 33.

²²³ Restorative Justice Program Pre-charge / Post-charge Protocol, supra note 205.

Restorative Justice: A Program for Nova Scotia, *supra* note 186.

programs, initiating interest, setting standards, and monitoring progress, Government cannot create and run restorative justice programs in every community. The overwhelming consensus is that community ownership is essential to a successful restorative justice program.²²⁶

Much of the theory of restorative justice contemplates a community-based approach and some writers go so far as to reject outright or narrowly define allowable parameters of state involvement. Practice, however, tells a different story, with programs being run by a wide assortment of entities ranging from government to arms-length justice agencies to communities. Programs often receive referrals from the state, and are in many instances, funded by the state; indeed, much of restorative justice practice responds primarily to wrongdoing deemed, by the state, to be criminal thus entailing some state involvement throughout.

The role of the state in restorative justice is an important conceptual consideration; in fact, much of the early literature on restorative justice advocates this new paradigm as a means to circumvent state involvement in wrongdoing. This movement was catalyzed, in part, by Nils Christie who asserted that state responses to wrongdoing effectively "steal" conflicts from the parties most affected.²³¹ In describing his notion

²²⁶ *Ibid.* at 6.

See, for example, Gordon Bazemore and Colleen McLeod, "Restorative justice and the future of diversion and informal social control" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 148.

²²⁸ *Ibid.* See also generally Gordon Bazemore and Mara Schiff (eds.), *Restorative Community Justice* (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001).

The Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, contemplates a number of referral points from within the criminal justice system.

230 In Nova Scotia, restorative justice is an integral component of the provincial

²³⁰ In Nova Scotia, restorative justice is an integral component of the provincial Department of Justice.

²³¹ Nils Christie, "Conflict as Property" (1977) 17:1 British Journal of Criminology at 1.

of "conflicts as property,"²³² he suggests, "conflicts have been taken away from the parties directly involved and thereby have either disappeared or become other people's property."²³³ Restorative justice envisions a fundamentally different role for parties in conflict than that allowed under many criminal justice systems, and returns ownership of conflict back to affected parties.²³⁴ The practice of restorative justice is proliferating worldwide, and although the format varies, it is rooted in an aim to allow those most affected by wrongdoing to participate in restoration.²³⁵ This reflects, in large part, rejection of state appropriation of conflict or, more fittingly in this context, state appropriation of wrongdoing. This does not necessarily preclude any *involvement* of the state.

It is important that programs are appropriately reflective of (and responsive to) the unique context of each individual community. Because restorative justice is contextual in nature, communities must participate in the design and guidance of restorative justice practice so that it reflects and represents the affected communities. Only the parties and the communities impacted by the wrongdoing have a true sense of what is required

²³² *Ibid.* at 1.

²³³ Ibid.

²³⁴ See, for example, Anne Hayden and Peter Henderson, "Victims: the Invisible People" in Jim Consedine and Helen Bowen (eds.), *Restorative Justice: Contemporary Themes and Practice*, (Lyttleton: Ploughshares Publications, 1999). See also, Kay Pranis, "Restorative Justice, Social Justice and the Empowerment of Marginalized Populations" in Gordon Bazemore and Mara Schiff (eds.), *Restorative Community Justice* (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001) at 287.

John Braithwaite, "The Fall and Rise of Restorative Justice" in *Restorative Justice and Responsive Regulation* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002) at 3. He notes, at p. 10, that "In New Zealand and Australia, the evidence is surprising on how supportive of restorative justice can be the police, the traditional ally of law-and-order politicians...At the same time, in both New Zealand and Canada, judicial leadership has been at the vanguard of restorative justice reform."

²³⁶ See, for example, Adam Crawford and Todd R. Clear, "Community Justice: Transforming Communities Through Restorative Justice?" in Gordon Bazemore & Mara Schiff, *Restorative Community Justice: Repairing Harm & Transforming Communities* (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing Co., 2001).

for restoration. Restorative justice offers an opportunity, and a forum, for communities to determine for themselves what is the most appropriate way to respond to wrongdoing. This is a notably widespread approach to restorative justice, ²³⁷ deriving in large part from its roots in informal justice movements which articulated commitments to reclaiming ownership of justice-oriented processes from the state. ²³⁸ Interestingly, restorative justice processes have, in many instances, been adopted and drawn out by the state to form a component of, or alternative to, traditionally state-run criminal justice systems. Because restorative justice has emerged from informal justice movements which, as noted above, aimed to "reclaim" ownership of conflict from the state, some argue against state involvement at all. ²³⁹

In the context of security in weak or corrupt states, Clifford Shearing and Jennifer Wood have critiqued a "state-centred view of the governance of security,"²⁴⁰ arguing instead that a focus on local capacities, which they term, "nodal governance", can be used to deepen democracy by enhancing political participation by marginalized communities in particular.²⁴¹ They describe the Zwelethemba model of peace communities which they say are "made up of local persons, to whom local community members bring interpersonal disputes."²⁴² This reflects a response that is facilitated not by the state, but by those most affected by the circumstances. Restorative justice has a similar approach

²³⁷ Braithwaite, *supra* note 235 at 3.

²³⁹ For examples, see generally Braithwaite, *supra* note 235.

²³⁸ Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *supra* note 115.

²⁴⁰ Clifford Shearing and Jennifer Wood, "Nodal Governance, Democracy, and the New 'Denizens'" (2003) 30:3 Journal of Law and Society 400 at 402.
²⁴¹ *Ibid.* at 416.

²⁴² *Ibid.* They state, at p. 416, that this model "seeks to shift both the steering and rowing of central governmental functions (such as child care, waste disposal, and health) to local persons through a market-like system of service delivery that channels tax resources to local people for future-focused solutions to governmental issues on an outcome-oriented basis."

insofar as it can enable those impacted by wrongdoing to contribute to the administration of a response.

As this discussion has shown, some conceptions of restorative justice, on a theoretical level, shun the involvement of the state. Concerns related to state involvement include suspicion that restorative justice could be used, by the state, to "widen the nets of social control," or to formalize the process (thus undermining the very nature of restorative justice which is premised on an informal discursive environment). John Braithwaite has based his approach to restorative justice in republicanism which, as noted by Jürgen Habermas, prioritizes "the public autonomy of citizens." Restorative justice offers the opportunity for deliberative consensus, and republican conceptions could not favor state administration or interference. Together with Philip Pettit, Braithwaite has advocated the "promotion of dominion," suggesting that, in the context of criminal justice, the prevention of interference with dominion should be a primary goal. This conception would require restorative justice to be administered with a focus on public autonomy of

²⁴³

²⁴³ Bazemore and McLeod, *supra* note 227 at 148. This term has also been used by Ira M. Schwartz and Laura Preisser in "Diversion and Juvenile Justice: Can We Ever Get it Right?" in Heinz Messmer and Hans-Uwe Otto, *Restorative Justice on Trial: Pitfalls and Potentials of Victim-Offender Mediation – International Research Perspectives,* (Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1992). Similarly, George Pavlich has observed that "community justice advocates harbour a deep mistrust of the coercive controls used by the modern welfare state and its tenticular bureaucracies." See George Pavlich, "The Force of Community" in Heather Strang & John Braithwaite, eds., *Restorative Justice and Civil Society* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001 at 57.

²⁴⁵ Jürgen Habermas, "On the internal relationship between the rule of law and democracy" in Ciaran Cronin and Pablo De Greif, *The Inclusion of the Other: Studies in Political Theory* (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1998) 253 at 258.

²⁴⁶ John Braithwaite and Philip Pettit, *Not Just Deserts: A Republican Theory of Criminal Justice* (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1990) at 80. They define dominion, at p. 85, as "the social status you perfectly enjoy when you have no less a prospect of liberty than anyone else in your society and when it is common knowledge among you and others that this is so."

²⁴⁷ Braithwaite and Pettit suggest that "the state should actively search for alternative ways of promoting dominion to such interventionist policies as criminal punishment." *Ibid.* at 80.

individuals,²⁴⁸ which is more akin to a community-based process rather than one that is run by the state.

A process that is entirely community-based might respond to some of the concerns noted above, but it raises particular challenges. First, the question of funding becomes an issue. Absent government funding, restorative justice programming would be difficult to ensure. George Pavlich has suggested that some critique of restorative justice is rooted in a fear that it may simply be a way for the state to scale back funding, in keeping with various contemporary forms of privatization of services in welfare states.²⁴⁹ The downloading of responsibility for matters traditionally administered by government becomes particularly worrisome when grassroots infrastructures do not have the capacity to assume such responsibility. The state is uniquely situated to empower restorative justice by providing necessary funding and additional supports for aspects internal to programming such as coordination and training. Further, the state can ensure that support services are adequate and accessible (e.g., residential care, addiction treatment, etc.) to respond to underlying issues and/or those that may arise during the course of the process. Absent state participation in terms of fiscal and substantive support, it becomes difficult to ensure that programs are able to be appropriately developed.

Braithwaite has, however, noted the importance of human rights protections in restorative justice. See for example, Braithwaite, *supra* note 235 at 13.
 George Pavlich, "The Force of Community" in Heather Strang & John Braithwaite,

eds., Restorative Justice and Civil Society Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001 at 56.

Protecting Rights

The other area where state involvement becomes significant for restorative justice relates to the protection of rights throughout the process.²⁵⁰ Governments have various obligations to establish basic rights protections for their citizens under domestic constitutional and legislative frameworks and under international law. There is a strong tradition in Canada in ensuring the protection of rights through the Constitution as well as federal and provincial legislation. ²⁵¹ Further, Canada has adopted various international human rights obligations through ratification of human rights treaties.252

Although existing legal obligations relating to rights protections have been developed in a legal context that is fundamentally different from the lens offered by restorative justice, it is imperative that the concerns which have led to formal articulation of rights are addressed in practice. These concerns have been contemplated by restorative justice theorists. For example, there have been calls for greater involvement of the state in restorative justice processes out of concern that the informal nature of restorative justice allows practice that falls outside the realm of formal procedural safeguards such that constitutionally protected rights may be disregarded.²⁵³ Informal processes raise the danger of power imbalances and the

²⁵⁰ Christian Eliaerts & Els Dumortier, "Restorative justice for children: in need of procedural safeguards and standards" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 220.

²⁵¹ Human rights legislation is not restricted to state action and thus restorative justice practice absent state funding, actors, etc., is conceivably covered by human rights laws. For example, the Nova Scotia Human Rights Act, supra note 1, prohibits discrimination in a wide range of public interactions including work and volunteer arrangements, etc. See s. 5 of the *Act*.

252 Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *supra* note 115 at 166.

²⁵³ Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *ibid.* at 168, have elaborated how process rights are scrutinized vis a vis restorative justice, and responded to those concerns.

formal protections devised by the state are mechanisms to redress such imbalances.²⁵⁴ State-run criminal justice systems, for example, make promises of impartiality, consistency, and protection of rights in their carriage of justice.²⁵⁵ Whether they do this successfully is the source of widespread debate;²⁵⁶ however, mechanisms aimed at redressing such imbalances have great importance in the justice and legal systems generally, and therefore cannot be ignored.²⁵⁷ Further, with an aim of social equality, restorative justice demands that such imbalances are redressed.

In fact, rights protections are essential to the appropriate implementation of restorative justice theory. As noted earlier, restorative justice has an aim of social equality. Rights violations are a form of power imbalance that detract from this aim and thus any practice that allows or enables abuses to take place cannot draw parties towards the aim of restorative justice. Because restorative justice does not have the same degree of formality and oversight as the traditional legal system, some concern has been raised that rights cannot be adequately protected in restorative justice practice. These concerns highlight the importance of

²⁵⁵ For a discussion of this in Nova Scotia, see *Restorative Justice Framework*, *supra* note 33.

This point is discussed in detail by Bruce P. Archibald. See *supra* note 196.

258 A lack of protections can result in poor practice of restorative justice which enables discrimination and other rights violations to take place. Roche, *supra* note 211, criticizes practice that does not ensure appropriate safeguards.

²⁵⁴ It should be noted that power imbalances are necessarily addressed through restorative justice processes because the aim of social equality cannot be pursued in the context of imbalance.

²⁵⁶ For some discussion of this debate in Nova Scotia, see Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Wednesday April 23, 2003, Halifax. Online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/legislature/hansard/comm/pa/pa_2003apr23.htm.

Chris Cunneen, "Restorative justice and the politics of decolonisation" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 38. Cunneen has identified, as a source of imbalance, the very access to restorative justice in a criminal context: "justice systems

safeguarding rights in the practice of restorative justice. The practice of restorative justice must ensure that rights protections are central.

Daniel Van Ness and Karen Heetderks-Strong have discussed at length the ambit of applicable rights protections to which the practice of restorative justice must be oriented. They are writing from within an American context; however, the principles they articulate are widely applicable to Canada as well. The collection of rights which they feel are most likely to be pertinent in restorative justice processes are identified as "due process" which they cite as including equal protection of the law;²⁶⁰ protection from torture and cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment or punishment;²⁶¹ the right to be presumed innocent;²⁶² and the right to counsel.²⁶³ These rights are widely acknowledged in modern constitutional frameworks and reflect international law. It is useful to note that while the protection of rights is often considered to apply exclusively to wrongdoers — and in particular, wrongdoers interacting with criminal justice systems — the relevance of rights protections to all parties (including victims and the communities involved) in

may bifurcate along boundaries whereby the most marginalized get more punitive outcomes...so restorative justice practices legitimize existing inequalities."

²⁶⁰ Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *supra* note 115 at 169. In Canada, equality before and under the law is entrenched in section 15 of the *Charter*, *supra* note 70, which provides, "Every individual is equal before and under the law and has the right to the equal protection and equal benefit of the law without discrimination and, in particular, without discrimination based on race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, sex, age or mental or physical disability."

²⁶¹ Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *ibid.* at 170. In Canada, this is entrenched in section 12 of the *Charter, supra* note 70, which provides, "Everyone has the right not to be subjected to any cruel and unusual treatment or punishment."

Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *ibid.* at 171. In Canada, this is entrenched in section 11(d) of the *Charter*, *supra* note 70, which provides, "Any person charged with an offence has the right... d) to be presumed innocent until proven guilty according to law in a fair and public hearing by an independent and impartial tribunal."

Van Ness and Heetderks Strong, *ibid.* at 172. Lawyers should not represent parties in restorative justice as this would undermine its deliberative foundations, but there may be an important role for counsel in ensuring informed consent. In Canada, this is entrenched in section 10(b) of the *Charter*, *supra* note 70, which provides, "Everyone has the right on arrest or detention ... b) to retain and instruct counsel without delay and to be informed of that right..."

restorative justice processes is enhanced.²⁶⁴ This is because of their direct involvement in the process. Protections in Canada are found under the Charter as well as human rights frameworks offered through federal and provincial human rights legislation.

Rights protections have been explicitly safeguarded for restorative justice practice in Canada generally. The Criminal Code provides parameters for the availability of such measures (e.g., when not inconsistent with the protection of society and the person has been advised of their right to counsel)²⁶⁵ and further articulates the implications of participating in alternative measures vis-à-vis interaction with the traditional criminal justice system, providing that, while participating in restorative justice does not in itself bar proceedings against him or her, the court shall dismiss the charges if they have completely complied with the agreement, and has the discretion to dismiss the charges if the person has partially complied. 266 Similar protections are outlined in the Youth Criminal Justice Act. 267

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program has devised some interesting mechanisms to enhance rights protections which impact both access to, and the structure of, restorative justice processes. The protocol for the Nova Scotia restorative justice program articulates commitments to reintegration, authorizing a compromise to be negotiated, and providing for supervision of the agreements.²⁶⁸ The program has been designed by the province to ensure that offences considered to be more serious receive an increasing degree of scrutiny by the formal criminal justice system. There are four

²⁶⁴ Kent Roach, Due Process and Victims' Rights: The New Law and Politics of Criminal Justice, Toronto: University of Toronto Press: 1999) at 305.
²⁶⁵ Criminal Code, supra note 121, s. 717 (1)

²⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, s. 717 (4)

²⁶⁷ Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, s. 10(5)

²⁶⁸ See 2005 Protocol, *supra* note 205 at 11-13 and 14-18.

"entry points" – the police, the Crown prosecutor, the court, and corrections -- at which a matter may be referred to restorative justice. In practice, this means that offences considered by the province to be more serious can only be considered in a restorative justice process following varying degrees of engagement with the formal system.

In order to match the nature of the offence with the level at which the matter could be referred to restorative justice, offences have been categorized into four levels. Level One offences, which include provincial statute offences, minor property offences, disorderly conduct offences (i.e. loitering, vagrancy), assaults not resulting in bodily harm, and mischief are considered to be at the lowest level of seriousness. Level Two offences encompass all other offences under the *Criminal Code* except those determined to be Level Three and Level Four offences. Level Three offences are more serious forms of wrongdoing, including fraud and more major theft-related offences, robbery, summary sexual offences aggravated assault, kidnapping, abduction and confinement, criminal negligence/dangerous driving causing death, manslaughter, spousal/partner violence offences, and impaired driving and related offences. Finally, Level Four offences include murder and sexual offences proceeded with by indictment.

²⁶⁹ Provincial statute offences, minor property offences, disorderly conduct offences (i.e. loitering, vagrancy), assaults not resulting in bodily harm, and mischief. See Restorative Justice Framework, *supra* note 33.

²⁷⁰ See Restorative Justice Framework, *supra* note 33. Fraud and more major theft-related offences, robbery, summary sexual offences, aggravated assault, kidnapping, abduction and confinement, criminal negligence/dangerous driving causing death, manslaughter, spousal/partner violence offences, impaired driving and related offences.
²⁷¹ *Ibid.* There is also a restriction on applicability relating to motor vehicle offences.
See An Act to Amend Chapter 38 of the Acts of 2001, the Youth Justice Act, and Chapter 293 of the Revised Statutes, 1989, of the Motor Vehicle Act, S.N.S. 2005, c-32.

The level at which a wrongdoer may be referred initially to restorative justice is determined by the level of offence. A pre-charge referral may be made by the police for Level One and Level Two offences. A post-charge, pre-conviction referral may be made by the Crown for Level One and Level Two offences. A post-conviction, pre-sentence referral may be made by a court for Level One, Two and Three offences. A post-sentence referral may be made by corrections for all four levels. As an exception to the categories noted above, there is presently a moratorium on restorative justice for sexual offences and partner/spousal violence in keeping with a debate on this issue across the country. Offences of this nature can only be referred at court and corrections levels, out of concerns for potential power imbalances that relate to these types of offences and further, to respond to the status and stigma that are attached to the offence and conviction. This continuum offers an increasing degree of scrutiny with a similar increasingly serious offence, which ostensibly aim to respond to public safety concerns. These structures allow for increasing interaction with the formal criminal justice system with its associated formal mechanisms aimed at protecting rights. The serior increasing interaction in the protecting rights.

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program offers an administration model that best enables appropriate implementation of restorative justice theory. Some central administration can empower programming through provision of funding, training and basic policy frameworks. The state is also appropriately situated to establish and enforce rights protection mechanisms. Restorative justice theory acknowledges the importance of rights protections and this necessarily impacts the role of the state in

²⁷² Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33. See also Pamela Rubin, primary author working in association with the Management Committee of restorative justice in Nova Scotia Restorative Justice in Nova Scotia: *Women's Experience and recommendations for positive policy development and implementation: Report and Recommendations*, March 2003.

²⁷³ Charter, supra note 70.

its implementation to practice. The state can respond to the potential for power imbalances to be reflected in restorative justice practice. Llewellyn and Howse have observed some sources of power imbalance: "Power imbalances can exist for different reasons. They might exist owing to the nature of a previous relationship between the parties (i.e.: abusive spouse) or different social status (i.e.: wealth, age, sex, race)."274 Rights protections are one means of protecting against the effects of power imbalances and thus rights violations must be safeguarded against to the extent possible.

There are important roles for the state in restorative justice practice (i.e., relating to the administration of practice and protection of rights) and community is essential in ensuring processes are appropriately context-responsive. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program has balanced these elements through a program model that is empowered by the provincial government and delivered by and within local communities.

Community Contributions

Community Involvement

One of the stated objectives of the Nova Scotia restorative justice initiative is to "strengthen communities." Restorative justice practice in Nova Scotia is administered by community-based agencies. These agencies, which are backed by volunteers from the community, play an important role in drawing community

²⁷⁴ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 65. ²⁷⁵ *Restorative Justice: A Program for Nova Scotia, supra* note 186.

members into the practice of restorative justice, fostering a climate of acceptance of restorative justice processes, and securing follow-up supports.²⁷⁶

There has been some research in Nova Scotia into the ways that community members ensure restorative justice processes are context-responsive. As part of an evaluation of the program, the research has considered the ways that community members engage with restorative justice processes. The results suggest that community members may take broader contextual approaches to wrongdoing than those of people working within the criminal justice system, and may recognize broader barriers and implications relating to interaction of infrastructures: "[a]s a group [a number of surveyed community leaders] were much more likely than the [interviewees working within the criminal justice system] to explicitly refer to the need to deal with underlying social factors such as poor parenting, poverty and cultural patterns."

The restorative justice agencies are expected to draw communities into the process. There are multiple communities that may be impacted by wrongdoing and the definition of "community" varies from context to context. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program explicitly acknowledges that communities are not necessarily determined by geographic boundaries, providing, "…communities are not limited to the residents in a particular neighbourhood, but includes the merchants, workers, visitors and friends." As such, one component of the agencies' work is to identify

276 Ibid

²⁷⁷ Don Clairmont, *The Nova Scotia Restorative Justice Initiative:* Year One Evaluation Report (Bedford: Pilot Research, 2001).

²⁷⁸ Year One Evaluation Ibid. at xiii.

²⁷⁹ The Nova Scotia restorative justice program discusses the role of the community, online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/just/Divisions/CourtServ/rj/community.asp.

and locate representatives from the various communities that are pertinent to a restorative justice process. The degree to which this liaising role is successful is currently being researched.²⁸⁰ The fact that various communities need to be served by -- and involved in -- restorative justice processes presents some challenges for delivery agencies, as some communities have been more successfully drawn into restorative justice processes than others.²⁸¹

In examining the extent to which public confidence and strengthening of communities has been enhanced through the restorative justice program, Don Clairmont observes the range of community liaising:

[s]ome agencies have made strong efforts to involve the community more and to communicate the results of their [restorative justice] programming [than under the former "alternative measures" model]. Other efforts to liaise with various subgroups (e.g. Afro-Nova Scotian communities) have been noted above. There has clearly been ... more extensive collaboration in most areas with community groups and also much use of church and school facilities for [restorative justice] conferences.²⁸²

In recent years, the program has received funding for "the challenge of more effective partnership with Afro-Canadian communities in order to improve [a restorative] response to the disproportionately high number of young black offenders."

These points reinforce the notion that those from within particular communities are more sensitive to the issues raised by specific instances of wrongdoing and correspondingly,

²⁸⁰ Clairmont, *supra* note 277. Further, funding though the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Counsel has recently been granted to Dalhousie Law School for a comprehensive study into the Nova Scotia restorative justice program.

²⁸¹ *Ibid.* at xv.

²⁸² *Ibid.*

²⁸³ Don Clairmont, "Restorative Justice in Nova Scotia", November 2005, online: http://www.restorativejustice.org/editions/2005/nov05/novascotia.

these individuals can contribute to more context-responsive processes which impact the degree to which restoration aims may be met. This is supported by restorative justice theory which broadly acknowledges that community is both essential and complex in restorative justice practice. Llewellyn and Howse have asserted, "For restorative justice, community is both subject and object; restorative justice is realized in community and, at the same time, is transformative of that very community." Restorative justice theory recognizes that communities are negatively impacted by wrongdoing, and further, the involvement of community is necessary in order for restoration to occur. Restorative justice processes require the involvement of community as well as that of the victim and wrongdoer. Lode Walgrave has suggested that "[t]he role of community is...very often not defined precisely and community as an extension [of the victim and offender], as a tool [to provide context], as a stakeholder, and as a goal [to create community through process] are mixed up without distinction."

As the previous pages have shown, the practice of restorative justice should vary depending on its context in order to capture the particular set of relationships and harms at stake.²⁸⁷ The contextual nature of restorative justice recognizes this multi-faceted relationship communities have with wrongdoing and restorative responses. This means that involvement of community is integral to restorative justice processes. Although

²⁸⁴ Jennifer J. Llewellyn & Robert Howse, "Institutions for Restorative Justice: The South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission" (1999), 49 University of Toronto Law Journal 300 at 380

Journal 300 at 380.

285 Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 43.

²⁸⁶ Lode Walgrave, "From community to dominion: in search of social values for restorative justice" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 75.

Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 55. Tony F. Marshall has defined restorative justice as: "a problem-solving approach to crime which involves the parties themselves, and the community generally, in an active relationship with statutory agencies." He suggests that it is not any particular practice, but a set of *principles* which may orientate the general practice of any agency or group in relation to wrongdoing. "Restorative Justice: An Overview," online: http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs/occ-resjus.pdf.>

restorative justice recognizes that communities are harmed by wrongdoing²⁸⁸ and can play important roles in articulating this harm, they must be seen as more than simply additional "parties" in the process (i.e., they are victims). Indeed, communities may also share responsibility for the wrongdoing by having created a climate in which wrongdoing was encouraged, or by failing to provide preventative supports. Communities are uniquely able to frame the context in which wrongdoing has occurred so that deliberations are more comprehensive and outcomes are more appropriately responsive. They contribute to restoration by identifying, creating and offering supports to reintegrate the wrongdoer and victim, and prevent further wrongdoing by that individual and others by playing both supervisory and support roles.²⁸⁹ Finally, communities can be fundamentally transformed through restorative processes (e.g., by having an enhanced ability to prevent or respond to systemic issues). Because the substance of the contributions will differ by different communities, the exact format of restorative justice practice will necessarily differ. For this reason, taking into account contextual factors and the needs of other parties, practice details should be determined in and by each community.²⁹⁰ This is why communities are key to restorative justice programs and processes.

Although it is generally accepted that the involvement of community is imperative in restorative justice, many programs claiming to offer restorative justice processes do not provide for community involvement in those processes in meaningful ways. For example, "Victim-Offender Mediation" is often considered to be restorative justice, but it is generally described to involve only the victim, offender and a mediator. Under this

²⁸⁸ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 43.

²⁸⁹ Morris and Maxwell, *supra* note 9 at 273.

²⁹⁰ See generally Kay Pranis, "Restorative Justice, Social Justice and the Empowerment of Marginalized Populations" in Gordon Bazemore and Mara Schiff (eds.), Restorative Community Justice (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001) at 287.

model, the mediator is sometimes considered to be the "community representative." Further, the fact that a process is physically situated in a community may be touted as a sufficient connection to that community. These approaches, however, do not allow for meaningful contribution of the community toward a goal of restoration because the community is not able to share perspectives and is not able to engage with the process as a party.

In order for a restorative justice process to be context-responsive, the community should be involved. Nils Christie has commented on the importance of the community in dealing with conflict by describing a scenario in Tanzania in which the community represents "experts [on village matters;] on norms as well as actions." He adds that the process itself is used to clarify boundaries: "[the community] crystallized norms and clarified what had happened through participation in the procedure." These points acknowledge the specific expertise that communities can bring to processes aimed at resolving conflict, and might imply that a random gathering of associated individuals would be appropriate. This is not the case. The individuals included in a restorative justice process as community representatives should not simply be a conglomeration of local people who would reflect — and reinforce — existing inequities in society. It has been observed that communities "[may] shun diversity...[and] are often hostile to minorities, dissenters, and outsiders." Recalling the earlier discussion of power imbalances, these points illustrate the importance of rights protections as promulgated

²⁹¹ See generally Umbreit, *supra* note 27.

Mark Umbreit has worked extensively in the area of victim-offender mediation and regularly classifies this as restorative justice. See, for example, Gordon Bazemore and Mark Umbreit, "A Comparison of Four Restorative Conferencing Models by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention" in *Restorative Justice: Repairing Communities through Restorative Justice*, John G. Perry, Ed. (Lanham, MD: American Correctional Association, 2002) at 69. See also Umbreit, *supra* note 27.

²⁹³ Christie, *supra* note 231 at 2.

²⁹⁴ Crawford and Clear, *supra* note 236 at 136.

by the state, and prudent selection of the individuals who are included in restorative justice processes. Without careful attention to the composition of the participants in a restorative justice encounter, one writer notes, "restorative justice practice will be used to close, to limit and to exclude." Pavlich has recommended a deconstructive approach to community for restorative justice which, he claims, "refuses to privilege unifying discursive strategies." This, he suggests, retains respect for diversity by not focusing on a notion of community unity. The community in restorative justice practice should include individuals who are able to respect diversity and recognize dynamics that would detract from an aim of social equality, and address those dynamics when they are manifested in practice. The state, again, can play an important administration role, in establishing standards to ensure such dynamics are addressed.

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program appropriately reflects restorative justice theory insofar as it enables meaningful community involvement in the design and implementation of restorative justice processes. Although challenges have been identified in ensuring appropriate representation from specific communities, these challenges relate to practice implementation rather than program design. The community justice agency structure enables liaising to draw various communities into the process. Moreover, the processes themselves contemplate community involvement, ensuring a multifaceted and complex relationship between communities and restorative justice practice in Nova Scotia.

_

²⁹⁶ Paylich, supra note 249 at 63.

²⁹⁵ Cunneen, *supra* note 259 at 40.

²⁹⁷ Community members working in social justice or human rights fields, for example, may have enhanced skills in identifying such dynamics. It should be noted, however, that there should be other individuals as well, particularly those who may be transformed through the restorative justice process.

Confidentiality

The importance of community participation in restorative justice practice might imply that it is a public process in the sense that details of the process are widely disseminated. This is, however, not the case for the Nova Scotia restorative justice program which considers sessions to be confidential. The program's most recent protocol makes assertions about confidentiality protections, providing, "The facilitator shall inform those in attendance at the Restorative Justice Process, Accountability Session/Group Accountability Session that any and all information disclosed during the conference is considered confidential and shall not be discussed with, or relayed in any manner, to any other individual outside of the Restorative Justice conference."

Although this might imply that there are formal restrictions on the release of information relating to or emerging from a restorative justice session, the recourse upon breach of such an arrangement is unclear. There are some confidentiality frameworks imposed upon the present practice of restorative justice in Nova Scotia as it applies to youth, because the youth justice system is obliged, in most instances, to protect the privacy of the young persons.²⁹⁹ It is, however, unclear whether facilitators are entitled to offer such protections (i.e., whether there is a general legal basis for it outside the framework of youth justice legislation) and/or whether they should make such guarantees.

Restorative justice processes, in practice, take a broad range of approaches to confidentiality. Some are widely open to the public, whereas others are exclusive to the

²⁹⁸ Restorative Justice Protocol, supra note 205. See the version dated 16 September 2005 at p. 12. It is noted that this is subject to a "duty to report any information indicating that the young person is in need of protection" as defined in the *Children and Family Services Act*, S.N.S. 1990, c-5 at s. 23(1) and 24(2).

parties and are considered to be confidential.³⁰⁰ It appears that some restorative justice processes draw upon assumptions and approaches common to ADR practices, with participants being advised that the discussions are confidential.³⁰¹ Many ADR processes are considered confidential, and participants are advised of "ground rules" in this regard. Participants may be required to sign oaths of confidentiality; indeed, these processes are often promoted as being "without prejudice" so that any discussions emerging from the ADR process cannot be used in subsequent adversarial proceedings. Further, because of the interaction of many restorative justice programs with the criminal justice system, confidentiality assurances are made in an effort to secure "buy-in" to the process so that parties – perhaps most obviously, wrongdoers – feel confident that they will not be accountable in a separate process for information they share as part of a restorative justice process. Some programs have devised mechanisms to define which information may be considered privileged,³⁰² and some are explicit in advising participants of the limits of enforceability.³⁰³

The New Zealand Ministry of Justice has developed a manual on Best Practices for restorative justice. This document suggests that confidentiality is connected with the "emotional and physical safety" of the participants, noting that this includes protections for personal information. See New Zealand, Ministry of Justice, *Restorative Justice in New Zealand: Best Practice*, (Wellington: Ministry of Justice, 2004), at Part B, section 6. Online: http://www.justice.govt.nz/restorative-justice/partb.html>.

³⁰¹ Information on the RCMP restorative justice program is available online: http://www.rcmp.ca/ccaps/restjust_e.htm.

Mary Ellen Reimund has criticized, as insufficient, the various frameworks in the United States which have been designed in efforts to define parameters for information-sharing following informal practices. In the context of "victim-offender mediation," which she characterizes as a restorative justice process, she identifies the fact that protections differ from state to state. She notes, at p. 410, that in some states, for example, there are no protections if a participant expresses the intent to commit a crime, whereas there may be protections if one admits to other crimes that he or she has already committed. Further, she notes discrepancies relating to who is covered by confidentiality protection, as in at least one state, there is no statutory ban on disclosure by people other than the victim, wrongdoer and facilitator. Mary Ellen Reimund, "Confidentiality in Victim Offender Mediation: A False Promise?" 2004 Journal of Dispute Resolution 401.

As observed by Van Ness, there are some areas where restorative justice theory is broader than present practical implementation.³⁰⁴ He explains the background behind Principle 13 of the United Nations *Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice in Criminal Matters*, which, he notes, provides, "Discussion in restorative processes should be confidential and should not be disclosed subsequently, except with the agreement of the parties."³⁰⁵ Van Ness suggests,

The reason for confidentiality is to encourage the exchange of information among the parties. A major emphasis and benefit of restorative processes is that they allow the parties an opportunity to ask and answer questions that the other may have. In some instances those are questions that are not legally relevant, but are important to the party. In other instances they might be highly relevant – and incriminating – if revealed in a court setting. In an adversarial setting, there are no incentives for disclosing damaging information, and there are many incentives for hiding it. Restorative processes permit parties to disclose to the other party things they would be unwilling to disclose in court. But confidentiality is not limited here to use in subsequent legal proceedings. It also concerns disclosure to other individuals or to the community.

In New Zealand, the protections for confidentiality appear to be lower, as the Best Practice Principles assert,

Facilitators must make participants aware of the limits to confidentiality before a conference is held. For example, judges may refer to the conference report in open court and the disclosure of other offending may be reported to the Police. While there may be agreement before the conference to respect confidentiality, participants need to be aware that this agreement cannot be legally enforced. 307

Restorative justice theory appears to still be developing in this area – and the theoretical discussions noted above appear driven by concerns relating to implementation, particularly within an otherwise adversarial context. Strict confidentiality protections,

Daniel Van Ness, "Proposing Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice: Recognizing the Aims and Limits of Restorative Justice" online: Prison Fellowship International, UN Declaration Initiative <www.pficjr.org/programs/un/proposing>.

Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice Programmes in Criminal Matters, ECOSOC Res. 2000/14, U.N. Doc. E/2000/INF/2/Add.2 at 35 (2000).

³⁰⁷ New Zealand Ministry of Justice, supra note 300 at part B, section 6.

such as those in the United Nations Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice in Criminal Matters, appear unsupportable under restorative justice as a relational theory of justice. Processes which are confidential cannot effectively restore relationships, particularly when the relationships at issue are with broader communities. Restorative justice recognizes that the harm of wrongdoing is broader than the parties as defined in traditional responses to wrongdoing. As such, it alters (i.e., extends) the breadth of the parties. This necessarily has implications for the sharing of information emerging from restorative justice processes, particularly as this information-sharing may be central to restoration. Therefore, information emerging from restorative justice processes particularly information relating to the agreement or plan for restoration - should not be confidential because the potential for achieving the aim in restorative justice of social equality would be circumscribed. One of the ways that this is managed in New Zealand is by allowing the determination about release of information to be built into the process: "Information about what occurred during the restorative justice process may be disclosed to non-participants but only with [the] participants' consent."308 Protections as they relate to evidentiary privilege, through the Criminal Code, 309 the Youth Criminal Justice Act, 310 and the protocol for Nova Scotia restorative justice program³¹¹ fulfill this role, at least in part, in Nova Scotia.

³⁰⁹ Criminal Code, supra note 121, s. 717.

³⁰⁸ *Ibid.* This, of course, is subject to an understanding that the agreement cannot be legally enforced, as noted at Part B, section 6.

³¹⁰ Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, s. 10. ³¹¹ See 2005 Protocol, supra note 205, at 20-21.

Thresholds for Restorative Justice

Scope of Wrongdoing

As noted above, in Nova Scotia the restorative justice program is available through the criminal justice system. Within this framework, it is available for a wide range of criminal offences committed by young persons; in fact, the framework is designed to capture all provincial statute and Criminal Code offences. In practice there is presently a moratorium on restorative justice referrals for sexual assault and partner/spousal violence.312 Although there has been little empirical evidence that restorative justice is an inappropriate response for such forms of wrongdoing, public and political pressure have prevailed in ensuring the moratorium is maintained.313 The program does, however, offer opportunities for restorative justice processes in a manner that does not jeopardize public safety (i.e., post-conviction). Given the possibility for reducing recidivism and promoting restoration,³¹⁴ this moratorium is an unfortunate limitation. Despite the limitations currently imposed, it is notable that mechanisms are in place for restorative justice practice in response to all types of wrongdoing considered in the criminal justice system as they apply to all provincial statute and Criminal Code offences. This reflects a very wide ambit of applicability of restorative justice processes (albeit within the parameters of the criminal justice system).

Restorative justice theory has contemplated the link between the nature of the wrongdoing and restorative justice practice. There is some debate about the types of wrongdoing that may appropriately be addressed through restorative justice processes. Some have argued that more serious crimes, for example, should not be considered in

³¹² Clairmont, *supra* note 277 at ii.

³¹³ Rubin, *supra* note 272.

³¹⁴ Morris and Maxwell, *supra* note 9.

informal processes.³¹⁵ On the other hand, in New Zealand it has been observed that the experience of restorative justice is most beneficial (i.e., can have the greatest impact) where the loss is more profound so is most appropriate for serious offences.³¹⁶ Further, greater public safety issues are presented by those who reoffend and/or commit more serious offences, and therefore such situations may be seen as more appropriate for restorative justice because of the involvement of the community.³¹⁷

Llewellyn and Howse have pointed to the South African Truth and Reconciliation

Commission to illustrate how restorative justice principles can appropriately respond to a very broad range of wrongdoing:

The idea of justice as restorative opens up the possibility of a rich contextual exploration of what, at a given juncture in the evolution of society, both victims and perpetrators need for equality to be established or re-established in light of the offences that have occurred. The emphasis is on reintegrative measures that build or rebuild social bonds, as opposed to measures such as imprisonment and the death penalty that isolate and alienate the perpetrator from society.³¹⁸

John Braithwaite has noted that restorative justice can be appropriate in circumstances beyond the context of criminal justice systems.³¹⁹ He discusses the value of restorative justice processes in regulatory contexts. In describing some of the ways in which he has

³¹⁵ Rubin, supra note 272.

Morris and Maxwell, "Family Group Conferences and Reoffending" in Allison Morris and Gabrielle Maxwell, *Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Conferencing, Mediation and Circles* (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2001) 243 at 246. In their study, they identified a number of factors that they say can contribute to a reduction in the chance of reoffending. They provide, at p. 261, that these include "having a conference that is memorable, not being made to feel a bad person, feeling involved in the conference decision-making, agreeing with the conference outcome, completing the tasks agreed to, feeling sorry for what they had done, meeting the victim and apologizing to him/her, and feeling that they had repaired the damage."

³¹⁷ Restorative Justice Framework, *supra* note 33.

³¹⁸ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 284 at 355.

³¹⁹ See generally Braithwaite, *supra* note 235.

applied principles of restorative justice to other contexts, he cites nursing home regulation, occupational health and safety and environmental protection.³²⁰

These points suggest that the scope of wrongdoing that may be appropriately addressed through restorative justice processes is broad. The application of restorative justice ought not to be determined by the nature of the wrongdoing (i.e., the type or seriousness) itself. Rather, it ought to be determined by the harm to the relationship, and the capacity or willingness of parties to take part.

Acknowledgment of Responsibility

In keeping with the idea that willingness to take part is key for the active participation required by restorative justice, one of the minimum requirements for referral to restorative justice in Nova Scotia is the wrongdoer's acknowledgment of responsibility. The program's protocol asserts that it is essential that "the Young Person accepts responsibility for his/her actions." In practice, this means that there is acknowledgment of responsibility for the act which is prohibited by criminal legislation. If this does not take place, the matter is ineligible for restorative justice.

Restorative justice theory generally requires that responsibility is acknowledged by the wrongdoer as a threshold for entering a restorative justice process. In discussing the role of responsibility in restorative justice, Braithwaite and Roche have drawn upon

³²⁰ *Ibid.* at vii, Braithwaite argues that restorative justice processes could have implications for attaining peace and transforming the entire legal system. See also Braithwaite and Parker, *supra* note 18 at 107.

Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33. This is a legislative precondition. See Criminal Code s. 717, supra note 121, and Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, s. 10

³²² Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Program Protocol* (16 September 2005) at 6.

theories of passive responsibility which they suggest entails taking responsibility for past events, and active responsibility which they suggest is "seeking responsibility to repair harm, and especially to restore relationships". 323 It is their contention that the imposition, by courts, of criminal responsibility represents passive responsibility. They suggest, "restorative justice uses passive responsibility to create a forum in which active responsibility can be fostered. Restorative justice, then, is about shifting the balance from passive responsibility toward active responsibility." This means that they consider passive responsibility to be a minimum prerequisite for entering restorative justice processes.

Llewellyn and Howse offer a more purposive approach to the importance of acknowledgment of responsibility in restorative justice. They consider this one component of "truth telling" that they suggest is a necessary practice element. They note,

[o]ne way to ensure ...[voluntariness] is to require the perpetrator to acknowledge what happened at the outset....At first glance this may appear to be a huge limitation for a restorative approach, permitting restorative processes only in those cases where wrongdoers are willing to admit responsibility...However, a restorative system is not interested in establishing guilt with a view to punishment. Rather, it is interested in determining what happened in order to address the wrong.³²⁷

This approach considers "truth-telling" at the outset as a way of determining what has transpired and its implications. Part of this truth-telling is a discussion of responsibility

³²³ John Braithwaite and Declan Roche, "Responsibility and Restorative Justice" in Gordon Bazemore and Mara Schiff (eds.), *Restorative Community Justice* (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001) at 64.

³²⁴ *Ibid.* at 68. They argue, at p. 65, that "restorative justice reconceptualizes responsibility, so that when people claim that restorative justice offers *better* responsibility than traditional court sentencing...they are impliedly making a claim about what is accomplished by active responsibility."

³²⁵ *Ibid.* at 64.

³²⁶ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 57.

³²⁷ *Ibid.* at 58.

for the wrongdoing. Given the different aims in restorative justice (i.e., non-punishment), people are more likely to admit responsibility under restorative justice processes -- and the nature of that admission differs than in traditional responses to wrongdoing. There is some variation in the requirements for accessing restorative justice processes, allowing such access where the alleged wrongdoers have admitted responsibility but also for those who, at minimum, have not denied it. Paul McCold has devised a framework to determine the degree to which disparate practices are restorative. He provides a range: "fully restorative," "mostly restorative" and "partly restorative." Practices are, he suggests, appropriately categorized by the degree to which they adhere to his conception of restorative justice. For example, while he considers mediation, conferences, and circles to be restorative practices, factors such as inclusion of affected parties or the community can impact the degree to which a practice is deemed to be restorative. Similarly, the range of acknowledgment of responsibility articulated in practice requirements above can have implications for the discursive interaction that forms an integral component of restorative justice practice.

Discursive Interaction

Restorative justice is discursive in nature. While there may be some flexibility in terms of acknowledgment of responsibility as a starting point for a restorative justice process, this must not be construed to suggest that restorative justice permits expressions of dishonesty or incomplete versions of events. The discursive nature of restorative justice

³²⁸ David B. Moore and John M. MacDonald, *Community Conferencing Kit*, Transformative Justice Australia (undated).

Paul McCold, "Researcher's New Theoretical Framework Assesses Degree to which Practices meet Standards of Restorative Justice," (2000) 8 Real Justice Forum 3. Paul McCold, "Primary Restorative Justice Practices" in Morris and Maxwell, *supra* note 9. This, he suggests at p. 42, is to "involve victims and their offenders in face-to-face meetings and it is these participants (along with their respective communities of care) who determine how best to deal with the offence."

raises a number of issues including the importance and subjectivity of truth-telling, and the implications of consensus-building through deliberation.

Truth-telling

Unlike in adversarial responses to wrongdoing, restorative justice allows the sharing of *many* truths and creates space for alternative interpretations that are inclusive of perspectives and contexts. Restorative justice processes require people to speak on their own behalf. This idea is integrated into the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, which ensures that those affected – the victims, wrongdoers and communities – each speak on their own behalf and from their own perspective.³³¹ The program asserts, "During the course of [a restorative justice] meeting each party is given an opportunity to tell the story of the crime from their own perspective.³³² This reflects recognition that there may be a variety of "truths" surrounding the events in question, and further prevents these truths from becoming obscured through the legal system by, for example, lawyers speaking on behalf of their clients.

This approach is strongly supported by restorative justice theory, which endorses truth-telling (in terms of acknowledging responsibility) as an essential starting point for restorative justice, 333 and suggests that the sharing of truth is important throughout. As noted above, Llewellyn and Howse have indicated that restorative justice must be premised on and involve truth-telling. This is in direct contrast with adversarial responses to wrongdoing which are premised on a pre-existing set of norms guiding the

³³¹ Restorative Justice Framework, supra note 33.

Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, *The Nova Scotia Program*, online:

http://www.gov.ns.ca/just/Divisions/CourtServ/rj/program.asp 333 Van Ness and Strong, *supra* note 115 at 71.

³³⁴ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 57.

significance of one's words. In other words, the information shared in adversarial processes is circumscribed and reframed in efforts to have it comport with precedents and legal parameters which are supportive of one's perspective or legal strategy.

Lise Gotell has highlighted the limitations inherent in that which is considered, in adversarial legal frameworks, to constitute "truth":

It is, of course, well recognized that law as a discourse rests on the claim to 'Truth.' Law constitutes a powerful meta-narrative, assuming the guise of objectivity and promising to distinguish true from false. In this way, legal discourse is elevated above other discourses. The centrality of 'Truth' within legal discourse makes it resistant to complexity and contingency and responsive to demands that are both positivistic and categorical. This is because law rests on a version of the subject that is universal, rational, and knowing...."³³⁵

In advancing ostensibly objective versions of "truth," adversarial processes can limit information that is shared by screening out facts or perceptions that are not deemed to be legally relevant. These frameworks advanced by the legal system can create disincentives to truth-telling. When lawyers speak on behalf of their clients, they reframe experience to illustrate or contest legal significance. Christie has suggested, "We have to organize social systems so that conflicts are both nurtured and made visible and also see to it that professionals do not monopolise the handling of them." He later notes,

Lawyers are particularly good at stealing conflicts. They are trained for it... They are socialized into a sub-culture with a surprising high agreement concerning interpretation of norms, and regarding what sort of information can be accepted as relevant in each case. Most of us have, as laymen, experienced the sad moments of truth when our lawyers tell us that our best arguments in our fight

Christie, *supra* note 231 at 1. In describing the role of professionals in Tanzania, he says, at p. 2, "No reporters attended. They were all there".

Approach to Charter Equality" in Radha Jhappan, ed., *Women's Legal Strategies in Canada* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2002) at 136. She adds, at page 136-7, "While law seems to demand that feminists speak in the unambiguous tones of 'Truth' [as recognized by the legal system] in order to be heard, I suggest that a commitment to a democratic form of feminist politics demands that we relinquish such 'Truth' claims." Carol Smart elaborates a critique on what she terms "law's claim to truth" in *Feminism and the Power of Law* (London: Routledge, 1989).

against our neighbour are without any legal relevance whatsoever and that we for God's sake ought to keep quiet about them in court. Instead they pick out arguments we might find irrelevant or even wrong to use.³³⁷

Restorative justice allows space for a variety of "truths"; as a deliberative process it contemplates the sharing of multiple perspectives. Roche has observed,

One of the benefits of a restorative justice meeting is its flexibility in the way people are able to choose to communicate with each other. Because [adversarial legal systems]... often favour certain styles of communication over others, they work to exclude people who cannot express themselves in ways in line with the dominant modes.³³⁸

Not only are people excluded from adversarial processes, perspectives which may be key to restoration (if the goal is restoration of the relationship rather than affixing blame) are also excluded. This was illustrated in the report of the South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission.³³⁹ In stating its recognition of different perspectives, the report provides, "[T]he telling of the truth about past gross human rights violations, as viewed from different perspectives, facilitates the process of understanding our divided pasts, whilst the public acknowledgement of untold suffering and injustice." The notion of "truth", it is concluded, is not a unified concept but rather one which is rich with complexity. These nuances are acknowledged: "But what about truth – and whose truth? The complexity of this concept also emerged in the debates that took place before and during the life of the Commission, resulting in four notions of truth: factual or forensic truth; personal or narrative truth; social or 'dialogue' truth...and healing and restorative truth." This illustrates the fact that differing perspectives may be key in

³³⁷ *Ibid.* at 4.

³³⁸ Roche, *supra* note 211 at 141.

Jennifer Llewellyn and Robert Howse have characterized the South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission as a restorative justice process in Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 284 at 355.

³⁴⁰ Truth and Reconciliation Commission of South Africa Report (Cape Town: Truth and Reconciliation Commission, 1998), vol.1, c.4.

³⁴¹ *Ibid.*, vol. 1, c. 5, pgph. 29.

moving towards a goal of restoration. This recognition of a broad spectrum of experience as constituting forms of truth represents a shift away from the binary-based adversarial responses to wrongdoing (e.g., guilty/not guilty). Restorative justice can widen the parameters of truth and experience that are considered relevant to the process thus enabling acknowledgment of a diversity of truths.

The implementation of this aspect of restorative justice theory into practice requires that there are opportunities for multiple perspectives to be shared. Practice that stymies the sharing of one's subjective assessment of the wrongdoing – such as that involving legal representatives in their traditional role – undermines the potential of the deliberative experience, and the aim of the proceeding is a disincentive to truth-telling. Over-professionalization of practice is problematic because the use of representatives to speak on behalf of the parties will necessarily entail some filtering of their words. In other words, the potential contributions by lawyers or advocates are limited in restorative justice processes and indeed, can undermine the potential for restoration.

Deliberative Consensus-Building

The objective of sharing truths and perspectives is to reach some consensus, among participants, on the restoration requirements raised by a particular incident of wrongdoing. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program provides some interesting features which enhance opportunities for consensus-building through deliberative approaches. The opportunity provided by the program to design context-specific processes allows for careful selection of participants. Because each agency is community-based, they are more apt to be familiar with the local organizations and

³⁴² A survey of participants from a New Zealand Family Group Conference concluded that people who participate in professional capacities "tend to overtake, distort, and undermine proceedings." Roche, *supra* note 211 at 37.

individuals who are working on the issues which are likely to be discussed. This can enable a process to be structured so as to better examine differences between and among groups, and to have issues of inequality articulated in the sessions. This is particularly pertinent where issues relating to power imbalances emerge, and people who are well situated to identify and transform these imbalances are present. As Llewellyn and Howse have observed, "Power imbalances are often difficult to detect as very often the person most in need of protection feels silenced by the power difference."343 For this reason, carefully comprised community representatives are essential.

The success of restorative justice relies on the deliberative nature of the process; unlike under formal, adversarial responses to wrongdoing, restorative justice opens discursive space enabling the victim, wrongdoer and community to participate in this process.344 It is useful to recall that restorative justice is voluntary.345 If people are coerced into restorative justice processes, they will not freely share information. Further, a process that is imposed upon unwilling participants cannot advance an aim of social equality. Therefore, restorative justice processes should not be attempted where one or more of the parties resist this approach.³⁴⁶

³⁴³ Supra note 6 at 65.

³⁴⁴ Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 45.

³⁴⁶ It is conceivable that one of the parties may want a "day in court" or may feel concerned about process protections. If these concerns can be alleviated through clear explanation of restorative justice and implementation of rights-protection mechanism, the willingness of parties to voluntarily participate may be enhanced. For this reason, it is essential that participants are fully apprised of what restorative justice is, and how the process works, so that they may be able to make informed decisions about whether they wish to participate.

Bruce Archibald has commented on the evolution of participatory approaches in Canada, noting that, on the heels of decades of political pressures,

[t]he 1990s has seen pressure for greater citizen access and fairness of treatment for visible minority and aboriginal communities in Canada. The interesting aspect of these political developments, also reflected to some measure through changes in citizen access to the criminal justice system, has been the shift away from simply thinking in terms of individual citizens' rights to a concomitant emphasis on the rights and participatory capacities of various groups of citizens who identify themselves as communities or persons with common interests.³⁴⁷

He adds that, in this regard,

[t]heories of democracy are changing to adequately comprehend this complex new political reality in its various manifestations. Jürgen Habermas boldly attempts to bridge the gap between the normative, moral discourse of political philosophy and the empirical discourse of the social sciences in a theory of democracy based on the principles of communicative action.³⁴⁸

Restorative justice may be seen as consistent with the theory of deliberative democracy as promulgated by Jürgen Habermas.³⁴⁹ Habermas has extensively considered the implications of a communicative process. He looks to "democratic procedure"³⁵⁰ to find legitimacy in rule-making, suggesting, "a regulation may claim legitimacy only if all those possibly affected by it could consent to it after participating in rational discourses."³⁵¹ He bases this theory of democracy on his assertion that

...political philosophy has never really been able to strike a balance between popular sovereignty and human rights, or between the "freedom of the ancients" and the "freedom of the moderns". The political autonomy of citizens is supposed to be embodied in the self-organization of a community that gives itself its laws through the sovereign will of the people. The private autonomy of

³⁴⁸ *Ibid.* at 155. Archibald notes, at p. 155, that Habermas "differentiates three dimensions of the 'self understanding of modernity' which he argues cannot be collapsed: cognitive, evaluative and normative validity."

³⁴⁷ Archibald, *supra* note 28 at 154.

³⁴⁹ Habermas, supra note 245 at 259. See also Jürgen Habermas, Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1996).

³⁵⁰ Habermas, supra note 245 at 259.

³⁵¹ *Ibid.* See also Jürgen Habermas, *Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy* (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1996).

citizens, on the other hand, is supposed to take the form of basic rights that guarantee the anonymous rule of law. Once the issue is set up in this way, either idea can be upheld only at the expense of the other. The intuitively plausible cooriginality of both ideas falls by the wayside. 352

Habermas has suggested that deliberative democracy is particularly useful and important in struggles of marginalized groups as it provides an opportunity to share perspectives and arrive at outcomes that are responsive to specific contexts. He has referred to what he calls "The Feminist Politics of Equality" in illustrating how deliberative approaches to policy-making will yield outcomes that more accurately fulfill promulgated goals and respond to the needs of target beneficiaries. He notes that feminist critique has illustrated how attempts at formal equality have not been fruitful and further, have exacerbated harm including the "progressive feminization of poverty." Habermas claims deliberative approaches can lead to substantive equality, in providing that radical feminist critique

rightly insists that the appropriate interpretation of needs and criteria be a matter of public debate in the political public sphere. It is here that citizens must clarify the aspects that determine which differences between the experiences and living situations of (specific groups of) men and women are relevant for an equal opportunity to exercise individual liberties. Thus, this struggle for the equal status of women is a particularly good example of the need for a change of the legal paradigm.³⁵⁵

In a similar vein, Christine Koggel has suggested that social equality is achieved through discursive interaction: "Impartiality, in the sense of the ability to treat each person with equal concern and respect, is achieved not through the monological thinking of a solitary and isolated moral reasoner, but through a communicative process of an ongoing

³⁵² Habermas, supra note 245 at 258.

³⁵³ *Ibid.* at 262.

³⁵⁴ *Ibid.* at 263.

³⁵⁵ *Ibid.*

dialogue among different points of view."³⁵⁶ This idea resonates with restorative justice theory insofar as it considers communicative processes as key to social equality.

This approach has not been without criticism. Melissa Williams has expressed unease with the potential for true consensus through deliberative democracy, ³⁵⁷ claiming that existing biases would necessarily be manifested in any deliberative setting. ³⁵⁸ She suggests that:

Where relations of social and political inequality have long been structured along the lines of group identity, there is an inadequate foundation of trust between citizens who belong to marginalized groups and representatives who belong to privileged groups. Without this trust, the flow of communication which is a precondition of effective representation is unlikely to exist. Moreover, these groups' experience of marginalization yields an understanding of social practices and institutions which is not readily available to individuals who lack that experience.... Even if marginalized groups achieve self-representation in decision-making processes, however, their mere presence may do nothing to shape the outcomes of those processes.

Williams acknowledges the appeal of discourse-based decision-making for those who have traditionally been excluded, 360 but she questions the degree to which marginalized groups' discourse will be accepted: "whether or not citizens will recognize others' reasons as reasons may be a socioculturally contingent matter. Moreover, it seems likely that the contingency of this recognition may tend to be resolved in a manner that

Melissa S. Williams, "The Uneasy Alliance of Group Representation and Deliberative Democracy" in Will Klymicka & Wayne Norman, eds., *Citizenship in Diverse Societies* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).

³⁵⁶ Koggel, supra note 195 at 5.

⁽Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).

358 Similarly, Shane O'Neill has argued that Habermas presupposes equality among deliberative participants in "The Equalization of Effective Communicative Freedom: Democratic Justice in the Constitutional State and Beyond" (2004) 17 Canadian Journal of Law & Jurisprudence 83.

³⁵⁹ Williams, *supra* note 357 at 124.

³⁶⁰ *Ibid.* at 125.

systematically disadvantages the reasons of marginalized groups in a discursive exchange."³⁶¹ She is concerned that

the judgement that another's arguments are reasonable is a much more contingent matter than deliberative theory suggests, and that the contingency of such judgement is strongly conditioned by membership in groups structured along the lines of social privilege and disadvantage. What deliberators could accept as reasons may turn out to depend importantly on who they are and on who is presenting the reasons to them. This unsettles the premises of deliberative democracy, which appears to contain an implicit supposition that the reasonableness or unreasonableness of others' arguments will be self-evident. 362

It is her contention that the theory of deliberative democracy is incomplete insofar as it does not adequately address this challenge, ³⁶³ but she offers normative guidance on how this may be addressed: "It is only by making the unjust consequences of their power visible to privileged groups that marginalized-group perspectives can have any chance of transforming prevailing understandings of the requirements of justice." She concludes that practice that enables discussion of – and response to – marginalization, that is "specifically responsive to group difference", ³⁶⁵ offers a means to achieve some impartiality. She suggests this is not enough; that it "must also be *transformative*; it must *correct* the past biases of social arrangements in ways that other models of deliberative democracy seldom contemplate."

³⁶¹ Ibid.

³⁶² *Ibid.* at 137.

³⁶³ *Ibid.* at 126. Williams notes, at p. 139, "Habermas and Rawls have not overlooked this difficulty altogether in their accounts of political discourse, though they address it only obliquely and neither has offered a solution to it."

³⁶⁴ *Ibid.* at 141.

³⁶⁵ *Ibid.* at 142.

lbid. Williams identifies, at p. 143, two motivators for those with power to engage with and listen to those in less powerful situations: "the desire to be just" and "the need to stem conflict in order to avoid its costs." By examining some scenarios in which both are present, she concludes, at p. 143, "It is a threat to the interests of privileged groups that sometimes inclines them to be open to a redefinition of the requirements of justice."

Williams has identified an issue that lies at the very core of restorative justice.

Restorative justice has the potential to be transformative; restoration will often necessarily demand that such group difference is examined. Further, as an aim of restorative justice is social equality, ³⁶⁷ factors that deter from such an aim should be addressed. Traditionally adversarial and many informal responses to wrongdoing do not allow for a discussion of group difference. Restorative justice, as a theory of justice, demands that existing imbalances, borne of differences being ignored or as sources of oppression, are addressed. Llewellyn and Howse acknowledge that restorative justice cannot necessarily redress all inequalities that impact upon the process; however, they observe its ability to identify inequality:

The fact that [power imbalances] need to be addressed in the process, does not mean that the process itself can actually solve the imbalances themselves. The ideal goal of restorative justice may in fact imply important social transformations beyond what can be achieved in any process specific to those directly involved in the wrong.³⁶⁸

Llewellyn and Howse have suggested that restorative justice can more appropriately respond to challenges raised in diverse societies than traditional approaches, suggesting, "restorative justice may in fact address cultural differences better than other practices because it makes room within the process for different cultural expression. We have argued that one of the strengths of restorative justice mechanisms is their open texture." Kathleen Daly agrees, and stresses that this must be part of broader political engagement (i.e. relating to race, culture and class).

³⁶⁷ Llewellyn and Howse suggest, "In the bid to restore social equality, restorative processes must open the door for social dialogue about how such equality is best achieved. The dialogical nature of restorative processes make room for the expression of different perspectives in working towards restoration." Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 95.

³⁶⁸ *Ibid.* at 66.

³⁶⁹ *Ibid.* at 94.

Kathleen Daly, "Restorative Justice in Diverse and Unequal Societies" (2000a) 17(1) Law in Context 1 at 17.

Processes that do not allow for discursive space in which to address imbalances of power or sources of inequality have little potential to be transformative. Processes that do not manifest the elements discussed above cannot claim to reflect a process contemplated by Habermas' theory of deliberative democracy while responding to the concerns articulated by Williams. For example, practices that are rigidly scripted (i.e., do not allow for open-ended questions, are not relevant to the complaint, etc.) or those that do not include wider communities are less likely to be transformative because discursive exchanges are necessarily limited.

Principles for Application to Policing Context

This chapter has explored restorative justice theory and its application in the context of the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, and has highlighted some factors that may be particularly pertinent when this practice applies to complaints against the police.

Some general principles can been gleaned from this discussion. The goals of a restorative justice process differ from those in adversarial responses to allegations of police wrongdoing. While it may seem efficient for administration of the practice of restorative justice to be done through existing government frameworks, this idea is challenged by restorative justice theory which contemplates strong connections with the community. The communities involved in restorative justice practice must be carefully composed and the nature of obligations surrounding confidentially must be considered. The scope of wrongdoing considered appropriate for restorative justice, and the requirement that responsibility be acknowledged in advance, must be closely examined in light of the fact that restorative justice practice in Nova Scotia is currently restricted to matters considered criminal by the state and is available following acknowledgment, by the wrongdoer, of responsibility whereas disciplinary defaults under the *Police Act*

characterize a broader scope of action as constituting wrongdoing. Restorative justice processes require people to speak on their own behalf, and thus there may be implications when parties have legal representation.

The Nova Scotia restorative justice program speaks of "restorative" and "restoratively oriented" processes.³⁷¹ This chapter has outlined some aspects of restorative justice theory, but it should be acknowledged that not all practices are consistently able to embody all of the characteristics of restorative justice elaborated in its theory. These issues are considered in light of the unique context offered by the police complaints framework in Chapter 4, below.

³⁷¹ See 2005 Protocol, *supra* note 205 at 11.

Chapter 3 has outlined some of the ways in which the Nova Scotia restorative justice program has implemented restorative justice theory into practice. This chapter considers how the same theoretical and practical considerations outlined above can apply to a police complaints context. As indicated at the outset of this thesis, restorative justice theory has particular pertinence to police complaints, because it has an aim of restoring relationships. Relational breakdowns between the police and communities resulting from police wrongdoing - or allegations of police wrongdoing - can impact the public's sense of security and faith in the administration of justice, and can also impact the ability of the police to effectively carry out their work, particularly in this era of community policing which demands community-police collaboration. Restorative justice also provides a forum in which to identify and address systemic concerns and issues that relate to the wider community.³⁷² These issues are particularly relevant in police accountability processes, as they are often called upon to consider issues that extend beyond the specific incident that lead to a complaint, and further, these processes have a preventative goal (i.e., to ensure such situations do not recur). Police accountability frameworks contemplate matters that are both within and outside the criminal realm and therefore the wide ambit offered by restorative justice can appropriately respond to this context.

³⁷² Llewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6 at 73.

Types of Police Complaints Appropriate for Restorative Justice

It should be noted that, although relationships are at stake in all kinds of situations involving allegations of police wrongdoing, the ability for restorative justice processes to respond to all types of police-public relational breakdown may, in some cases, be circumscribed. Therefore, it is useful to consider the types of cases for which restorative justice is appropriate, noting those for which fully restorative justice may be possible, and identifying those for which it may not.

Restorative justice is highly suitable for some types of instances that fall within the police complaints process. When a police officer acknowledges responsibility for an incident alleged to have constituted wrongdoing, then full restorative justice is possible. As alluded to in previous chapters, the concept of "responsibility" is distinct from "guilt", which attaches a value to the action itself, and has specific legal meaning, as opposed to broader consideration of context as enabled in restorative justice processes. When responsibility (admitting the commission of a disciplinary default) is fully acknowledged, or responsibility but not guilt (e.g., the police officer agrees that a stop was made but does not agree that the stop was made for discriminatory purposes) is acknowledged, restorative justice can work particularly well. A second type of situation highly conducive to full restorative justice is when a false allegation is made against the police, and is proven or acknowledged to be false (responsibility for which is acknowledged by the alleger). In these instances, then the wrongdoing is against the police. It seems the bulk of cases may fall into these two types of situations, where it is acknowledged that an interaction between the police and the public has taken place but the meanings ascribed to the events differ to the different parties. Restorative justice offers a highly

appropriate mechanism when a process is required in order to determine *the meaning* of what has happened.³⁷³

The prospects for successful restoration are more circumscribed in situations in which an allegation is made, but there is no agreement on whether the events in fact took place. In other words, if there is no basic agreement on facts, it is difficult to conceive of how a restorative justice processes could contribute meaningfully to restoration. Further, there does not appear to be any way in which responsibility could be acknowledged if there is no basic agreement on what took place. It is unclear whether any type of restorative justice process could contribute to situations requiring a determination of what has happened; indeed, it may be that formal, adversarial processes are better suited for such instances.

The following pages will consider, in depth, the theoretical and practical considerations as discussed in Chapter 3 in light of their relevance to allegations of police wrongdoing. The first area discussed is the appropriateness of an aim of social equality in a policing context, raising critical issues relating to punishment of the police. The second area considered is the administration of restorative justice practice as it pertains to the police, identifying some problems with police-run restorative justice processes. The third area discussed is the role of community in restorative justice responses to police complaints,

Braithwaite and Roche, *supra* note 323 at 63. Braithwaite and Roche have drawn upon concepts of "passive responsibility" and "active responsibility" to hypothesize, at p. 63, as to the "form of responsibility most likely to promote restoration – of victims, offenders, and communities." They generally accept, at p. 72, "passive responsibility" as a backward-looking approach to responsibility for wrongs in the past, and "active responsibility" as taking responsibility for the future, for repairing the harm. They argue at p. 68 that restorative justice processes "provide opportunities to nurture active responsibility," and suggest that active responsibility is necessary for drawing the parties towards a state of restoration. They caution, however, at p. 79, that responsibilitization can exacerbate power imbalances absent appropriate safeguards.

noting some ways in which such restoration may be limited through confidential processes. Fourth, some circumstances appropriate for restorative justice in response to police complaints, and some practice prerequisites, are outlined. Finally, some issues particular to policing that may impact a discursive process are raised.

Objectives and Outcomes

Social Equality

For circumstances in which restorative justice is determined to be a suitable response, the process should be structured in a manner that is mindful of the aims of restorative justice. Police and their communities are in a relationship, as suggested in community policing theories. As such, social equality seems to be an appropriate aim following allegations of police wrongdoing. Indeed, disrupted relations between the police and the various community contexts in which they operate would complicate the ability of the police to fulfill their stated missions and associated programs. Restorative justice can advance this aim in response to wrongdoing. Recalling that restorative justice does not aspire to the *status quo ante*, ³⁷⁴ the opportunities presented by restorative justice to achieve social equality through transformation can indeed better enable the police to attain their often-articulated community policing objectives because there may be relational challenges prior to an allegation of wrongdoing. In other words, the police *must aspire to* social equality if their community policing objectives are to be fulfilled; restorative justice is a means to achieve these goals. ³⁷⁵

³⁷⁴ Liewellyn and Howse, *supra* note 6.

³⁷⁵ It is acknowledged that it is not possible to address all inequality in society through restorative justice processes. See *ibid.* at 95.

The police often make efforts to reflect a community policing approach, and run programs aimed at collaborative work within the community. Restorative justice serves the same aspirations, and so addressing allegations of police wrongdoing through restorative justice is consistent with this philosophy. Furthermore, the transformative potential of restorative justice could better enable the police to fulfill these commitments by strengthening or building community through the process. A restorative justice process following allegations of police wrongdoing should be aimed at reparation and reintegration with an aim of social equality, further to the importance of community support in this context.

Alternative to punishment

Chapter 3 has outlined many reasons why punishment is not an aim of restorative justice. Punishment precludes restoration by further harming a relationship thus undermining the potential for social equality. This approach is taken by the Nova Scotia restorative justice program which adopts a forward-looking approach. This is designed to restore dignity in a way that captures social equality as an aim.

Because police officers are generally the first contact people have with the criminal justice system following wrongdoing, they are seen, by many, as agents of punishment. Further to the popular dismissal of restorative justice as a "soft option" because it does not involve punishment, restorative justice might not seem satisfactory to communities that feel wronged by the police. As noted in Chapter 1, wrongdoing by police officers can be particularly harmful to communities due to their coercive power (i.e., it may raise

³⁷⁶ Halifax Regional Police, *supra* note 79.

For an overview of this concern as expressed in Nova Scotia, see Nova Scotia Standing Committee on Public Accounts (23 April 2003), online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/legislature/hansard/comm/pa/pa_2003apr23.htm.

concerns for safety and/or disrupt faith in the administration of justice generally). Restorative justice in response to such wrongdoing might be criticized as a way for the police to avoid punishment. In other words, it may be perceived as differential, "softer", responses to wrongdoing than they, as laypersons, would receive. However, as the previous chapter has noted, punishment is not an appropriate response for wrongdoing generally if the objective is the restoration of relationships.

There are a number of factors that demonstrate that this is true in a policing context.

First, as observed above, punishment precludes social equality. Punishment can cause further harm to relationships and impede restoration, thus worsening the relationship between the police and their communities. In a policing context, particularly one in which community policing principles are espoused, restorative justice processes can result in agreements that are meaningful to the community, such as training for the police force and officers, and for the community on roles and responsibilities of the police. The such as training deficiencies, community interaction and reparations are not meaningfully addressed in strictly punitive processes. Further, there is research suggesting that punishment does not successfully achieve its often-cited objective of deterrence and therefore punitive approaches may not contribute to addressing future incidents relating to general or systemic problems.

³⁷⁸ The range of possible outcomes in the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is broad, including restitution/financial compensation, community service work, personal service to the victim, community reconciliation, education programs, assessment, any other outcome agreed upon by the participants, or no further action. The protocol also notes that, when the process is a sentencing circle, the options outlined in the *Youth Criminal Justice Act* and the *Youth Justice Act* are possible. See 2005 Protocol, *supra* note 205 at 14-18.

³⁷⁹ Smith, Goggin, and Gendreau, *supra* note 198.

While some conceptions of restorative justice may reflect punitive approaches, programs such as the one presently operating in Nova Scotia appropriately reject punishment, focusing instead on social equality as an aim of restorative justice processes.

Challenges relating to a lack of public support for restorative justice as applied to police complaints may be best addressed by situating the process within a context with established restorative justice programming. Further, modeling a restorative justice police complaints process on a program which is currently in place will go far in mitigating potential criticisms that police officers could receive differential treatment through a rejection of traditionally punitive responses to wrongdoing. In keeping with current public education aimed at fostering a climate of public support for restorative justice, ³⁸⁰ ongoing dialogue with communities will better enable them to understand the value of restorative, rather than punitive, responses to police wrongdoing.

Administration of Restorative Justice Practice

Many elements of the Nova Scotia restorative justice program offer insight into how restorative justice might be appropriately operationalized in a police complaints context in this province. This model, and in particular, its administration by community-based agencies, mitigates some of the concerns relating to state administration of practice. The concerns relating to the state occupying the role of service deliverer for restorative justice practice are particularly pertinent when the beneficiaries of restorative justice include agents of the state. As community policing initiatives point out, the police form an integral part of the community;³⁸¹ however, the police are also agents of the state. Their relationship with the community, then, is multifaceted and complex.

³⁸⁰ See generally *supra* note 31 and note 205.

³⁸¹ Kratcoski and Cebulak, supra note 75 at 23.

Some might believe that it would be efficient and feasible for the police to run a restorative justice program and in fact, many successful programs (as part of the criminal justice system, and not in response to police wrongdoing) are run by policing agencies. There has, however, been some criticism of police-run restorative justice initiatives presently operating in response to matters traditionally defined as criminal. Richard Young has examined such police-led restorative justice conferences. He has concluded: "empirically...police-led conferencing is prone to some distinctive pitfalls. Traditional police culture, and the authoritarian and questionable practices it can generate, present a significant obstacle to the successful implementation of restorative justice."

The biggest police-run restorative justice program in Canada is the RCMP model. This program is historically significant because it helped legitimize and popularize restorative justice. Because the RCMP had access to fiscal and human resources and specific expertise in the area of criminal justice, it developed pilot programming which arguably invited cross-sectoral support for restorative justice. However, its ability to secure real and perceived independence from the state generally, and the justice system specifically, is questionable. Although the facilitators are often community members, the

Two programs broadly considered successful include the RCMP program and the Thames Valley Police program. These programs originated with the Wagga Wagga model from Australia. See Braithwaite, *supra* note 235 at 26. For a description of this police-facilitated model, see David B. Moore and Terry O'Connell, "Family Conferencing in Wagga Wagga: A Communitarian Model of Justice" in C. Adler and J. Wundersitz (eds.), *Family Conferencing and Juvenile Justice: The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism?* (Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology), online: <www.aic.gov.au/publications/lcj/family/ch3.pdf>. This model has been supplanted by a more court-driven process. See Heather Strang, *Restorative justice programs in Australia: a report to the Criminology Research Council* (2001), online: < http://www.aic.gov.au/crc/reports/strang/index.html>.

³⁸³ Richard Young, "Just Cops Doing Shameful Business?: Police-Led Restorative Justice and the Lessons of Research" in Morris and Maxwell, *supra* note 9 at 220. ³⁸⁴ More information on this program is available online: http://canada.justice.gc.ca/en/ps/voc/ripap.html#Part1>.

significant involvement of the RCMP in the process - both in design and implementation - makes it difficult to consider it a community-based process. Moreover, the authority granted to police officers, both legally and socially, would necessarily offer them a high level of power over and within the process. Further, in the context of allegations of wrongdoing under the criminal justice system, they would have an ongoing role in related processes. This is a particularly important consideration when attempts at restorative justice are unsuccessful because the matter could then be returned to RCMP jurisdiction. If the process responded to complaints against the police themselves, this administrative framework would be even more problematic.

Roche argues that restorative justice meetings must be held in neutral locations and not police stations to enhance the perception of neutrality.³⁸⁶ He has considered whether restorative justice generally in the context of wrongdoing defined as criminal offers a forum for examining police conduct (i.e., police interaction with the wrongdoer), suggesting that this point is debated. He notes that, by removing a situation from the formal court-based justice system, police can evade the kind of legal accountability and scrutiny that courts offer.³⁸⁷ However, he observes the ways in which the deliberative forum offered in restorative justice widens discursive parameters potentially enhancing police accountability. 388 While this discussion is restricted to police conduct as incidental to a process considering a separate form of wrongdoing (i.e., a concern related to police wrongdoing in conjunction with the arrest or detention of the wrongdoer involved in the

³⁸⁵ Although local Community Justice Facilitators are trained, the program does offer, in large measure, a "cookie-cutter" approach. The encounter is designed to follow scripted texts which provide the facilitator with a concise model to apply to processes. As such, it may not be appropriately responsive to the community in which it is practiced. ³⁸⁶ Roche, *supra* note 211 at 159.

³⁸⁷ Ibid. at 124.

³⁸⁸ *Ibid*.

session), its analysis captures some questions as they pertain to the nature of police participation in restorative justice processes.

Police-run restorative justice processes are problematic, because it is difficult to ensure that they are – and are perceived to be – neutral.³⁸⁹ The relationship at stake in a restorative justice process for police complaints is the relationship between the police and the community. If the police are responsible for organizing such processes – and in particular, if a police representative were to facilitate these processes – the opportunities for restoration of the relationship would be highly circumscribed. Further, concerns relating to state administration of restorative justice practice outlined in Chapter 3 would suggest that restorative justice practices should also not be administered by a government agency (i.e., one that is not independent and community based) such as the Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner.

Restorative justice theory as discussed in Chapter 3 suggests that the optimal model for the administration of restorative justice practice draws upon the unique contributions offered both by the community and the state. A community-based entity would offer an appropriate connection with the community while avoiding the pitfalls of state-run institutional frameworks and more importantly, a lack of independence from police if programming were to be run exclusively by the police. Restorative justice processes aimed at responding to public complaints against the police should not be administered by the police force itself. There are, however, important roles for those presently administering the existing complaints process, as discussed in further detail below, and therefore collaboration is essential.

³⁸⁹ Young, *supra* note 383 at 220.

Community Contributions

Community involvement

As Chapter 3 has illustrated, restorative justice processes for police complaints must include the community. This is not, however, a random gathering of participants based on demographics. Rather, the community members should be selected for particular awareness of the issues likely to emerge - or because they are directly or indirectly affected - and should be situated such that they can guide transformation towards an aim of social equality. This can offer some important insight into a restorative justice initiative aimed at responding to police complaints. While the involvement of community is important in any restorative justice process, this is particularly appropriate when police-community relations are at issue. Police officers are involved in intricate and complex relationships with their communities (recalling that these can include many multifaceted communities, such as communities of harm, support communities, and policing communities)390 both as members of those communities and as peace enforcers. Further, as discussed in Chapter 1, the harm of police wrongdoing extends well beyond the incident leading to the complaint and the harm of wrongdoing by one officer can impact the public's faith in the police generally. Communities must, then, be offered meaningful opportunities for participation in restorative justice responses to allegations of police wrongdoing.

Keeping in mind the aim, in restorative justice, of social equality, participants in restorative justice processes for police complaints should reflect the diversity and

³⁹⁰ The relationship between the police and their communities is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 1, and the intricacies as they relate to the concept of community are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3.

interests at stake in the process. For example, a process considering allegations relating to racially-motivated actions could include both the victim and wrongdoer's communities of care, but also should include representatives of the minority group in question. Additional participants should be included in order to draw out issues that relate to the interests and issues raised by the wrongdoing. Representatives from advocacy groups or specialized agencies (e.g., NGOs, Human Rights Commissions) would be uniquely situated to speak to the harm to the broader community and may be best able to identify restorative responses. Additional participants could include those working on academic and policy initiatives which would position them to offer insight into the tensions which may have effected or affected the incident. Notably, community participants in such a process should not reflect a "snapshot" of the actual community based on demographics. This could simply replicate the inequalities inherent in society, and could reinforce the division between the police and public. As suggested by Pavlich, a notion of "community unity" 391 is not the aim; rather, the value of diversity leading to an aim of social equality should be central to the identification of appropriate community representatives. In this way, a community-based organization can structure representation of communities in the process.

Confidentiality

If the aim of restorative justice processes in relation to police complaints is to improve the relationship between the police and the public generally in response to specific allegations or suspicions of wrongdoing, it seems difficult to imagine how this relationship could be restored through a process that is confidential. In other words, if the relationship to be restored involves more people than could feasibly participate in a

³⁹¹ Pavlich, *supra* note 249 at 63.

restorative justice encounter (such as between the police and the African Nova Scotian community), there should be some avenue whereby the broader community is apprised of the process and agreement. As discussed above, it is important that the participants in restorative justice processes are carefully selected, and in this regard, the process should not be widely open to whomever wishes to participate unless they have some direct interest in the matter. However, the process should not be closed to the public in the sense that they do not receive information about what transpires in the process, and do not receive information about the agreement that emerges from the process. Naturally, the degree to which the broader relationship between the police and the public is implicated would inform the general interest in a matter considered through a restorative justice process. However, the administration of restorative justice processes in a closed and confidential environment could undermine faith in the process and indeed further damage the police-community relationship.

In this context, a confidential process would undermine the significance of the involvement of the community. More importantly, it would create a barrier to the restoration of the relationship in terms of repairing the broader harm caused wrongdoing and/or allegations of wrongdoing. The very purpose of involving the community would be defeated. As noted in the previous chapter, there are, nonetheless, some practical justifications for parameters relating to confidentiality. Such concerns may relate to the ability to secure participation in the process generally, and considerations relating to subsequent use of the information emerging from this process. Police officers would likely have personal and professional reasons for wanting some parameters set in relation to information-sharing. As such, and particularly due to the fact that fall-back

³⁹² If, however, the public generally is impacted or implicated, the determination/selection of participants would necessarily be a complex process to be determined on a case-by-case basis and considering factors specific to the allegations.

processes (i.e., if restorative justice is unsuccessful) are adversarial, there may be some important practical justifications to impose some restrictions on information distribution. For example, it may be considered appropriate to delay dissemination of information relating to the process and agreement until it is clear that fall-back options will not be exercized.³⁹³

Thresholds for Restorative Justice

Scope of Wrongdoing

The scope of wrongdoing embraced by complaints frameworks under the *Police Act* is very broad. As this thesis has observed, although restorative justice practice in Nova Scotia is currently restricted to the criminal justice context, it has much broader applicability. Restorative justice theory has an aim of the restoration of relationships; with this in mind, relational breakdown resulting from wrongdoing could broadly be responded to with restorative justice processes. Therefore, the very wide scope of wrongdoing contemplated by the police accountability frameworks outlined above could all appropriately be captured through restorative justice processes. In other words, a restorative justice process aimed at addressing police complaints would not be barred by the nature of wrongdoing. The process itself, however, could be impacted by the nature of the wrongdoing. Recalling that the Nova Scotia restorative justice program has established different entry points so as to reflect increasing scrutiny and associated rights protections through the formal system, a similar model might be appropriate for police complaints as well.

³⁹³ This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 5, below.

Acknowledgment of Responsibility

Chapter 3 has illustrated that restorative justice generally requires that the wrongdoer acknowledge responsibility before a process can be entered. This is driven, in large part, by the need for free and truthful participation in order for social equality to be a realistic aim. Llewellyn and Howse have noted that the forward-looking nature of restorative justice -- with an aim not to punish but rather to correct -- could serve to encourage wrongdoers to acknowledge responsibility. Due to the unique role played by police, it is useful to dissect the meaning of acknowledgement of responsibility in this context and its implications for restorative justice processes.

The types of police complaints most conducive to restorative justice processes are those in which an officer accepts full responsibility for the act alleged to constitute wrongdoing. This would likely entail a confirmation, by the officer, of their presence for the alleged incident, and of their role in the act of wrongdoing. Acknowledging responsibility should not, however, automatically lead to a restorative justice process. As the previous chapters have outlined, voluntariness is essential. If a police officer feels coerced into participating in a restorative justice process, he or she will likely not freely share information. This may be particularly applicable for police officers against whom allegations have been made, due to the widespread personal and professional implications for them of such allegations and associated processes.

When an officer acknowledges responsibility for the wrongdoing, the process may have the capacity to be more fully restorative than a process that is begun or premised on something less than full acknowledgment of responsibility. While acknowledgement of responsibility by the wrongdoer is one of the minimum requirements for a matter to be referred to restorative justice in the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, other

restorative justice programs, most notably in New Zealand, have a differently articulated threshold for such acknowledgment. Factors unique to the policing context (such as professional implications or union pressures) might deter officers from explicitly acknowledging responsibility if this is understood as admitting to having committed an act of wrongdoing. For various reasons, the value-laden practice requirement for the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, that full responsibility be acknowledged (i.e. the officer acknowledges having committed the act alleged to constitute wrongdoing), is not necessarily appropriate for a police complaints context.

It seems that fully restorative justice processes are possible, like in New Zealand, if an officer declines to deny responsibility³⁹⁷ for the alleged act of wrongdoing. This formulation takes account of the fact that the officer may feel unable or unwilling to frame their involvement in the act in a manner similar to that in the criminal justice system (i.e., "pleading guilty"); however, it enables the officer to engage in a restorative justice process by asserting that they will not state outright that they did *not* commit an act of wrongdoing. In a policing context, the semantics of responsibility are significant. Roche comments on police officers' communication modes in the context of allegations of wrongdoing:

Although police are practiced at conforming to [the modes of communication formally recognized as legally valid], they too may benefit from the opportunity to express themselves more freely. For instance, when an offender alleges that a police officer has used excessive force, the officer is able to give his side of the

³⁹⁵ For this reason, it is important to establish parameters for how the information is used if the restorative justice process is unsuccessful.

³⁹⁶ This differs than a guilty plea through the criminal justice system but is more than "declining to deny".

³⁹⁷ Braithwaite and Parker, supra note 18.

³⁹⁴ Braithwaite and Parker, *supra* note 18 at 107. As noted at *supra* note 18, restorative justice in New Zealand may be accessed by "declining to deny" rather than a straightforward admission of responsibility.

story straight away, in a way that explains the pressures on police (of which the public is often unaware). 398

In the example cited by Roche, there may be no denial that excessive force was used (and indeed, this constitutes an act of wrongdoing). If the officer in this example declines to deny responsibility, the officer's subjective views on the context in which the wrongdoing occurred (i.e., the pressures on the officer contributed to his or her use of excessive force) become relevant to their very assertion of their commission of the act. In this way, the officer has effectively – although implicitly – acknowledged that wrongdoing has occurred. This may be compared to Braithwaite's discussion of passive responsibility ³⁹⁹ as outlined in Chapter 3, and therefore restorative justice processes that are available when one declines to deny responsibility have the potential to be fully restorative.

It is likely that the bulk of police complaints fall into a category in which wrongdoing is perceived to have occurred but the interpretation of the incident (the meaning of the act) differs between the complainant and the officer complained of. This has implications for whether -- and the degree to which -- the officer is willing or able to acknowledge responsibility for the act. The nature of police work sometimes renders it difficult, both objectively and in the officer's subjective opinion, to assess whether wrongdoing has occurred. For example, factors taken into account by an officer in making a stop may be highly contentious. Writing on this issue, Roche draws upon David Bayley's observation that,

Many complaints (about police) are matters of misunderstanding rather than real misconduct. They can be cleared up through frank discussions between police and citizens. Often citizens only want to express their point of view, to vent their

³⁹⁸ Roche, *supra* note 211 at 141.

³⁹⁹ Braithwaite and Roche, *supra* note 323 at 64.

sense of grievance, while officers want citizens to know why they really had no choice and had to do what they $\mathrm{did.}^{400}$

Although Roche is alluding to discussions which may flow out of a restorative justice process involving a different wrongdoer (i.e. the discussion of perceptions of police wrongdoing would be incidental to a process considering a different case of wrongdoing), his observations illustrate how there could be value in restorative processes involving the police and community even where the fact of wrongdoing is not clear. In other words, the different perspectives of police officers and members of the public, particularly in the context of contentious interactions, create a climate ripe for misunderstanding and misinterpretation. Recalling the discussion in Chapter 3 of relational truth, this situation illustrates the great value in a process that can accept both perspectives. Therefore, it is useful to consider whether – and how – restorative justice principles could apply to police complaints when there is a lower threshold for acknowledging responsibility for the wrongdoing.

The jurisdictions which allow for restorative justice processes in circumstances in which the concept of "responsibility" does not necessarily ascribe "guilt" at the outset⁴⁰¹ have recognized the value of processes that embody elements of restorative justice as fact-finding exercises.⁴⁰² One of the reasons why "informal resolution" initiatives of various administrative agencies may be considered so widely successful is the fact that many complaints are the result of misunderstandings. Informal processes can enable a meaningful clarification of communication breakdowns. Expanding these processes to

⁴⁰⁰ Roche, *supra* note 211 at 130.

⁴⁰¹ Supra note 18.

Braithwaite and Parker, *supra* note 18 at 107. As noted earlier, in New Zealand, restorative justice may be accessed by "declining to deny" rather than a straightforward admission of responsibility.

embrace principles of restorative justice, such as the inclusion of the community, can better offer context and improve responses to such instances.

There is a significant amount of value in drawing upon principles of restorative justice to address allegations of police wrongdoing when the acknowledgment of responsibility has a low threshold, such as a basic agreement of facts (e.g., acknowledging one's presence at the time of the alleged incidents), even if such processes are not able to be fully restorative. It is useful to recall from Chapter 1 that relational damage between police and communities can result from a perception of police wrongdoing, regardless of whether wrongdoing has, in fact, occurred. A simple dismissal of the complaint does not satisfy the complainant or his or her community/communities absent some opportunity to voice concerns. Therefore, processes that embody elements of restorative justice can be appropriately applied as exercises aimed at clarifying, understanding and interpreting facts, and can repair harm caused by perceptions of police wrongdoing in situations where wrongdoing is not acknowledged. Further, a discussion of the perception of wrongdoing, through a process incorporating elements of restorative justice, might confirm that wrongdoing has in fact occurred, and this can result in the acknowledgement, by the alleged wrongdoer, of responsibility. This can lead to a process that has the potential to be fully restorative. Alternatively, it may lead to a discovery that wrongdoing did not happen, possibly negating the need for further restorative justice processes.403

⁴⁰³ As noted earlier, there may be circumstances in which harm to the relationship between the police and community has resulted from a perception that wrongdoing has occurred. Such situations may be addressed through processes structured upon restorative justice principles even if they do not constitute "fully" restorative processes.

What would be required to enter into a restoratively-oriented process in which the requirements are something less than full acknowledgement of responsibility? At minimum, it would require some basic consensus on facts. For example, both the police officer and the complainant would need to have been present at the event; otherwise it would be very difficult to find issues to deliberate. Restoratively-oriented processes, it seems, would work best where the facts are not in dispute but the interpretation of such facts is contentious. However, there would not need to be an absolute agreement on what happened. If there is no basic consensus on facts, then it is difficult to conceive of the value of restorative justice processes and it seems that a different process would be required in such circumstances.⁴⁰⁴

Out of recognition of the potential value that a restoratively-oriented process can bring to police-community relationships, it would be appropriate for the standard for acknowledgment of responsibility to be similar to one in which declining to deny responsibility suffices. As noted earlier, this still allows for fully restorative justice processes. Additionally, the unique context offered by policing would benefit from processes that may only partially be restorative, and it is possible to implement such processes with a lower degree of acknowledgment of responsibility (e.g., basic agreement on facts or acknowledgment of mutual presence during the incidents in question) than required by the Nova Scotia restorative justice program.

⁴⁰⁴ In other words, it appears that situations in which there is no basic agreement on the facts and there has been no acknowledgment of responsibility would not be appropriate for a restorative justice process.

Discursive Interaction

Truth-telling

The discussion above relating to varying formulations of, and thresholds for, acknowledging responsibility should not be construed as permitting dishonesty. Restorative justice recognizes that a variety of "truths" may surround an event. This is particularly the case for issues raised in police complaints. As noted above, police officers may have entirely different perspectives on events than members of the public. In exercising discretion, they often factor in considerations relating to personal and public safety, and may have information that is not readily available to the public. For this reason, the interpretation of an incident may vary drastically between the police and the public. Therefore, a process that respects and accepts multiple perspectives on "truth" can be particularly beneficial in this context.

Police officers operate within a strictly regulated legal system and interface with lawyers regularly. However, as Chapter 3 has illustrated, restorative justice theory demands that participants speak on their own behalf. In addition to monitoring legal processes for compliance with rights protections, lawyers are responsible for ensuring that the versions of "truth" advanced by their clients are best framed to further their interests before the legal system. If lawyers were to speak on behalf of police officers during restorative justice processes, versions of events could be obscured (e.g., by omitting information or highlighting information). This impedes the ability of the process to be restorative, not only because it might obscure truth, but because it is not engaged in response to harm to relationships.⁴⁰⁵ It is thus imperative that restorative justice processes aimed at responding to police complaints ensure that professionals do not speak on behalf of

⁴⁰⁵ Again, the evidentiary privilege rule of s. 717 (4) of the *Criminal Code*, supra note 121, becomes an essential protection. See also *infra* note 414.

those affected by wrongdoing. While they may have some role in the process, it should be limited insofar as it interferes with discursive exchanges. Restorative justice demands free and open sharing of one's version of the events, and can accommodate a variety of "truths"; as such, it requires that parties speak on their own behalf.

Deliberative Consensus-Building

Similar to the approach taken in the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, the opportunity for transformation through discursive analysis of issues underlying police complaints can only be fulfilled with context-responsive processes. The transformative potential in a deliberative encounter examining allegations of police wrongdoing is enhanced by flexible structure. This includes specifically and explicitly selecting community members for their potential to promote social equality, and ensuring that the facilitator can identify areas of concern and appropriately guide the discussion within its context. A failure to include community members who are well-situated to identify important issues could serve to reinforce – or exacerbate – the strained relations between the police and the public. Further, a facilitator who adheres to general and closed scripts (and thus the process is not deliberative) cannot draw out the nuances raised by the incident and the process. Because the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is coordinated by the provincial Department of Justice, it offers opportunities for centralized training, which can enhance consistency in ensuring that facilitators are best equipped to encourage appropriate discursive exchanges.

As this discussion has shown, restorative justice is highly appropriate for the context of police complaints. The practice model promulgated by the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is generally conducive to police complaints. There are, however, some

issues unique to policing that demand a slightly varied model for practice. Chapter 5, below, examines these issues and considers the opportunities within, and challenges presented by, the present police complaints framework as articulated in the *Police Act* and associated regulations.

The previous chapter has illustrated how issues emerging from restorative justice theory could have an impact upon the various responses to breakdowns in relations between the police and the public generally. Drawing on that discussion, this chapter explores the applicability of these conceptual issues to complaints against the Halifax Regional Police pursuant to the *Police Act*. It examines the feasibility of implementing restorative justice processes within the current legislative framework for police complaints, identifying compatibilities and challenges, and proposing some modifications to this framework which could facilitate more restorative processes. Finally, it articulates the mechanism by which accountability for restorative justice processes in this context could be safeguarded.

Conceptual Applicability

As the *Johnson Inquiry* and associated reports have illustrated, the Halifax Regional Police have historically had a difficult relationship with one specific community, the African Nova Scotian community; such difficulties can be caused or exacerbated by instances and allegations of police wrongdoing. The Halifax Regional Police have expressly articulated a commitment to community policing objectives and, as illustrated above, social equality is an appropriate aim under this policing paradigm. Social equality, then, is not only compatible with, but beneficial to the work carried out by the Halifax Regional Police and as such, is a suitable objective of a process involving that force.

Recalling that restorative justice process structures are informed by its aim of social equality, it is useful to review parameters for appropriate outcomes. As previous chapters have noted, restorative justice processes must not take punishment as their goal. The fact that police operate in a generally punitive context does not diminish the importance of non-punishment in restorative justice processes involving them. There should be a broad range of (non-punitive) outcomes - indeed, the options should be limitless - because restoration in each unique circumstance will require different types of remedial action.

The existing framework for police complaints that applies to the Halifax Regional Police illustrates how the legislation provides for some responses that may be considered punitive in nature whereas others may be characterized, at least in part, as restorative. The allowable penalties for disciplinary defaults by a "member other than the chief officer" are outlined at section 25 of the regulations. 406 Section 25 provides an overview of such penalties, which include dismissal; an order to resign; reduction in rank, seniority or pay, suspension without pay; imposition of a fine; a period of close supervision; a reprimand; an order for counseling, treatment or training; or any other order that the chief deems appropriate.407 These are quite broad and, as is apparent in the options for counseling, treatment or training, do not necessarily take punishment as their goal. Some of these outcomes may indeed reflect terms likely to emerge from restorative justice processes. However, they appear to be exhaustive insofar as the parties do not have the opportunity to devise their own unique and context-responsive agreements. The only avenues for additional outcomes are at the discretion of the chief (which could

⁴⁰⁶ Police Regulations, supra note 84. ⁴⁰⁷ Ibid., s.25.

include a recommendation for a restorative justice process). This is a limitation for restorative justice processes in a police complaints context. For a process to be fully restorative, the parties should have full discretion to determine the outcomes.

Once it is clear what the objectives and outcomes should be in theory, in order to guide practice structure, then consideration must be given to practice administration. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program promulgates a community-based state-supported model for the administration of practice, a model which is strongly rooted in theory. Complaints against the police raise additional concerns relating to practice administration, because of the role frequently played by the police in the administration of restorative justice practice in a criminal justice context, and because the police are agents of the state. These issues raise questions relating to the ability of the police to impartially administer restorative justice processes involving the police as wrongdoers.

The practice of restorative justice for complaints against the Halifax Regional Police, then, should be run by locally-based community justice agencies. Agencies similar to those presently administering the Nova Scotia restorative justice program could be developed pursuant to the model currently in place. Alternatively, the agencies which presently operate in the province pursuant to the criminal justice system could extend their mandates to consider allegations of wrongdoing pursuant to the *Police Act*. While it might seem efficient for restorative justice processes for complaints against the Halifax Regional Police to be administered by the Halifax Community Justice Agency, that agency has regular contact with the Halifax Regional Police through its current program

⁴⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, s. 25(i).

⁴¹⁰ For example, see programs described at *supra* note 382.

Notably, these outcomes are outlined in the regulations rather than the legislation and are thus can more easily modified to offer non-exhaustive guidelines.

(i.e., through the youth criminal justice system) and thus raises the potential for conflicts of interest. Therefore, it may, at least in some circumstances, be considered appropriate for practice to be administered by another agency within the province but still involve members from the local community.

The community justice agency tasked with administering restorative justice practice in response to complaints against the Halifax Regional Police can ensure that appropriately comprised community representation is reflected in the process. As previous chapters have noted, there may be many different communities affected by instances and allegations of police wrongdoing and many communities may be important for restoration (including communities of care, geographically defined communities, etc.). In a policing context, support communities may include union representation. Complaints against the Halifax Regional Police might generally include the Professional Standards Office to ensure it is able to contribute its interests and perspectives (i.e., as they pertain to the resolution of conflict between the police and the community) to the process.

Additionally, depending on the nature of the allegation, the Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission's proactive, educational division⁴¹¹ may be able to offer significant contributions relating to consideration of whether an act may be considered "wrongdoing," and may further be able to offer input into potentially restorative agreements.

The inclusion of community, as well as the deliberative process and the agreements emerging from meetings, may challenge present frameworks for complaints against the Halifax Regional Police relating to confidentiality. The *Police Act* makes few assertions

⁴¹¹ A dedicated section of the Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission, "Race Relations and Affirmative Action," provides policy and educational services in furtherance of the aims of the *Human Rights Act*, *supra* note 1.

about confidentiality and, although the processes described here are treated as though they are confidential, this is not legislatively mandated. Notably, there is no comment in the legislation or regulations relating to confidentiality during the process. Section 51 of the *Police Act* provides that meetings of the Municipal Board of Police Commissioners are public but there is discretion for these meetings to be closed for some issues including discipline and personnel conduct. Under section 65, the same discretion applies to meetings of the Police Advisory Boards. Further, hearings of the police review boards may be closed to the public if the Review Board determines that exclusion is appropriate or if the hearing considers a matter relating to internal discipline. Although the present legislative framework relating to confidentiality allows, theoretically, for information on a process under the *Act* to be released (excluding the point noted above), practice on this issue would need some consideration.

As discussed in previous chapters, restorative justice processes generally should not be confidential and this is particularly the case in a process aimed at restoring relations between the police and public. Indeed, accessibility to the broader community of such a process is an important component of its potential to be restorative. Therefore, to implement restorative justice in the context of a basically confidential framework requires some careful consideration of the ways that information may be used, particularly in the event that a restorative justice process is unsuccessful. Evidentiary privilege is one way of asserting some control on the way that information emerging from one process may impact upon another.⁴¹⁴ Furthermore, confidentiality parameters may be established by

⁴¹³ Police Act, supra note 83, s.76.

This becomes notable because of the role the information may play at a further stage in the process.

⁴¹⁴ The *Criminal Code*, *supra* note 121, at section 717(4) and sections 9 and 10 of the Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, establish that matters emerging from extrajudicial sanctions are inadmissible as evidence. There is also protection at common

the parties as part of a restorative justice process, enabling such protections to be determined in response to the particular context of that process.

What types of allegations against the Halifax Regional Police would be suitable for a response under restorative justice? Restorative justice can offer an appropriate response to all forms of wrongdoing contemplated by the Police Act. The apparently limitless range of formats for such "investigations" into any matter relating to the administration of justice ("in such manner as [the Minister] may specify")415 is highly conducive to the application of restorative justice processes because it can respond to broad and systemic concerns. Further, members of the public can enter a complaints process by making allegations of police wrongdoing. The scope of wrongdoing considered to constitute "disciplinary defaults" under the Police Act is very comprehensive including ethical and professional standards, human rights obligations and matters contemplated by criminal legislation. Although there are presently restrictions on the complaints process when matters are considered through criminal processes (i.e., the complaints process is suspended), all of these issues could be considered in restorative justice processes. 416 Generally, restorative justice should be

law protecting privilege in the context of dispute resolution. Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant have discussed "Communications in furtherance of settlement," noting, "the courts have protected from disclosure communications, whether written or oral, made with a view to reconciliation or settlement." They state, "the principle of exclusion was enunciated in two early Ontario cases," which they cite as York (County) v. Toronto Gravel Road & Concrete Co. (1882), 3 O.R. 584, and Pirie v. Wyld, (1886), 11 O.R. 422. See John Sopinka, Sidney N. Lederman, Q.C., Alan W. Bryant, The Law of Evidence in Canada (Toronto and Vancouver: Butterworths, 1992) at 719. ⁴¹⁵ *Police Act, supra* note 83, s. 7(2).

The Supreme Court of Canada, in adopting a passage from the reasons of the Ontario Court of Appeal, has indicated that "A single act may have more than one aspect, and it may give rise to more than one legal consequence. It may, if it constitutes a breach of the duty a person owes to society, amount to a crime....it may also involve a breach of the duties of one's office or calling, in which event the actor must account to his professional peers." The court determined that the prosecution of a police officer for a criminal offence does not preclude disciplinary proceedings as well, and thus does not

available for all types of instances and allegations of wrongdoing committed by the Halifax Regional Police including that emerging from Ministerial responses, all forms of disciplinary defaults under the *Police Act*, and issues considered under criminal legislation.

Although the range of wrongdoing that is identified in Chapter 3 as appropriate for restorative justice is very broad, it is important to recall that it may not be appropriate to consider every single allegation of wrongdoing in restorative justice processes. Some, for example, may offer no basis to proceed with a restorative process such as those in which there is no basic agreement on facts (e.g., the officer in question was not present for the event alleged, or refuses to acknowledge responsibility and/or wants his or her "day in court"). The Professional Standards Office could play an important initial screening function to assess and resolve or refer those for which restorative processes would be impossible or inappropriate.

The acknowledgment, by the wrongdoer, of responsibility is widely considered to be an important starting point for restorative justice processes; however, as Chapter 4 has observed, this should be flexible in a policing context. Previous chapters have illustrated how the ADR-based informal resolution approach taken by the Halifax Regional Police may allow for matters to be settled without the same truth-telling opportunities afforded in restorative justice processes; further, adversarial processes serve as incentives to circumscribe details of events and frame issues in ways that are legally relevant as

violate constitutional protections under section 11(d) of the *Charter*, *supra* note 70, not to be tried twice for the same offence. *R. v. Wigglesworth* [1987] 2 S.C.R. 541. However, there is no reason why the different aspects of an act of wrongdoing could not be addressed in a restorative justice process. Indeed, restorative justice is particularly conducive to the exploration of the different types of harm that arise from wrongdoing. However, the Nova Scotia restorative justice program does not presently apply to adults involved in the criminal justice system.

opposed to presenting them as subjective experience. While the *Police Act* may contemplate opportunities for officers complained of to acknowledge responsibility for wrongdoing, it, too, allows for no such acknowledgment. Further, the intersection of informal with adversarial processes has implications for truth-telling. If a restorative justice process is undertaken, but the parties are aware of the fact that the "fall-back" is adversarial, there may be barriers to the amount of information that is voluntarily shared. While the "informal resolution" as described in the preceding chapters as facilitated by the Professional Standards Office often involves a "face-to-face meeting," this is not necessarily always the case. The subsequent stages in the complaints process do not provide for discursive interaction. Without clear parameters on how information emerging from a restorative justice process could later be used, there may be some hesitation -- particularly on the part of the alleged wrongdoer -- to fully engage in a restorative justice process (and correspondingly, to acknowledge responsibility) out of concern for how this information could impact subsequent disciplinary proceedings if restorative justice is unsuccessful.

⁴¹⁹ Halifax Regional Police, supra note 79.

⁴¹⁷ For example, subsections 44(3), (4) and (5) of the regulations provide, "...If a disciplinary authority decides that the evidence gathered in an investigation discloses that the member may have committed a disciplinary default, the disciplinary authority must immediately serve a notice on the member in the prescribed form... they are to appear at a private meeting in which they ...must be given an opportunity to...hear the results of the investigation; and...admit or deny the allegation."

This becomes particularly pertinent when confidentially parameters are unclear. Further, if subsequent to a restorative justice process, someone recants on what they shared (ostensibly as "truth") in that process, this may cause further damage to the relationship.

Framework for Implementation

Restorative Justice under Ministerial Directive

As Chapter 2 has noted, one way that allegations of police wrongdoing by the public could be addressed is under an order by the Minister of Justice. Pursuant to section 7(1) of the *Police Act*, "the Minister may order an investigation into any matter relating to policing and law enforcement in the Province, including an investigation respecting the operation and administration of a police department." While some parameters are set for such action, these are very broad and therefore it appears possible to implement restorative justice processes in two ways without the need for legislative changes.

The first way that restorative justice processes could be applied under these provisions would be to conduct the "investigation" pursuant to the principles of restorative justice.

Because the format for this process is completely at the discretion of the Minister, 420 such an investigation could take any format.

The second way that restorative justice processes could be applied under these provisions would be to consider the "investigation" as authorized by the Minister to be a way of assessing appropriateness for restorative justice processes. For example, such an investigation could involve assessing relational damage caused by the situation in question, and considering whether there is some acknowledgment of responsibility for the incident. The Minister is authorized to take "whatever action the Minister considers appropriate" to rectify deficiencies identified in the course of this investigation.

Therefore, in instances where there appears to be damage to the relationship between

⁴²⁰ Police Act, supra note 83, s. 7.

⁴²¹ *Ibid*.

the police and the community, and the circumstances appear otherwise conducive to restorative justice, the Minister can recommend a restorative justice process.

Naturally, as in other cases, the degree to which such a process could be restorative depends on many factors specific to the case, such as the degree to which responsibility is acknowledged (or denial is declined), and willingness of the parties to participate. The scope of such a process would depend on the scope of harm and so broader or systemic allegations of wrongdoing would likely require the involvement of more parties and more comprehensive deliberations.

Under each of these approaches, or a combination of both, there is the opportunity for fully restorative justice processes. These are possible under the current provisions in the *Police Act*. Further to discussions emerging from the previous chapter, this process would most appropriately be administered by a community justice agency.

Although these options are possible under the *Police Act* (and the authority is sufficiently broad to encompass allegations of all types of wrongdoing), their political accessibility and practical feasibility seem less clear. It seems unlikely that the Minister of Justice would call for such a review unless there were a broad public interest at stake and there were corresponding public or political pressures for a response. Section 7 of the *Police Act* would likely only be exercised in extraordinary situations in which the wrongdoing alleged is particularly egregious or systemic, and/or the relational damage is particularly severe; indeed, the apparent legislative intent for this authority to be restricted to more serious or systemic concerns would be undermined if it were used to replicate or replace the other police accountability frameworks. Finally, while this authority is perhaps the most compatible with the application of restorative justice processes because no

legislative changes would be required (i.e., because the processes flowing from such authority are not defined), it can only be called for by the Minister of Justice. That is, processes under this authority can only be initiated by the Minister. Therefore, although members of the public would be involved in such a restorative justice process, they have little control (aside from lobbying) over whether a matter would, in fact, be considered in this way.

Restorative Justice under Public Complaints Process

The public complaints process is an essential component of the police accountability framework, particularly where police – public relationships are concerned, because the process itself is initiated by the public. The complaints process outlined in the *Police Act* may be infused with restorative justice principles. Significantly, as seen by the fact that it is mandatory to attempt resolution, there is no legislated or institutional barrier to informal responses. Moreover, the format of the informal resolution process is not delineated and thus could be structured so as to reflect principles of restorative justice. In spite of these compatibilities, the possibility of such processes to be fully restorative is impeded by its present format.

To illustrate the challenges and opportunities inherent in the existing process, it is useful to recapitulate the path of a public complaint against a Halifax Regional Police officer (not including the chief) as it passes through this process. Although a complaint may be filed with a few different bodies, it will be referred to the Professional Standards Officer who will attempt to resolve the matter informally. If this is unsuccessful, a formal investigation is undertaken by the Professional Standards Officer. The outcome of this investigation may be appealed to the Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner, who again must attempt to resolve the complaint – and this process may include an

investigation. If the matter is still not resolved, it may be referred to the Nova Scotia Police Review Board for a hearing. This process illustrates that, at various stages, the *Police Act* mandates that attempts be made to resolve concerns informally. Where attempts at informal resolution are unsuccessful, they are followed by formal investigative responses.

Upon first glance, it may seem possible for restorative justice processes to be conducted at the various options for "informal resolution" through this process, particularly since informal resolution is not defined in the *Police Act*. That is, the informal response attempted by the Professional Standards Officer -- which is presently modeled on ADR approaches -- could be designed to reflect restoratively oriented or restorative justice processes. If unsuccessful, this could be followed by a formal investigation. An appeal of the outcome of this investigation could again result in a restorative justice process at the level of the Complaints Commissioner, which could, if unsuccessful, then be followed by another formal investigation. If that investigation is unsuccessful, it would then go to the Review Board for a hearing.

This structure, however, conceives of restorative justice as a simple process that could be inserted in the context of an adversarial framework, rather than a theory of justice. Restorative justice understood as a theory of justice informs the entire approach to, and conception of, justice itself. Justice as such is aimed at restoring relationships. Adversarial processes exacerbate the relational damage caused by wrongdoing. If the process which is intended to respond to allegations of wrongdoing (i.e., the "investigative" stages) causes harm to the relationship (e.g., through adversarial approaches and punitive outcomes), the potential for subsequent restorative justice

The details of this path are discussed in greater detail in Chapter 2.

processes to restore the relationship is undermined. Although many successful restorative justice programs, ⁴²³ including the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, are situated an adversarial context (i.e., the traditional criminal justice system), the potential for full restoration may be circumscribed – particularly if the relationship to be restored is broad, as is the case following police wrongdoing.

The challenge in this context is to assess whether it is possible to respect the continuum of the process set out in the *Police Act* without allowing one stage to harm the relationship to such a degree as to render it incompatible with restorative justice at a later stage. The following pages provide a breakdown of the different avenues and stages in the complaints process, and identify opportunities within the current complaints framework for applying restorative justice processes. As noted earlier, the process for a complaint that is made against a police officer differs from one against the chief and therefore their opportunities for restorative justice are considered separately.

Complaints against a Police Officer

When a complaint is made against a Halifax Regional Police officer, it is referred by the receiving body to the Professional Standards Officer, who attempts to resolve the complaint in an informal manner. At present, this is an ADR or settlement-based approach and is considered to be confidential. A matter is considered resolved when a resolution to a complaint is proposed by one of the parties, and the complainant and the officer agree to the proposed resolution. While this process is similar to restorative justice insofar as the outcomes are not defined (in terms of developing a plan for resolution), the parties are generally restricted to the complainant and the officer complained of; the facilitator for this process is the Professional Standards Officer.

⁴²³ See, for example, other programs, at *supra* note 382.

Previous chapters have articulated concerns relating to settlement (e.g., it may not enable the broader or systemic issues to be discussed meaningfully) and the importance, in restorative justice, of the involvement of the community. This structure is very limited in its opportunities to meaningfully address relational breakdowns between the police and the public generally.

There is some room for infusing restorative justice processes at this stage. The restrictions relating to confidentiality and participants (i.e., exclusion of the community)⁴²⁴ are practice-driven or defined in the regulations rather than the legislation and it would seem feasible to modify these practices to be more restoratively-oriented, such as through broader inclusion in the process. Even if, however, this could be modified to enable a restorative justice process, there are concerns with its administration by the Professional Standards Office. As chapters 3 and 4 have argued, restorative justice practice, particularly in the context of police complaints, should not be run by policing or state agencies; rather, a community justice agency would offer an appropriate body to coordinate restorative justice practice in response to suitable situations.

The Professional Standards Office could, however, play an important screening function to assess appropriateness of situations for restorative justice processes, not unlike one of the options under a Ministerial response discussed above. Issues for evaluation could include, for example, an assessment of whether there is some acknowledgment of responsibility and whether the parties are willing and able to take part in restorative

⁴²⁴ Notably, this delineation of the parties is drawn from the regulations and is thus more easily modifiable than if it had been outlined in the actual *Police Act*.

justice processes. Previous chapters have suggested that certain types of cases are more appropriate for restorative justice processes than others. 425

Under the current framework, if a matter is not resolved through informal resolution, the Professional Standards Office is not authorized to refer it to another body such as a community justice agency but rather, must carry out an investigation into the matter. The Professional Standards Office could, however, facilitate an approach that reflects principles of restorative justice. Upon determining that a matter would be appropriately considered in a restorative justice process, the Professional Standards Office could facilitate an agreement between the complainant and the officer that they will participate in a restorative justice process. This option would allow the legislative parameters to be respected while offering the opportunity to have the matter considered in a restorative justice forum. The community justice agency would then undertake their own process. Such an agreement to participate in a restorative justice process would need, it seems, to have some monitoring mechanism to ensure that the parties do indeed participate. This could be done by the Professional Standards Office.

If a matter had not initially been referred to restorative justice (and/or had not otherwise been resolved), the Professional Standards Office would be required to proceed with its investigation. The nature of such an investigation is not defined in the *Police Act* nor is it defined in the regulations, but the options for dealing with the matter are articulated. Under the present process, if it is determined that the member may have

⁴²⁶ Police Regulations, supra note 84, s. 35.

⁴²⁵ This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 4.

⁴²⁷ The Regulations, *ibid.*, provide, at s. 42(1)(a), that the investigator must submit a report to the disciplinary authority indicating "whether, in the investigator's opinion, the evidence proves that the member has committed a disciplinary default…[and] if applicable, any organizational or administrative practices of the police department that

committed a disciplinary default, a formal meeting with the disciplinary authority is mandated⁴²⁸ at which point the officer complained of has the opportunity to admit or deny the allegations. If an officer acknowledges responsibility at this stage, the disciplinary authority is obliged to impose a penalty specified in section 25 of the *Act*. ⁴²⁹

If wrongdoing is determined or acknowledged, section 25 of the regulations lists the penalties when the alleged wrongdoer is an officer (not the chief). As noted earlier in this chapter, while the penalty options do appear to contemplate some outcomes that are restorative rather than punitive, such as training or therapy, ⁴³⁰ this imposed and punitive approach is clearly incompatible with restorative justice. For these reasons, the investigation as outlined in the *Police Act* appears to allow little room to be structured as a restorative justice process. The process of investigation could incorporate some elements of restorative justice (e.g., as a deliberative fact-finding exercise), but the predetermination, and imposition, of outcomes undermines the objective in restorative justice to be context-responsive.

There is one way that this stage could lead to a restoratively-oriented process. Under the penalties articulated in section 25 of the regulations, the chief officer is authorized to make "any order not included in [the list of options for disposition of the matter] that the chief officer considers appropriate." Under this authority, the chief could refer the matter

the investigator identifies as factors that may have caused or contributed to the alleged disciplinary default."

⁴²⁸ *Police Act, supra* note 83, s. 44(1).

⁴²⁹ Police Regulations, supra note 84, provide at s.25 (h) that a penalty can include "an order that the member undergo counselling, treatment or training acceptable to the chief officer, the expense of the counselling, treatment or training to be assumed by the police department."

⁴³⁰ Ibid.

to a restorative justice process to be administered by a community justice agency. This would be similar to the option identified earlier whereby the Minister of Justice would call for a restorative justice process. As noted in that discussion, a restorative justice process would only be attempted if such prerequisites are met as some form of acknowledgment of responsibility and consent to participate.

Complaints against the Chief

Complaints against the chief of police are handled similarly; however, they are not reviewed by the Professional Standards Office. They are dealt with by the local Municipal Board of Police Commissioners. The board that reviews complaints against the chief of the Halifax Regional Police is the Halifax Regional Municipality Board of Police Commissioners.

Like in the process generally for complaints against police officers other than the chief, the investigative process as set out in the *Police Act* for complaints against the chief is adversarial and thus is not conducive to the application of restorative justice processes. Upon determination that a chief has committed a default, the options for penalties are listed at section 26 of the regulations. The imposition of a penalty upon the chief, however, is discretionary, whereas the imposition of a penalty upon a member other than the chief who is determined to having committed a disciplinary default is mandatory. Pursuant to section 26(f) of the regulations, the Board has discretion to impose "any order not included in [the list of options for disposition of the matter] that [it] considers appropriate." This, again, affords the opportunity to refer the matter to restorative justice processes.

Nova Scotia Police Complaints Commissioner

As Chapter 2 has explained, the Complaints Commissioner is the civilian oversight body that monitors the processes following complaints against officers or police chiefs, and offers external review of a matter that has not been resolved at an earlier stage and for which such review has been requested. In the event that there had been a restorative justice process that had been thought to be flawed or has failed, the Complaints Commissioner may infuse some elements of restorative justice into its efforts to resolve the matter. This is also possible where a previous adversarial process has been unsuccessful. The *Police Act* implies that, at this stage, the delineation between "informal resolution" and investigative response is less clear:

74 (1) Upon receipt of a complaint from the board or chief officer pursuant to [prior stages in the process], the Complaints Commissioner shall attempt to resolve the complaint.

(2) In attempting to resolve the complaint, the Complaints Commissioner may investigate the complaint or designate another person to investigate the complaint and report to the Complaints Commissioner.⁴³¹

The parameters for the investigative process are not rigidly defined and therefore could be designed to reflect elements of restorative justice.

At the outset of this thesis it was observed that one way that restorative justice could be used in the context of police complaints is in response to allegations acknowledged to be false. This situation causes harm to the relationship between the police and the public. While the Complaints Commissioner is unable to refer a matter to a review board in this situation, there does not appear to be an exclusion for the Complaints Commissioner to attempt to address a matter that is determined or to be frivolous or vexatious, pursuant

⁴³¹ Police Act, supra note 83.

to section 74(4).⁴³² It is noted that in such instances the Minister of Justice could also call for a restorative justice process.

Because the fall-back for the Complaints Commissioner process, a Review Board hearing, is adversarial, there must be very careful consideration of how information that may emerge from a restorative justice process could be used in subsequent processes. The challenges of confidential and "without prejudice" processes have been discussed at length in this thesis. As noted earlier, however, it may be important to establish some parameters around the use of information that has come from a restoratively-oriented process at this stage. For example, it may be considered necessary to restrict information-sharing, such as to delay publication of information relating to the process until it is clear that the fall-back options will not be accessed. Otherwise, it would be a challenge to ensure the parties are truthfully engaging in a restorative justice process.

Complaints Process and Criminal Investigations

A further consideration of the applicability of restorative justice to these processes is as they relate to allegations of criminal wrongdoing. The *Police Act*, at section 70(3), mandates suspension of the complaints process pending a criminal investigation or proceeding. The *Police Act* complaints framework, then, does not allow for a complaints process to proceed if any of the alleged wrongdoing is considered through the criminal justice system. There is not presently a possibility for restorative justice processes to be

⁴³² *Ibid.* Section 74 (4) provides, "Where the Complaints Commissioner is unable to resolve the complaint, the complaint shall be referred to the Review Board in accordance with the regulations unless the Complaints Commissioner is satisfied that the complaint is frivolous or vexatious, and the Review Board shall conduct a hearing in respect of the complaint." This does not mandate dismissal and therefore it may be possible to consider a situation whereby the Complaints Commissioner could retain some authority over a matter to address it as a false complaint.

⁴³³ This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 1.

applied to wrongdoing alleged to be criminal outside the process described above because the program is restricted to youth and then, only after it has been considered by the criminal justice system.⁴³⁴

Fall-Backs when Restorative Justice is not Successful

It is important to consider the mechanisms for redress, or the "fall-back" options when restorative justice processes are unsuccessful. The Nova Scotia restorative justice program has, as its fall-back, the criminal justice system. Given that there are various referral stages for the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, the fall-back would return to the level from which the matter was referred. For example, if it was referred by the Crown, then a breakdown in restorative justice would result in the matter being returned to the Crown. The fall-back for restorative justice processes for police complaints at any of the levels articulated earlier would similarly depend on the level at which that process had been initiated. In other words, if restorative justice is initiated at the level of the Professional Standards Office, a breakdown would result in the matter being returned to the formal process at that level (i.e., to the Professional Standards Office). As the oversight body, the Complaints Commissioner would be a very important mechanism for ensuring that a matter is considered and reviewed at the appropriate level. If the breakdown happens at the level of the Complaints Commissioner, the fall-back would be to return it to that level, with the Review Board to follow. The issues discussed earlier relating to evidentiary privilege, to secure some control over the use of information from a restorative justice process in subsequent proceedings, becomes relevant at this stage in the process. While it might not be ideal, from a theoretical standpoint, to allow adversarial processes to precede or follow restorative justice processes due to their

The limitation is due to the fact that there is restorative justice is not available for adults in Nova Scotia except through the RCMP process.

ability to exacerbate relational harm, restorative justice programs operating in the context of criminal justice systems, including the Nova Scotia restorative justice program, have successfully managed to mitigate challenges presented by this dialogue between formal and informal processes.⁴³⁵

Proposed Modifications to Current Frameworks

Legislative Amendment

The previous pages have illustrated opportunities within the existing frameworks to incorporate elements of restorative justice. There are, however, several limitations in establishing a process that has the potential to be fully restorative following public complaints. It appears that the preferable way for fully restorative justice processes to be available in response to police complaints would be through an amendment to the *Police Act* authorizing an alternative approach for matters considered appropriate for restorative justice. This could be similar to the statement of principles relating to extrajudicial measures found in the in the Nova Scotia *Youth Justice Act* ⁴³⁶ and the federal *Youth Criminal Justice Act*. ⁴³⁷ The *Youth Justice Act* acknowledges some advantages of such measures and states, at section 5(c), that such measures "should be used if they are adequate to hold a young person accountable for the young person's offending behaviour."

Similarly, an amendment to the *Police Act* could simply assert that restorative justice processes can often provide an effective response to the allegations of police wrongdoing and thus can be exercised in place of the entire police complaints

⁴³⁵ This is discussed in greater detail in Chapter 3.

⁴³⁶ Youth Justice Act, S.N.S. 2001, c. 38.

⁴³⁷ The Youth Criminal Justice Act, supra note 105, mandates consideration of restorative justice in response to youth crime.

⁴³⁸ Youth Justice Act, supra note 436.

framework outlined in the legislation. This would enable the parties to directly access a restorative justice process (i.e., restorative justice would replace the various levels for the process in the current framework). Such a broad assertion would authorize the implementation of such processes while retaining flexibility in order for restorative justice processes to be designed in context-specific ways. A process developed following such an amendment would not be limited by the present parameters presented by the *Police Act* and in particular, by the issues which presently pose barriers to the development of restorative justice practice that reflects theory. By creating an option that fully removes a response from an adversarial context, the options to develop restorative justice practice that reflects theory are greatly enhanced.⁴³⁹ The appropriate body for administering restorative justice practice would continue to be a community justice agency, which would customize practice and ensure that the community is constructed in a manner most conducive to restoration of the particular relational breakdowns.

A legislative amendment authorizing the process outlined in the *Police Act* to be circumvented would not mean, however, that all established frameworks are deemed irrelevant. The existing framework would remain available for situations that are not appropriate for restorative justice. Further, there are roles for those operating in the existing police complaints framework to engage with restorative justice processes in this context. For example, the Professional Standards Office would have a useful role to play in screening and referring, to the community justice agency, appropriate situations. Similarly, it would be highly appropriate for the Complaints Commissioner, as the position dedicated to civilian oversight, to be included as one component of community representation. Although it is clearly not possible (nor, perhaps, appropriate, as outlined in previous chapters) for unrestricted participation in restorative justice processes, the

⁴³⁹ The matter would return to an adversarial process if it fails.

opportunity for certain community members to participate is key to its restorative potential.

As noted at the outset of this thesis, one of the strongest arguments for the application of restorative justice to the practice of police complaints is its potential to address the broader harm (i.e., to the relationship between the police and communities generally) following allegations of police wrongdoing. A legislative amendment authorizing the use of restorative justice in response to police complaints would allow for more comprehensive information-sharing with the community generally, recalling that restrictions on information available to the community regarding the process and agreement hinders the restorative potential of the outcome.

Authorization of Restorative Justice for Adult Offenders

Restorative justice processes are conducive to broad-reaching and contextual discussions and appropriately consider allegations of wrongdoing both within, and outside, the strictly defined criminal justice realm. There is no reason why there should be separate processes for allegations of wrongdoing defined as criminal and for those which are not. The model for restorative justice in the criminal justice context (i.e., the present Nova Scotia restorative justice program) is widely applicable to the issues likely to emerge through a *Police Act* process.

Although the Nova Scotia restorative justice program is currently restricted to youth involved in the criminal justice system, the framework is in place for restorative justice to apply to adults involved in the criminal justice system. The restorative justice program

was designed with section 717 of the *Criminal Code*⁴⁴⁰ in mind, in order to serve as the "alternative measures" authorized by that section. Further, the RCMP presently uses "Community Justice Forums" for adults in Nova Scotia. Once the Nova Scotia restorative justice program has, in place, authorization for adult offenders, then where a matter is considered under the criminal justice system, the existing Nova Scotia restorative justice program could offer an appropriate forum in which to seek restorative responses. It is an excellent model for addressing allegations against police officers of wrongdoing falling under criminal legislation. Therefore, authorization of restorative justice for adult offenders would enable the issues raised through the police complaints process to be considered in tandem with those alleged to be criminal in nature. This would prevent the issues relating to broader relational breakdown from being superseded (and suspended) by the artificial and arbitrary distinction between action considered to be criminal and that which is not.

Accountability Safeguard: the Ombudsman

It is important that any process that responds to wrongdoing, particularly where the alleged wrongdoer is a representative of the state, has accountability safeguards in place. The Nova Scotia Office of the Ombudsman offers a uniquely appropriate body to oversee the practice of restorative justice in response to police complaints. The Ombudsman is mandated to ensure fairness in provincial and municipal government services in the province.⁴⁴¹ Section 11 of the *Ombudsman Act* outlines the scope of review for the Office, noting that the Ombudsman has authority to investigate the administration of a provincial or municipal body or officer.⁴⁴² The Ombudsman has

⁴⁴⁰ Criminal Code, supra note 121.

⁴⁴¹ Ombudsman Act, supra note 135, s. 11.

⁴⁴² Ibid.

authority to respond to a wide range of action or omissions.⁴⁴³ As such, the Ombudsman is uniquely situated to ensure accountability in the administration of restorative justice processes.

It is unclear whether the restorative justice delivery agencies presently fall within the scope of the legislation⁴⁴⁴ as provincial or municipal entities. A recent legislative amendment authorizes the Ombudsman to designate agencies as falling within the scope of the legislation. ⁴⁴⁵ Under this framework, the Governor in Council could add the various restorative justice delivery agencies to this list of agencies, ⁴⁴⁶ and could thus review the administration of practice at that level.

The fact that all the work of the Ombudsman is confidential may serve to relieve the concern identified above regarding the use of information shared through restorative justice processes in subsequent proceedings. Confidentiality is expressly mandated in the *Ombudsman Act*, which provides, at section 16(1), "Every investigation under this Act is to be conducted in private." Further, all staff commit to the protection of this

⁴⁴³ *Ibid.* at s. 20.

Jurisdictional agencies are defined in section 2(a) of the act as "an agency, board, commission, foundation or corporation established under an enactment that (i) is appointed or has a majority of its members appointed by the Governor in Council, a member of the Executive Council or the Province, or (ii) is supported by or directs the expenditure of public funds of the Province and is designated by the Governor in Council."

Due to challenges posed by this restricted definition of "agency", an amendment was recently passed to the *Ombudsman Act* to authorize the creation of Regulations to ensure the Ombudsman has jurisdiction over specific provincially or municipally regulated agencies. This amendment is found at section 28 of the *Ombudsman Act*: "28 (1) The Governor in Council may make Regulations designating an agency, board, commission, foundation or corporation for the purpose of clause (a) of Section 2." Regulations have been established to designate agencies as falling within the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman: made under Section 28 of the *Ombudsman Act* R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 327 O.I.C. 2004-521 (December 21, 2004), N.S. Reg. 253/2004

privacy through oaths of confidentiality. Information provided to the Ombudsman in the context of an investigation is not compellable in court: "Except on the trial of a person for perjury, evidence given by any person in proceedings before the Ombudsman and evidence of any proceeding before the Ombudsman is not admissible against any person in any court or in any proceedings of a judicial nature." The confidentiality of information within the Office of the Ombudsman has another strong protection through other legislation. There is a blanket exclusion on all the work of the office in the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.* This means that there is no right of access by the public to Ombudsman documents.

The potential range of recommendations made by the Ombudsman is limitless and therefore as a review mechanism for restorative justice processes, the opportunities for addressing identified deficiencies in the implementation of restorative justice processes are broad. This is compatible with the context-specific and flexible nature of restorative justice and thus the Ombudsman has the potential, upon review of a restorative justice process or program, to contribute to administration in ways that are meaningful, relevant and applicable.

⁴⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, s. 17(8).

⁴⁴⁸ This mandated in the *Ombudsman Act*, *ibid.*, pursuant to ss. 3(5) and 7(2).

⁴⁵⁰ Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, S.N.S. 1993, c-5, s. 4(2)(e).

⁴⁵¹ These informational parameters may warrant an exclusion from the proposed evidentiary privilege provisions described above in order for the Ombudsman to conduct a thorough review of the matter.

⁴⁵² Ombudsman Act, supra note 135. Subsections 20 (f) - (I) indicate that the range of recommendations which made by the Ombudsman is entirely within his or her discretion.

Summary of Implementation Feasibility

As this chapter has illustrated, there are some opportunities within the current police complaints framework in Nova Scotia for restorative justice to be applied. The opportunities for fully restorative justice, however, are circumscribed by some features inherent in this framework. The best way for the development of processes that may be fully restorative would be through an amendment to the *Police Act* authorizing the use of restorative justice in the context of police complaints. Under this revised framework, the fall-back to the existing police complaints process remains available. Review of the concerns relating to the process itself may be undertaken by the Nova Scotia Office of the Ombudsman.

CHAPTER 6 Conclusion

Restorative justice practices can offer a highly appropriate response to allegations of police wrongdoing. Such allegations often reflect – and create – harm to the relationship between police and their communities. This relationship is important in ensuring the public's sense of safety and faith in the administration of justice, and also advances the ability of the police to effectively carry out their work. Past incidents of police wrongdoing have led to calls to reform the police complaints processes. Recent years have seen a proliferation of civilian oversight agencies which aim to ensure some community representation in police accountability frameworks. Further, ADR initiatives have been widely applied to police complaints contexts and indeed, are mandated in Nova Scotia as one component of the complaints process. ADR may offer a less adversarial option than some formal processes; however, it does not provide for meaningful consideration of relational and systemic issues. Restorative justice does this; indeed, its very aim is the restoration of relationships.

A consideration of restorative justice theory as implemented through the Nova Scotia restorative justice program illustrates some guiding principles for the application of restorative justice to police complaints and particularly to the context of the Halifax Regional Police. Administration of restorative justice practice should not be undertaken by the state generally, nor, in particular, by a policing agency. In Nova Scotia, the community justice agencies are appropriate bodies to fulfill this function. Involvement of the community in restorative justice processes is essential but this should be comprised of a carefully selected group of individuals who are well-situated to contribute to an aim of social equality. Restorative justice processes should not be confidential and indeed,

restoration of the relationship between the police and the community requires information-sharing relating to restorative justice processes and agreements. Restorative justice offers an appropriate response to all types of wrongdoing and thus should be available for all types of disciplinary defaults under the Police Act and action considered by the state to be criminal. While restorative justice generally requires acknowledgment, by the wrongdoer, of responsibility, the unique nature of police work suggests that this concept should remain flexible. In other words, a basic agreement of facts or mutual presence for the incidents alleged might be sufficient; issues relating to interpretation of the incidents can be drawn out through the process itself. While this flexibility might result in a process that is just restoratively-oriented, it too could lead to a point where full responsibility for wrongdoing is acknowledged thus establishing a springboard for subsequent fully restorative processes. Restorative justice accepts experience as subjective (indeed, it requires elaboration of such subjectivity) and thus parties must speak on their own behalf. As the aim of restorative justice is social equality, a restorative justice process cannot have punishment as a goal. Punishment exacerbates relational damage and precludes restoration.

There are a few ways under the present police complaints framework in Nova Scotia that members of the public can access a process to consider allegations of police wrongdoing. The Minister of Justice is authorized to call for a review of any matter relating to policing or the administration of justice and thus the public may attempt to have concerns relating to police wrongdoing addressed through this political avenue. The second avenue by which the public may raise concerns is through the complaints process. This is comprised of a dialogue between formal and informal responses to allegations of police wrongdoing culminating, in some cases, with a Review Board hearing. This process provides for specific penalties upon determination or

acknowledgment of such wrongdoing, and is generally conducted in a confidential manner. The complaints process is suspended when a matter is being considered by the criminal justice system (i.e., the wrongdoing alleged is defined by the state as criminal).

It is very difficult to construe the police complaints processes as articulated in the Police Act as restorative justice processes. The interaction between informal and formal (and correspondingly, adversarial) processes can exacerbate relational damage and potentially deter participants from freely and truthfully participating in a restorative justice process. Further, the mandatory imposition of a penalty upon an acknowledgment or finding that wrongdoing has occurred does not allow for deliberative, context-responsive agreements. It is important to reiterate that, although restorative justice can be infused into the processes noted above, it cannot simply supplant - or replicate - the informal resolution options that are mandated at various stages in the frameworks. These options contemplate a settlement-oriented rather than restoration-oriented approach. Moreover, the informal resolution options as set out in the legislation are interspersed with investigation processes that may be adversarial. There are, however, a few windows in which restorative justice processes can be agreed to or recommended, and in such circumstances, a community justice agency would appropriately be able to administer such processes. One option for restorative justice process to be devised in this context would be pursuant to an order by the Minister of Justice.

A better way to establish fully restorative justice processes would be through an amendment to the *Police Act* allowing for restorative justice to supplant the existing process when circumstances warrant such a response. In particular, restorative justice is appropriate in cases where responsibility for the alleged incidents is, in some form,

acknowledged, or in cases where the allegations of wrongdoing are acknowledged to have been false. The circumstances of every situation will differ and therefore some processes may be more restoratively-oriented than others (e.g., where there is no acknowledgment of responsibility, the process is somewhat circumscribed). Recourse for concerns relating to the administration of restorative justice practice would be through the provincial Office of the Ombudsman.

The Halifax Regional Police have expressed repeated commitments to addressing the relationship with the community through community policing initiatives and have made efforts to implement recommendations emerging from the *Johnson Inquiry*. The circumstances leading to the *Johnson Inquiry* illustrate the pressing need for a mechanism to address relational breakdowns between the police and the communities in which they operate. Restorative justice processes are highly appropriate for addressing this need and the Nova Scotia restorative justice program offers an internationally-leading model to guide and administer practice.

LEGISLATION

An Act to Amend Chapter 38 of the Acts of 2001, the Youth Justice Act, and Chapter 293 of the Revised Statutes, 1989, of the Motor Vehicle Act, S.N.S. 2005, c.32.

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.), 1982, c. 11.

Children and Family Services Act, R.S.N.S. 1990 c. 5.

Constitution Act, 1867 (U.K.), 30 & 31 Vict., c.3, reprinted in R.S.C. 2985, App. II, No. 5.

Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46.

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, S.N.S. 1993, c.5.

Human Rights Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c.214.

Ombudsman Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c.327.

Police Act, S.N.S. 2004, c. 31.

Police Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c. 348 (repealed).

Police Regulations, N.S. Reg 230/2005.

Police Regulations, N.S. Reg. 159/2003 (repealed).

Public Inquiries Act, R.S.N.S. 1989 c-372.

Trade Union Act, R.S.N.S. 1989, c-475.

Youth Criminal Justice Act, S.C. 2002, c-1.

Youth Justice Act, S.N.S. c. 38.

Youth Criminal Justice Act, R.S.C. 2002, c. 1.

JURISPRUDENCE

- R. v. Brydges, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 190.
- R. v. Feeney, [1997] 2 S.C.R. 13.
- R. v. Munson, 2001 SKQB 542 (CanLII).
- R. v. Munson, 2003 SKCA 28 (CanLil).
- R. v. R.D.S,. [1997] 3 S.C.R. 484.
- R. v. Stillman, [1997] 1 S.C.R. 607.
- R. v. Therens, [1985] 1 S.C.R. 613.
- R. v. Wigglesworth, [1987] 2 S.C.R. 541.
- Delisle v. Canada (Deputy Attorney General), [1999] 2 S.C.R. 989.
- Jane Doe v. Metropolitan Toronto (Municipality) Commissioners of Police, (1998) 160 D.L.R. (4th) 697 (Ont. Gen. Div.).
- Kirk Johnson v. Michael Sanford and the Halifax Regional Police Service (22 December 2003) Nova Scotia Human Rights Commission Board of Inquiry, online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/humanrights/publications/KJdecision.pdf, [Johnson Inquiry].

SECONDARY MATERIAL: BOOKS AND ARTICLES

- Acorn, Annalise. Compulsory Compassion: a Critique of Restorative Justice (Vancouver: UBC Press, 2004).
- Adams, R., The Abuses of Punishment (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1998).
- Andrews, R.M., Perspectives on Punishment: an Interdisciplinary Exploration (New York: P. Lang, 1997).
- Archibald, Bruce P. "Citizen Participation in Canadian Criminal Justice: The Emergence of 'Inclusionary Adversarial' and 'Restorative' Models" in Stephen G. Coughlan and Dawn Russell, Citizenship and Citizen Participation in the Administration of Justice, (Montreal: Canadian Institute for the Administration of Justice, 2001) 148.
- ———. "Coordinating Canada's Restorative and Inclusionary Models of Criminal Justice: The Legal Profession and the Exercise of Discretion under a Reflexive Rule of Law" in 9 Canadian Criminal Law Review 216.
- Baird, Robert M. & Stuart E. Rosenbaum, eds., *Philosophy of Punihsment* (Buffalo: Prometheus Books, 1988).

- Bazemore, Gordon & McLeod, Colleen. "Restorative justice and the future of diversion and informal social control" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 148. , & Umbreit, Mark. "A Comparison of Four Restorative Conferencing Models by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention" in Restorative Justice: Repairing Communities through Restorative Justice, John G. Perry, Ed. (Lanham, MD: American Correctional Association, 2002) at 69. Bazemore, Gordon & Walgrave, Lode, eds. Restorative Juvenile Justice: Repairing the Harm of Youth Crime (Monsey: Criminal Justice Press, 1999). Biggar, Nigel, ed. Burying the past: making peace and doing justice after civil conflict (Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press, 2001). Bogart, W.A. Consequences: The Impact of Law and Its Complexity (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2002). Braithwaite, John. "The Fall and Rise of Restorative Justice" in Restorative Justice and Responsive Regulation (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002) at 3. . "Restorative justice and corporate regulation" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Jürgen Kerner, eds., Restorative Justice in Context: International practice and directions (Portland: Willan Publishing, 2003) at 161. -. "Setting Standards for Restorative Justice" (2002) 42 British Journal of Criminology 563. -, & Parker, Christine. "Restorative Justice is Republican Justice" in Gordon Bazemore and Lode Walgrave, eds., Restorative Juvenile Justice: Repairing the Harm of Youth Crime (Monsey: Criminal Justice Press, 1999) at 107. -, & Pettit, Philip. Not Just Deserts: A Republican Theory of Criminal Justice (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1990) at 80. and Mara Schiff (eds.), Restorative Community Justice (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001) at 63.
- Brodeur, Jean-Paul. "Cartesian Penology" (1992) 5 Canadian Journal of Law and Jurisprudence 15.
- Caputo, John & Yount, Mark. Foucault and the Critique of Institutions (Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania State University Press, 1993).
- Cavanagh, Michael E. *Policing within a Professional Framework* (Upper Saddle River: Pearson Education, Inc., 2004).

- Christie, Nils. "Conflict as Property" (1977) 17:1 British Journal of Criminology at 1.
- Clairmont, Don. *The Active Police Organization: Community-Based Policing at Halton Regional* (Halifax: Atlantic Institute of Criminology, 1997).
- ——. The Nova Scotia Restorative Justice Initiative: Year One Evaluation Report, Pilot Research, Bedford, 2001) at xiii.
- . "Restorative Justice in Nova Scotia", November 2005, online: http://www.restorativejustice.org/editions/2005/nov05/novascotia.
- Closs, William J. *The Kingston Police Data Collection Project: A Preliminary Report to the Kingston Police Services Board* (Kingston: Kingston Police, 2005), online: http://www.police.kingston.on.ca/Bias%20Free%20Policing.pdf.
- Cordner, Gary W. & Sheehan, Robert. *Police Administration* 4th ed., (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing Co, 1998).
- Cragg, Wesley. The Practice of Punishment: Towards a Theory of Restorative Justice (London/New York: Routledge, 1992).
- Crawford, Adam & Clear, Todd R. "Community Justice: Transforming Communities Through Restorative Justice?" in Gordon Bazemore & Mara Schiff, Restorative Community Justice: Repairing Harm & Transforming Communities (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing Co., 2001).
- Cross, Rupert. Punishment, Prison and the Public: An Assessment of Penal Reform in Twentieth Century England by an Armchair Penologist (London: Stevens & Sons, 1971).
- Cunneen, Chris. "Restorative justice and the politics of decolonisation" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 38.
- Daly, Kathleen. "Restorative Justice in Diverse and Unequal Societies" (2000a) 17(1) Law in Context 1 at 17.
- Das, Hari. Breaking Barriers to Excellence: A Report on the Education and Training Needs of the Halifax Regional Police Service in Diversity Management (Halifax: Das Management and Educational Services, 2004), online: http://www.police.halifax.ns.ca/WhatsNew/attachments/DAS%20management1.pdf.
- de Haan, W. *The Politics of Redress: Crime, Punishment, and Penal Abolition* (Boston: Unwin Hyman, 1990).
- Devlin, Richard. "We can't go on together with suspicious minds: Judicial Bias and Racialized Perspective," (1995) 18 Dalhousie Law Journal 408.
- Eliaerts, Christian & Dumortier, Els. "Restorative justice for children: in need of procedural safeguards and standards" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-

- Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 220.
- Emerson, Robert M. "Capital Trials and Representations of Violence" 27 Law & Society Review 59.
- Forcese, Dennis. Policing Canadian Society (Scarborough: Prentice Hall, Inc., 1999).
- Foucault, M. Discipline & Punish: The Birth of Prison (Paris: Gallimard, 1975).
- Fraser, Nancy. *Unruly Practices: Power, Discourse, and Gender in Contemporary Social Theory* (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1989).
- Galaway, Burt & Hudson, Joe, eds. *Restorative justice: international perspectives* (Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice Press, 1996).
- Garland, D. & Young, P. *The Power to Punish: Contemporary Penality and Social Analysis* (London: Heinemann Educational, 1983).
- Gotell, Lise. "Towards a Democratic Practice of Feminist Litigation? LEAF's Changing Approach to Charter Equality" in Radha Jhappan, ed., *Women's Legal Strategies in Canada* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2002) at 136.
- Gorr, Michael J. & Harwood, Sterling. *Crime and Punishment: Philosophic Explorations* (Boston: Jones and Bartlett Publishers International, 1995).
- Habermas, Jürgen. Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1996).
- ——. "On the internal relationship between the rule of law and democracy" in Ciaran Cronin and Pablo De Greif, *The Inclusion of the Other: Studies in Political Theory* (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1998) 253 at 259.
- Hayden, Anne & Henderson, Peter. "Victims: the Invisible People" in Jim Consedine and Helen Bowen (eds.), *Restorative Justice: Contemporary Themes and Practice*, (Lyttleton: Ploughshares Publications, 1999).
- Hill, Roderick et al. Introducing Restorative Justice to the Police Complaints System:

 Close Encounters of the Rare Kind (Oxford: University of Oxford, Centre for
 Criminological Research and Probation Studies Unit, 2003) at iii.
- Howe, Adrian. *Punish and Critique: Towards a Feminist Analysis of Penality* (London: Routledge, 1994).
- Johnstone, Gerry. Restorative Justice: Ideas, Values, Debates (Portland: Willan Publishing, 2002).
- Koggel, Christine M. Perspectives on Equality: Creating a Relational Theory (Lanham: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 1998) at 5.

- Kratcoski, Peter C. & Cebulak, Wojciech. "Policing in Democratic Societies: An Historical Overview" in Dilip K. Das and Otwin Marenin, eds, *Challenges of Policing Democracies: A World Perspective* (Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach Publishers, 2000) 23 at 25.
- Llewellyn, Jennifer J. "Dealing with the Legacy of Native Residential School Abuse in Canada: Litigation, ADR and Restorative Justice" (2002), 52 University of Toronto Law Journal 253.
- ———, & Howse, Robert. "Institutions for Restorative Justice: The South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission" (1999), 49 University of Toronto Law Journal 300 at 380.
- ———, & Howse, Robert. Restorative Justice A Conceptual Framework (Ottawa: Law Commission of Canada, 1998) at 15.
- Loo, Robert. "A Psychosocial Process Model of Police Suicide" in Heith Copes, ed., Policing and Stress (New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc., 2005) 103 at 103.
- Luna, Erik. "Punishment Theory, Holism, and the Procedural Conception of Restorative Justice" 2003 Utah Law Review 205.
- Madden, E.H., et al, eds. Philosophical Perspectives on Punishment (Springfield: Charles C. Thomas, 1968).
- Martin, Dianne L. "Retribution Revisited: A Reconsideration of Feminist Criminal Law Reform Strategies" (1998) 36:1 Osgoode Hall Law Journal 150 at 184.
- Messmer, Heinz & Otto, Hans-Uwe, eds. Restorative Justice on Trial: Pitfalls and Potentials of Victim-Offender Mediation: International Research Perspectives (Dordrecht/Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1992).
- McCold, Paul. "Primary Restorative Justice Practices" in Morris and Maxwell, Allison Morris and Gabrielle Maxwell, *Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Conferencing, Mediation and Circles* (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2001.
- -----. "Researcher's New Theoretical Framework Assesses Degree to which Practices meet Standards of Restorative Justice," (2000) 8 Real Justice Forum 3.
- McNulty, Shannon, "Building Trust in Northern Ireland: The Role of Civilian Review of the Police" (2002) 12 Indiana International and Comparative Law Review 219 at 219.
- Moore, David B. & O'Connell, Terry. "Family Conferencing in Wagga Wagga: A Communitarian Model of Justice" in C. Adler and J. Wundersitz (eds.), Family Conferencing and Juvenile Justice: The Way Forward or Misplaced Optimism? (Canberra: Australian Institute of Criminology), online: www.aic.gov.au/publications/lcj/family/ch3.pdf.

- Morris, Allison. "Critiquing the Critics: A Brief Response to Critics of Restorative Justice" (2002) 42 British Journal of Criminology 596.
- ———, & Maxwell, Gabrielle. Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Conferencing, Mediation and Circles (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2001).
- Naughton, Michael. "Redefining Miscarriages of Justice: A Revived Human-Rights Approach to Unearth Subjugated Discourses of Wrong ful Criminal Conviction" 45 British Journal of Criminology 165.
- O'Neill, Shane. "The Equalization of Effective Communicative Freedom: Democratic Justice in the Constitutional State and Beyond" (2004) 17 Canadian Journal of Law & Jurisprudence 83.
- Pavlich, George C. Justice Fragmented: Mediating Community Disputes under postmodern conditions (London: Routledge, 1996).
- ——. "The Force of Community" in Heather Strang & John Braithwaite, eds., Restorative Justice and Civil Society Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001 at 56.
- Pedicelli, Gabriella. When Police Kill: Police Use of Force in Montreal and Toronto (Montreal: Véhicule Press, 1998) at 19.
- Perivale & Taylor. Excellence Though Diversity A Report On the Education and Training Needs in Diversity of the Halifax Regional Police (Halifax: Perivale and Taylor, 2005), online: http://www.police.halifax.ns.ca/WhatsNew/attachments/perivale%20+% 20taylor%20Final%20Report.pdf>.
- Perry, John G., ed. *Repairing communities through restorative justice* (Lanham: American Counseling Association, 2002).
- Piomelli, Ascanio. "Foucault's Approach to Power: Its Allure and Limits for Collaborative Lawyering" 2004 Utah Law Review 395.
- Pranis, Kay. "Restorative Justice, Social Justice and the Empowerment of Marginalized Populations" in Gordon Bazemore and Mara Schiff (eds.), *Restorative Community Justice* (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2001) at 287.
- Primoratz, I. *Justifying Legal Punishment* (Atlantic Highlands, N.J.: Humanities Press International, 1989).
- Rawlings, Philip. Policing: A Short History (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002).
- Reimund, Mary Ellen. "Confidentiality in Victim Offender Mediation: A False Promise?" 2004 Journal of Dispute Resolution 401.
- Riskin, Leonard L. & Westbrook, James E. *Dispute Resolution and Lawyers*, 2nd ed. (St. Paul: West Group, 1998).

- Roach, Kent. Due Process and Victims' Rights: The New Law and Politics of Criminal Justice, Toronto: University of Toronto Press: 1999) at 305.
- Roche, Declan. Accountability in Restorative Justice (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003) at 104.
- Ross, Jeffrey Ian. Making News of Police Violence: A Comparative Study of Toronto and New York City (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 2000).
- Rubin, Pamela. Women's Experience and recommendations for positive policy development and implementation: Report and Recommendations, March 2003.
- Rychalak, Ronald J. "Society's Moral Right to Punish: A Further Exploration of the Denunciation Theory of Punishment," 65 Tulane Law Review 299, 1999.
- Schumacher, Gord. "Extra-provincial Police Jurisdiction" (presentation to the Canadian Association for Civilian Oversight of Law Enforcement, Banff, Alberta, October 2003) [unpublished].
- Schuster, Aaron. "To see or not to see: Television, Capital Punishment, and Law's Violence," 7 Yale Journal of Law and the Humanities 397 (Summer 1995).
- Schwartz, Ira M. & Preisser, Laura. "Diversion and Juvenile Justice: Can We Ever Get it Right?" in Heinz Messmer and Hans-Uwe Otto, *Restorative Justice on Trial:*Pitfalls and Potentials of Victim-Offender Mediation International Research Perspectives, (Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1992).
- Shearing, Clifford & Wood, Jennifer. "Nodal Governance, Democracy, and the New 'Denizens" (2003) 30:3 Journal of Law and Society 400 at 402.
- Sherman, Lawrence W. "Domestic Violence and Restorative Justice: Answering Key Questions" (2000) 8 Virginia Journal of Social Policy and the Law 263.
- Smart, Carol. Feminism and the Power of Law (London: Routledge, 1989).
- Smith, Graham. "Rethinking Police Complaints" (2004) 44 British Journal of Criminology" 15 at 15.
- Smith, Paula et al. The Effects of Prison Sentences and Intermediate Sanctions on Recidivism: General Effects and Individual Differences (2002: Public Works and Government Services Canada).
- Sopinka, John et al. The Law of Evidence in Canada (Toronto and Vancouver: Butterworths, 1992)
- Stansfield, Ronald T. *Issues in Policing: A Canadian Perspective* (Toronto: Thompson Educational Publishing, Inc., 1996).

- Stevens, Dennis J. "Police Officer Stress and Occupational Stressors" in Heith Copes, ed., *Policing and Stress* (New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc., 2005) 1 at 17.
- Strang, Heather. "The Crime Victim Movement as a Force in Civil Society" in Heather Strang & John Braithwaite, eds., *Restorative Justice and Civil Society* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001 at 69.
- Restorative justice programs in Australia : a report to the Criminology Research Council (2001), online: < http://www.aic.gov.au/crc/reports/strang/index.html>.
- ———, & Braithwaite, John, eds. *Restorative justice and family violence* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2002).
- Tadros, Victor. "Between Governance and Discipline: The Law and Michel Foucault" 18 Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 75, 1998.
- Trainor, Brian & Jeffreys, Helen. *The Human Service 'Disciplines' and Social Work: The Foucault Effect* (Quebec: World Heritage Press, 2003).
- Umbreit, Mark. Victim Meets Offender: The Impact of Restorative Justice and Mediation (Monsey: Willow Tree Press, Inc., 1994).
- Van Ness, Daniel & Heetderks Strong, Karen. *Restoring Justice*, 2nd ed. (Cincinnati: Anderson Publishing, 2002).
- ———. "Proposing Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice: Recognizing the Aims and Limits of Restorative Justice" online: Prison Fellowship International, UN Declaration Initiative www.pficir.org/programs/un/proposing>
- von Hirsch, Andrew et al. Restorative Justice and Criminal Justice: Competing or Reconcilable Paradigms? (Portland: Hart Publishing, 2003).
- Walgrave, Lode. "From community to dominion: in search of social values for restorative justice" in Elmar G.M. Weitekamp & Hans-Juergen Kerner, eds., *Restorative Justice: Theoretical Foundations* (Devon: Willan Publishing, 2002) at 75.
- ——, ed. Restorative Justice and the Law (Portland: Willan, 2002).
- Walker, Nigel. Why Punish? (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1991).
- Ward, Ian. An Introduction to Critical Legal Theory (London: Cavendish Publishing Limited, 1998).
- West, Robin. "Jurisprudence and Gender", 55 University of Chicago Law Review at 1.
- Williams, Melissa S. "The Uneasy Alliance of Group Representation and Deliberative Democracy" in Will Klymicka & Wayne Norman, eds., *Citizenship in Diverse Societies* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000).

- Wortley, Scott. Bias Free Policing: The Kingston Data Collection Project Preliminary Results (Toronto: Centre of Criminology, University of Toronto, 2005), online: http://www.police.kingston.on.ca/Professor%20Wortley%20Report.Kingston.pdf>.
- Wright, Martin. Justice for victims and offenders: a restorative response to crime (Philadelphia: Open University Press, 1991).
- ———. "Victim/Offender Conferencing: the Need for Safeguards" in Lode Walgrave ed., Restorative Justice for Juveniles: Potentialities, Risks and Problems for Research, (Leuven U. Press: Leuven, 1997) at 84.
- Young, Iris Marion. *Justice and the Politics of Difference* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1990) at 55.
- Zehr, Howard. Changing Lenses: A new focus for crime and justice (Scottdale, Herald Press: 1990) at 184.

OTHER MATERIAL

- Amnesty International, "Canada: Why there must be a public inquiry into the police killing of Dudley George," online: http://www.amnesty.ca/ canada/amr200203.php>
- Amnesty International When the State Kills...The death penalty v. human rights (London: Amnesty International Publications, 1989).
- APEC Interim Report (31 July 31 2001), Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP, online: http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index_e.aspx? articleid=234#31_1_9
- APEC Final Report (25 March 2002), online: http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index e.aspx?ArticleID=374>.
- Ontario, Report of the Commission on Systemic Racism in the Ontario Criminal Justice System (Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario, 1995) at 40-1.
- Basic Principles on the Use of Restorative Justice Programmes in Criminal Matters, ECOSOC Res. 2000/14, U.N. Doc. E/2000/INF/2/Add.2 at 35 (2000).
- Canada, Royal Commission Report on Aboriginal Peoples (Ottawa: Canada Communication Group Publishing, 1996), online: Indian and Northern Affairs Canada http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ch/rcap/index_e.html.
- Canada, Report of the Somalia Commission of Inquiry (Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1997, online: http://www.dnd.ca/somalia/somaliae.htm.
- CBC News, "Convicted Saskatoon cops ask for sentencing circle" (31 October 2001), online: http://www.cbc.ca/story/news/?/news/2001/10/30/sask_police_011030.

- CBC News Online, "Police stop more blacks, Ont. Study finds" (27 May 2005), online: http://www.cbc.ca/story/canada/national/2005/05/26/race050526.html.
- CBC News Online, "Who was Neil Stonechild?" (26 October 2004), online: http://www.cbc.ca/news/background/stonechild/.
- Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP 2004-2005 Annual Report (Ottawa, Commission for Public Complaints against the RCMP, 2005), online: http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/DefaultSite/Reppub/index_e.aspx?articleid=778>.
- Cormier, Robert B. Restorative Justice: Directions and Principles Developments in Canada 2002-02 Department of the Solicitor General Canada, Public Works and Government Services of Canada).
- Ferguson, The Honourable George, Q.C. Review and Recommendations Concerning Various Aspects of Police Misconduct (Toronto: Toronto Police Services, 2003), online: http://www.torontopoliceboard.on.ca/Board%20Policies/ferguson-vol1.pdf.
- Foss, Krista. "Sentencing bid sparks anger among natives, 31 October 2001, Globe and Mail online: http://www.theglobeandmail.com/series/apartheid/stories/globe20011031.html
- Moore, David B. & MacDonald, John M. Community Conferencing Kit, Transformative Justice Australia (undated).
- New Zealand, *Review of the Police Complaints Authority* (Wellington: Ministry of Justice, 2000), at 47, online: http://www.justice.govt.nz/pubs/reports/2001/police_complaints/index.html.
- New Zealand, Restorative Justice in New Zealand: Best Practice (New Zealand Ministry of Justice, 2004), online: http://www.justice.govt.nz/restorative-justice/partb.html>
- New Zealand, Ministry of Justice, Restorative Justice in New Zealand: Best Practice, (Wellington: Ministry of Justice, 2004), at Part B, section 6. Online: http://www.justice.govt.nz/restorative-justice/partb.html.
- Nova Scotia, Department of Justice, Restorative Justice Program Pre-charge / Post-charge Protocol (17 May, 2000).
- Nova Scotia Department of Justice, *Restorative Justice Program Protocol* (Halifax: Restorative Justice Program, 2005) at 11.
- Nova Scotia, Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution (Halifax: the Commission, 1989).
- Nova Scotia, Royal Commission on the Donald Marshall, Jr., Prosecution (Halifax: the Commission, 1989). "Public Policing in Nova Scotia" (vol. 2); "The Mi'kmaq and Criminal Justice in Nova Scotia" (vol.3); "Discrimination Against Blacks in Nova Scotia: The Criminal Justice System: a research study" (vol. 4).

- Nova Scotia Standing Committee on Public Accounts (23 April 2003), online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/legislature/hansard/comm/pa/pa_2003apr23.htm.
- Nova Scotia, Nunn Commission of Inquiry, online: http://www.nunncommission.ca
- Ollivier, Christine. "French President calls for calm, firm hand in riot-hit suburbs" CBC World News (7 Nov 2005), online: http://www.cbc.ca/cp/world/051102/w110236.html.
- Ontario, Ipperwash Inquiry, online: http://www.ipperwashinquiry.ca/
- Ontario, Paying the Price: The Human Cost of Racial Profiling (Toronto: Ontario Human Rights Commission, 2003), online: http://www.ohrc.on.ca/english/consultations/racial-profiling-report.shtml.
- Restorative Justice: A Program for Nova Scotia (Halifax: Nova Scotia Department of Justice, 1998).
- Saskatchewan, Commission of Inquiry into Matters Relating to the Death of Neil Stonechild (Regina, Queen's Printer, 2004), online:

 <a href="https://www.stonechi
- Standing Committee on Public Accounts, Wednesday April 23, 2003, Halifax. Online: http://www.gov.ns.ca/legislature/hansard/comm/pa/pa 2003apr23.htm>.
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of South Africa Report (Cape Town: Truth and Reconciliation Commission, 1998), vol.1, c.4.
- United Kingdom, *The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry Report* (London: Secretary of State for the Home Department, 1999), online: http://www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm42/4262/sli-46.htm>. http://www.archive.official-documents.co.uk/document/cm42/4262/sli-46.htm>.
- United Nations Human Rights Committee UN HCHR UN Doc. CCPR/C/79/Add.105 (1999).